
                                

AGENDA

CABINET
THURSDAY, 6 SEPTEMBER 2018

2.00 PM

EVENTUS, SUNDERLAND ROAD, NORTHFIELDS INDUSTRIAL 
ESTATE, MARKET DEEPING, PE6 8FD

Aidan Rave, Chief Executive    

The Leader Councillor Matthew Lee, Cabinet Member for Cultural Services 
(Chairman)

The Deputy Leader Councillor Kelham Cooke, Cabinet Member for Business 
Transformation & Commissioning

Cabinet Members: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet Member for Environment
Councillor Helen Goral, Cabinet Member for Growth and 
Communications 
Councillor Nick Neilson, Cabinet Member for Housing 
Councillor Nick Robins, Cabinet Member for Retail & Visitor 
Economy
Councillor Jacky Smith, Cabinet Member for Communities, 
Health, Wellbeing & Skills
Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance

Cabinet Support 
Officer:

Jo Toomey Tel: 01476 40 61 52
E-mail: j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk

Members of the public are entitled to attend the meeting of the 
Cabinet at which key decisions will be taken on the issues listed on 
the following pages. Key decisions are marked *.

1  APOLOGIES 

2  MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 12 JULY 2018 (Pages 3 - 11)

(Enclosure)



3  DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS (IF ANY) 

4  *DELIVERSK (Pages 13 - 27)

Report number DSK02 of the Leader of the Council. (Enclosure)

5  DATA PROTECTION POLICY (Pages 29 - 93)

Report number LDS309 of the Deputy Leader of the Council. (Enclosure)

6  RECTORY FARM - SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT (Pages 95 
- 172)

Report number DM13 of the Cabinet Member for Growth and 
Communications. (Enclosure)

7  MATTERS REFERRED TO CABINET BY THE COUNCIL OR OVERVIEW & 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEES (Pages 173 - 184)

Report number LDS310 of the Leader of the Council. (Enclosure)

8  ITEMS RAISED BY CABINET MEMBERS INCLUDING REPORTS ON KEY 
AND NON KEY DECISIONS TAKEN UNDER DELEGATED POWERS. 
(Pages 185 - 236)

Report number LDS311 of the Leader of the Council. (Enclosure)

9  REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED FROM NON CABINET MEMBERS (Pages 
237 - 239)

Report number LDS312 of the Leader of the Council. (Enclosure)

10  CABINET FORWARD PLAN (Pages 241 - 252)

Report number LDS313 of the Leader of the Council. (Enclosure)

Exclusion of the press and public
It is anticipated that the press and public will be excluded during discussion of 
the following item of business because of the likelihood that information will 
be revealed to them that is exempt under paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) because it contains information 
relating to the financial or business affairs of an individual or organisation.

11  *STRATEGIC REGENERATION ACQUISITIONS - LAND IN SOUTH 
KESTEVEN 

(To follow)

12  ANY OTHER BUSINESS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN, BY REASON OF 
SPECIAL CIRCUMSTANCES, DECIDES IS URGENT 



MINUTES
CABINET
THURSDAY, 12 JULY 2018

THE LEADER: Councillor Matthew Lee (Chairman)
THE DEPUTY LEADER: Councillor Kelham Cooke

CABINET MEMBERS PRESENT

Councillor Helen Goral
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley
Councillor Nick Neilson
Councillor Nick Robins
Councillor Jacky Smith
Councillor Adam Stokes

NON-CABINET MEMBERS PRESENT

Councillor Bob Adams
Councillor Mike Exton
Councillor Bob Sampson
Councillor Linda Wootten
Councillor Ray Wootten

OFFICERS

Chief Executive (Aidan Rave)
Strategic Director, Growth (Paul Thomas)
Solicitor to the Council (Lucy Youles)
Assistant Chief Executive, Transformation & Change  (Lee Sirdifield)
Assistant Director, Housing (Harry Rai)
Assistant Director Resources (Richard Wyles)
Principal Democracy Officer (Jo Toomey)

CO11.MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 7 JUNE 2018

The minutes of the meeting held on 7 June 2018 were agreed as a correct 
record.

CO12.DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS (IF ANY)

No interests were disclosed.

3

Agenda Item 2



2

CO13.*ST. PETER'S HILL RE-DEVELOPMENT - PUBLIC REALM

Decision:

1. Cabinet approves the Works as shown in Appendix A of report 
number PD0085, namely the demolition of a section of the Council 
offices, with new public realm works linking from Edith Smith Way to 
the frontage of the new cinema building and a new staff entrance to 
the Council offices and subject to the removal of the proposed glass 
walkway connecting the main building with the civic suite

2. Cabinet recommends to Council that it allocates the sum of £1.66m 
for the St Peter’s Hill Public Realm project and delegates authority to 
the Leader, Deputy Leader and Chief Executive to agree the design as 
required to ensure that the works’ completion coincides with the 
proposed cinema opening date

3. Cabinet recommends to Council that it delegates authority to the 
Cabinet Member for Finance in consultation with the Strategic 
Director, Resources to determine the allocation of funding from 
reserves

Considerations/reasons for decision

1. Report number PD0085 of the Deputy Leader of the Council on proposed 
works to provide an area of public realm as part of the St. Peter’s Hill re-
development project

2. Plans attached as Appendix A to the report showing the relationship 
between the cinema development and the knock through from St. Peter’s 
Hill

3. Target build completion for the cinema of December 2018
4. The Council’s plans to stimulate commercial growth and enterprise within 

the centre of Grantham
5. Aspirations to redevelop the ground floor of the St. Peter’s Hill Council 

Office building for commercial use
6. An outline and draft timetable for the proposed works included within report 

PD0085
7. Headline cost projections and details of the procurement arrangements to 

be used

Other options considered and assessed

 Option 1: Do nothing

This is considered to inhibit the plans to regenerate St. Peter’s Hill and 
the wider town centre.

 Option 2: Proceed with the scheme as set out

4



3

This scheme is considered to maximise the opportunity to bring 
additional benefit to the town centre, with a welcoming link from St. 
Peter’s Hill to the cinema.

 Option 3: Leave the civic suite as a stand-alone building

This approach supports the use of the civic suite as a standalone venue 
and supports the wider aspirations around the use of the main Council 
building

* * *

In presenting report PD0085 the Deputy Leader explained that the public realm 
works formed the second phase of the St. Peter’s Hill redevelopment project. 
The project would create a thoroughfare from St. Peter’s Hill to the new cinema. 
The Deputy Leader informed the Cabinet that he was proposing an amendment 
to the recommendations as presented in the report, stating that, having 
considered the aspirations for the main council building, the glass link bridge 
between the civic building and the main council offices had been removed.

Members were advised that a report would need to go to Council to secure 
funding for the project. It was intended that demolition would begin in August 
2018 with work scheduled for completion in December 2018 to coincide with 
the completion of the cinema build. Cabinet Members agreed unanimously to 
support the recommendations as presented in the report subject to the removal 
of the glass link bridge.

CO14.* GROUNDS MAINTENANCE

Decision:

1. That, following the expiration of the grounds maintenance contract 
with Glendale, the grounds maintenance service will be delivered 
through an SKDC Local Authority Controlled Company

2. The Cabinet recommends that Council amends the 2018/19 Budget 
framework to enable the procurement of appropriate assets (vehicles 
and equipment) to enable the delivery of the grounds maintenance 
service

Considerations/Reasons for Decision

1. Report number ENV700 of the Cabinet Member for Environment on 
arrangements for the provision of the Grounds Maintenance Service for the 
District Council owned parks, gardens, public amenity grass areas and the 
Council’s housing related stock

2. The expiry date for the contract with Glendale in February 2019
3. The preferred option of the Environment Overview and Scrutiny at its 

meeting on 20 June 2018 to deliver the service through a local authority 
owned company

5



4

4. In previous years the work carried out by the current contractor has been 
satisfactory however, recently there have been instances where the quality 
of work has not been to the required standard

5. The work of the current contractor in the parks has been to a high standard 
with the contractor attending Wyndham Park Forum meetings, voluntarily 
raising the seasonal planting specification and employing one apprentice

6. Expenditure on the Grounds Maintenance Service has totalled an 
approximate annual investment of £1m over the last 4 years for General 
Fund and Housing Revenue Account services

7. An evaluation model attached at Appendix 1 to report ENV700 assessing 
the proposed delivery options against the objectives to come to a final, 
weighted score for each option

8. Due diligence on costs, employee liabilities and the knowledge and 
expertise required to deliver the service

9. The purchase of equipment will require Council approval for a change to 
the 2018/19 Budget framework

10. S1 of the Localism Act, which gives local authorities a ‘general power of 
competence’

11. Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations 1981
12. The Public Contract Regulations 2015 and the Council’s Contract and 

Procurement Procedure Rules

Other options considered and assessed

Whilst the service has been externalised at South Kesteven since 1989, 
consideration should be given to all options available to the Council for the 
future delivery of the service. The Council’s new Corporate Strategy has 
commercialism as one of its core building blocks. Making the most of our 
assets and knowledge to generate income is now an important factor. Likewise 
being flexible and agile are key to the Council’s future plans. The options 
available to deliver the service are:

 Option 1: Contract out the service through competitive tender

This would continue with the process of producing a specification and 
associated contract documents against which suitable contractors would 
be invited to bid

 Option 2: In-source the service utilising directly employed Council 
employees and Council owned equipment

The Council would directly manage the service. Employing its own 
workforce and investing in its own plant and equipment. Under the 
Transfer of Undertakings Protection of Employment (TUPE) rules, those 
currently employed by the provider and who spend the majority of their 
contracted hours on the Council’s work to deliver the service, would be 
transferred on their existing terms and conditions 

 Option 3: Deliver it through an SKDC Local Authority Controlled 
Company (LACC)

6



5

The service would be provided by employees and equipment through a 
new company owned by the Council. This arrangement would enable the 
Council to exploit the commercial opportunity making the most of its 
assets and knowledge. There are likely to be TUPE implications for 
relevant employees.

 Option 4: Deliver through an established LACC

The service would be through a joint venture agreement with an already 
established joint venture company. This arrangement has the ability to 
share a commercial profit.

* * *

The Cabinet Member for Environment explained that the grounds maintenance 
service was currently outsourced and that the contract had been extended by 
one year to end in February 2019. A range of options for provision of the 
service were reviewed and assessed in the context of cost, quality and 
flexibility. The different options had been considered by the Environment 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee, which had recommended the delivery of the 
service through a Local Authority Controlled Company. If this option was 
selected it would give the Council an opportunity to commercialise expertise but 
would require submission of a report to Council asking it to amend the 2018/19 
budget framework to meet the capital requirements of the project.

During debate Cabinet Members acknowledged the contract split between the 
General Fund and the Housing Revenue Account, which would need to be 
taken into account. Members also discussed the balance between cost, quality 
and flexibility, including non-monetary benefits of delivering the service 
differently.

The Chairman of the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
commended the option of delivering the grounds maintenance service through 
a local authority controlled company, in accordance with the recommendation 
of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. Reassurance was given that relevant, 
associated policies would also be submitted to the Environment Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee for review.

Some discussion ensued about the definition of quality and how a value could 
be applied to the concept, including the potential for generating financial 
income. Questions were also raised about the methodology for defining a 
baseline and comparing quality across each of the four options. The Cabinet 
Member emphasised that the aim of the review was to identify an approach that 
would improve quality, not reduce it. Members also highlighted elements of the 
existing contract that had gone particularly well, specifically parks, and recent 
incidences where the performance of the contractor had not met the required 
standards.

In asking the Cabinet to select its preferred option for the delivery of the 

7



6

grounds maintenance service and the Cabinet Member reiterated that the 
preference of the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee was delivery 
through a local authority controlled company, which was also his preferred 
option. Cabinet Members all voted in support of the option to deliver the service 
through a local authority controlled company. 

CO15.MATTERS REFERRED TO CABINET BY THE COUNCIL OR OVERVIEW & 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEES

Report number LDS297 of the Leader of the Council summarised the activity of 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committees since the last report was presented to 
Cabinet on 7 June 2018.

Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee

The Chairman of the Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
highlighted its recommendations in respect of the draft Private Sector Housing 
Enforcement Policy and a recent visit to the CCTV control room. During the visit 
to the control room operatives raised an issue that they were not able to join 
systems together. Cabinet was asked to look at the possibility of providing extra 
equipment to enable this. The Cabinet Member for Environment was asked to 
look, should it be deemed necessary, at potential improvements that could be 
made in respect of the CCTV issue that had been raised.

The Chairman was asked to include the formation of a Right to Buy policy in the 
Committee’s work programme. 

Culture and Tourism Overview and Scrutiny Committee

The Culture and Tourism Overview and Scrutiny Committee had met on 10 July 
2018. At its meeting it received presentations on Easton Walled Garden and 
the visitor economy, and updates on market towns and how the Gravity Fields 
Festival adds to the economy. The Committee also requested that 
consideration be given to changing its name to the Culture and Visitor 
Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Members of the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee had, during its 
discussions, supported the Work Plan for Food and Health and Safety 
Enforcement 2018/19.

Growth Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Cabinet noted the update as presented in Appendix D to report LDS297.

Rural Overview and Scrutiny Committee

The Rural Overview and Scrutiny Committee had met on 4 July 2018, and the 
Chairman of the Committee gave an overview of the items considered, which 

8



7

included an update on rural engagement and rural economy insights. The 
meeting was followed by a workshop to enable the Committee to formulate its 
work programme for the 2018/19 municipal year. As communication was 
identified as one of the priorities for the Committee’s work programme, brief 
discussion ensued on the work of onLincolnshire and provision of rural 
broadband.

(1) *Street Lighting Policy
Decision:

The Cabinet notes the contents of report FM0014 and refers it back to 
the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee for more detail in 
respect of the financial deliverables, the end date for the 
refurbishment of all lighting stock and to consider issues around 
replacing lamps in Conservation Areas

Considerations/Reasons for Decision

1. Report number FM0014 of the Chairman of Environment Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee and draft Street Lighting Policy attached as 
Appendix A to the report

2. An overview of provisions within the current maintenance contract
3. Considerations of the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

on 18 July 2017, 5 December 2017 and 24 April 2018

Other options considered and assessed

A variety of options have been considered to reduce the cost of the 
maintenance agreement and the cost of the energy bill. These were:

 Part night photocells
 Install LED lighting complemented by part night photocells
 Install time switches to each footway light
 Salix loan to install LED lights. The loan amount provided can be 5 

times one year’s energy saving, and the loan is repaid over 5 years, 
interest free

 Continue with current contractual arrangements replacing lamps 
with LED as and when the current lamp reaches ends of life. Each 
replacement LED will reduce the maintenance contract cost

* * *

The Chairman of the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
presented report number FM0014. He explained that the Committee had 
held a series of workshops and meetings to consider street lighting. The 
consensus amongst committee members was that SKDC should not turn 
off any street lights. It also proposed a programme for the replacement of 
conventional lamps with LED lamps.

A number of Cabinet Members spoke on the report, asking questions on 

9



8

the Committee’s recommendation. Topics covered included arrangements 
for replacing modern street lamps with traditional-style lanterns in 
Conservation Areas, requests for financial information in support of the 
recommendation and the period of time that would be taken to refurbish all 
of the Council’s lighting stock. Clarity was also sought on the extent of any 
replacement – whether it would just be bulbs, lamp heads or the whole 
lamp post.

Members of the Cabinet agreed to note the contents of the report and 
returned it to the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee for more 
detail in respect of the financial deliverables, the end date for the 
refurbishment of all SKDC lighting stock and to consider issues around 
replacing lamps in Conservation Areas.

CO16.REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED FROM NON CABINET MEMBERS

Report number LDS299 of the Leader of the Council informed Cabinet 
Members that no non-Cabinet Members had submitted requests to speak prior 
to the publication of the agenda.

CO17.CABINET FORWARD PLAN

Report number LDS300 of the Leader of the Council gave an indication of the 
items that would be presented to the Cabinet during the 2018/19 municipal 
year. The report also included items that were scheduled to be considered at 
Council meetings during the municipal year.

It was noted that the responsible Cabinet Member for a number of items would 
need to be updated following the resignation from the Cabinet of Councillor 
Mike King and the subsequent re-allocation of his responsibilities.

It was also noted that the item on community governance review of Corby Glen 
Parish Council related to a proposed increase in the number of members, not a 
decrease, as indicated in the document.

CO18. ITEMS RAISED BY CABINET MEMBERS INCLUDING REPORTS ON KEY 
AND NON KEY DECISIONS TAKEN UNDER DELEGATED POWERS.

Report number LDS298 of the Leader of the Council informed the Cabinet of 
decisions that had been taken by individual Members since the last meeting of 
the Cabinet was held on 6 June 2018.

Appendix A: Purchase of a property

Appendix B: Agreement to commence public consultation on the draft Private 
Sector Housing Enforcement Policy

10



9

CO19.ANY OTHER BUSINESS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN, BY REASON OF 
SPECIAL CIRCUMSTANCES, DECIDES IS URGENT

The Leader formally announced that Councillor Mike King had stepped down 
from the Cabinet for personal reasons. The Leader expressed his gratitude for 
the work Councillor King had undertaken on behalf of the Council and the 
district, noting specifically his efforts and expertise in respect of the Local Plan.

Members were notified that Councillor Goral had agreed to take on the 
responsibilities that had previously formed Councillor King’s remit and the 
Leader’s scheme of delegation had been updated accordingly. The transfer of 
delegations included those delegations made by Cabinet at its meeting on 10 
May 2018 regarding investSK.

CO20.CLOSE OF MEETING

The meeting was closed at 15:22.

DATE DECISIONS EFFECTIVE:

Items 13(1) and (3), and 14(1) as made on Thursday 12 July 2018 can be 
implemented on Monday 23 July 2018, unless subject to call-in by the Chairman of the 
relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee or any five members of the Council from 
any political group. Item 13(2) and 14(2) stand referred to Council on 26 July 2018.

11



This page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet

Report of: Councillor Matthew Lee
The Leader of the Council

Report to:

Date:

Subject:

Cabinet

6 September 2018

DeliverSK - DSK002

Decision
Proposal:

Key decision to establish an investment partnership, ‘DeliverSK’ 
(and related matters detailed in the report) to manage the delivery 
of physical growth and regeneration in South Kesteven.  

Relevant Cabinet 
Member: Councillor Matthew Lee, The Leader of the Council

Report author:

Reviewed by:

Signed off by:

Approved for 
publication

Paul Thomas, Strategic Director for Growth
P.Thomas@southkesteven.gov.uk
01476 406162 
Date: 17th August 2018

Debbie Muddimer, Strategic Director for Resources
Debbie.Muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk 
01476 406301
Date: 17th August 2018

Aidan Rave, Chief Executive
Aiden.rave@southkesteven.gov.uk
01476 406369
Date: 20th August 2018

Councillor Matthew Lee, The Leader of the Council
Date: 22nd August 2018

13

Agenda Item 4

mailto:P.Thomas@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:Debbie.Muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:Aiden.rave@southkesteven.gov.uk


SUMMARY

South Kesteven District Council (SKDC) is committed to playing an active role in helping drive 
substantial growth in the local economy for the benefit of all residents across the district. 

InvestSK is helping to grow the economy by attracting new businesses into South Kesteven and 
supporting companies in the district to grow and thrive. It is also growing the economy and 
enhancing our district through the promotion of art, culture and the visitor economy.

Delivering substantial growth also requires large-scale physical development and regeneration. 
SKDC wishes to take an active ‘hands-on’ role in this process to ensure key projects are 
delivered and create an increasingly effective and efficient delivery ‘pipeline’ for future projects.

This report outlines proposals for the formation of an investment partnership - ‘DeliverSK’ - to 
manage development schemes from initial concept through to delivery.

Key points of the proposal are as follows: 

 DeliverSK would be a 50:50 joint venture with an experienced private sector partner that 
has the necessary resources to fund developments and/or access to other sources of 
private sector funding. 

 The joint venture partners would procure the necessary expertise to deliver the key stages 
of the development process, including assessing opportunities, developing detailed 
business cases and, once approved, securing funding.

 The investment partnership represents a more commercial approach to procurement and 
delivery than the Council has adopted historically. The approach provides greater flexibility 
and faster decision-making, while maintaining appropriate due diligence and governance.

 DeliverSK would be run by a management board made up of equal representatives from 
SKDC and its partner organisation. Board members of DeliverSK would not be paid.

 The DeliverSK board would be able to approve development schemes. However, the usual 
Council approval and scrutiny processes would apply to any projects requiring the transfer 
of Council-owned land or further investment by the Council.   

 As a 50:50 partnership, both parties must agree in order for projects to go ahead. The 
Council representatives must agree to something before it can be enacted, or a previous 
decision changed. This structure helps promote compromise and flexibility on both sides.

 Over time the joint venture will aim to become more efficient at delivering each successive 
project in the ‘pipeline’.

 Similar investment partnerships are working effectively in other local authorities, and SKDC 
has learnt from their experiences and their approaches.

 The creation of DeliverSK requires initial investment by the Council of up to £600,000 (up to 
£100,000 set-up costs, plus up to £500,000 working capital). 

 A central role of DeliverSK will be the management of risk, particularly financial risk. SKDC’s 
financial risk is initially limited to the set-up costs - which would be drawn down as the 
process of partner selection and company formation progresses - and then working capital, 
which will be accessed only once the company has been set up. Individual projects will be 
isolated from each other by the use of separate companies (special purpose vehicles). 

 As well as limiting financial risk, the investment partnership provides an opportunity for 
SKDC to share in any profit from each project (proportionate to its contribution), which could 
be retained to fund work on future developments or returned to the Council.

 Subject to consideration of the recommendations in this report, DeliverSK will be created. 
However, no working capital or assets would be transferred until a joint venture partner is in 
place.

Growth Overview and Scrutiny Committee received a report on this matter at its meeting on 29th 

14



August 2018 and any recommendations and feedback from that Committee will be made 
available to the Cabinet so that the Cabinet can have regard to the same when considering the 
proposals set out in this report. 

RECOMMENDATIONS

1. Cabinet receive, and consider, feedback on report DSK001 – DeliverSK, from the Growth 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting of 29th August 2018.  

2. Cabinet support and approve the establishment of DeliverSK as described within this report, 
DSK002. 

3. Cabinet delegate to the Cabinet Member for Growth and Communications, in consultation 
with the Strategic Director for Growth and the Strategic Director for Resources, authority to 
select and confirm the private sector partner for DeliverSK, as discussed in this report.

4. Cabinet delegate to the Cabinet Member for Growth and Communications, in consultation 
with the Strategic Director for Growth and the Strategic Director for Resources, authority to 
set up DeliverSK as detailed in this report, entering into any necessary legal agreements 
needed to facilitate this.

5. Cabinet recommend to Council, the approval of a budget of up to £100k for initial set-up 
costs and up to £500k as initial working capital for DeliverSK, and to delegate to the Cabinet 
Member for Growth and Communications, in consultation with the Strategic Director for 
Growth and the Strategic Director for Resources, authority to invest up to £500k (i.e. the 
working capital) in DeliverSK, once the company has been set up.

6. Cabinet approve the appointment of the Leader of the Council and the Chief Executive as 
the Council’s nominated Board Members for DeliverSK, and the Deputy Leader of the 
Council as an observer on the Board and nominated substitute for the Leader and Chief 
Executive.

7. Cabinet request the Governance and Audit Committee consider any changes necessary to 
the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy to allow the initial and future investments in 
DeliverSK activities and projects. 

15



1. BACKGROUND AND KEY DRIVERS

1.1. South Kesteven District Council (SKDC) is committed to helping grow the local 
economy for the benefit of all residents in the district, both by supporting private 
sector activity and, where necessary, intervening more directly. 

1.2. South Kesteven's economy is currently worth around £2.7 billion per year. Through a 
number of economic initiatives, regeneration and development schemes the Council 
is seeking to add a further £1.2 billion to this by 2040.

1.3. In October 2017 The Leader of the Council announced a £40 million investment in a 
series of strategic projects across the district, to be delivered or underway by 2020. It 
is estimated that this investment will help grow the economy by some £400 million. 

1.4. At the same time, SKDC announced the creation of InvestSK to support local 
businesses and focus on the economic development of the district, inward investment, 
regional marketing, skills and workforce. It is also growing the economy and 
enhancing the district through the promotion of art, culture and the visitor economy.

1.5. In early 2017 SKDC established Gravitas Housing Limited (Gravitas), a wholly-owned 
company that specialises in using pockets of Council-owned land to deliver small-
scale housing developments that are suitable for local builders and ‘self-builders’.

1.6. SKDC plays a pivotal role in both supporting and delivering growth and regeneration 
in the district and recognises that its actions can help provide the confidence and 
stimulus that the private sector needs to invest in or alongside an area or 
development. 

1.7. However, like many Councils, SKDC does not currently have a strong track record of 
delivering large development or regeneration projects, with some projects spending 
years in the planning phase or falling at the final hurdle after considerable time and 
expense. As a result, the proposed council-owned land remains undeveloped. 

1.8. This can be due to a lack of political will, Councils’ lengthy decision-making 
processes, risk aversion or lack of commercial expertise – or a combination of factors. 
As a result, larger-scale developments tend to be the preserve of the private sector 
which, in most cases, is limited simply to housing.

1.9. In recent years there has been a shift in perception among many local authorities and 
the public sector generally away from the traditional view of their role as ‘regulator’, 
towards that of an enabler or deliverer. Many local authorities are now taking more 
innovative approaches to delivering growth, often in partnership with the private 
sector. 

1.10. South Kesteven needs more housing, particularly social and affordable homes. SKDC 
can play an active part in delivering housing developments. However, in addition, 
SKDC also wants to create more office and employment space, provide new leisure 
facilities and refurbish existing ones, deliver mixed-use regeneration schemes, secure 
institutional investment and so on.

1.11. The proposed investment partnership, DeliverSK, represents an exciting opportunity 
for SKDC to work with an experienced private sector partner on a more agile, 
commercial basis while retaining Council approval and scrutiny for decisions involving 
Council-owned land or investments by SKDC.

16



2. DELIVERSK ACTIVITY

2.1. DeliverSK would be responsible for taking projects from initial concept development 
and commercial viability testing to completion, as described in section 6.

2.2. DeliverSK would focus on delivering a range of potential project, including (but not 
limited to):

 Medium and large scale housing developments (including social and affordable 
housing)

 Office and employment space development and refurbishment
 Leisure facility development and refurbishment
 Mixed-use regeneration schemes
 Securing institutional investment and identifying grant opportunities.

2.3. A detailed business case will be developed for each project for approval by the 
DeliverSK board. All projects would require the approval of both parties. 

2.4. Further approvals would be sought from SKDC for any projects involving the transfer 
of Council-owned assets (i.e. land) or requiring further investment by the Council. 
Such decisions would be subject to scrutiny in the usual way.

2.5. Once operational, DeliverSK would manage multiple projects at different stages in 
their development simultaneously. 

3. PARTNERSHIP STRUCTURE

3.1 DeliverSK is proposed to be a 50:50 owned and controlled limited liability partnership 
(LLP). It will exist at arm’s length from the Council, acting as a separate legal entity to 
deliver the types of physical growth and regeneration activity identified above to 
support the economy of the district. DeliverSK will work alongside and support South 
Kesteven District Council and InvestSK. 

3.2 A Limited Liability Partnership is an arrangement between two or more partners which 
combine to carry on business in partnership with each other, but gives them the 
benefit of limiting their liability. In addition, the Council would have certain tax 
advantages with this type of vehicle in that Corporation Tax would not apply. 

3.3 The Limited Liability Partnership has to be registered with the Registrar of 
Companies.

3.1. The proposed ownership structure of DeliverSK is shown below.  

17



3.2. DeliverSK will be owned equally by the Council and a private partner. The delivery of 
projects would take place in separate companies - special purpose vehicles 
companies (SPVs) - that are created for each project. This approach, which is 
common practice, creates clarity for project decision-making and isolates any risks in 
one project from being able to impact others, or DeliverSK itself.  

3.3. In most cases, the SPVs would be wholly-owned by DeliverSK. However, the 
structure allows the flexibility for DeliverSK to share ownership of an SPV with another 
organisation should it be beneficial. 

3.4. For example, Gravitas could acquire a percentage shareholding in an individual SPV 
that might deal with housing or, if project delivery is dependent on third-party land, 
that landowner could acquire a percentage shareholding of the relevant SPV. Such 
decisions would be made on a case-by-case basis.

3.5. The proposed structure is a proven model that is being used elsewhere by a number 
of other local authorities. Structured appropriately, the approach is compliant with 
state aid and procurement requirements, and all Councils have the necessary powers 
to enter into such arrangements and make subsequent investments and asset 
disposals.

4. PARTNER INPUTS

4.1. In any partnership, the parties bring a range of different, often complementary, skills 
and inputs. Some of these, such as commercial finance or property, are tangible. 
Other less tangible, but no less important, inputs include local knowledge, experience 
and technical know-how.  

4.2. SKDC’s inputs would include:

 Council political leadership and local knowledge, critical for informing the projects 
and ensuring that the outputs of DeliverSK align to the district’s ambitions

 Initially, the Council will need to commit set-up costs and, once a partner has been 
appointed, working capital to establish the operations of the company and begin 
developing the project pipeline. This will form part of SKDC’s investment in 
DeliverSK, and this initial investment will be returned from successful schemes, to 
be used on other projects

 Development finance for scheme development and delivery can also be invested 
into DeliverSK as projects are proposed, and would be returned following scheme 
completion, along with a proportion of any profits

 Property assets, and options agreements on such assets, will be an important 
contribution, and would take place through approved project plans and subject to 
the Council’s governance in the usual way

 A commitment that the Council will use its land assets and covenant strength as 
leverage to help drive the delivery of growth and regeneration schemes, for 
example to support new leisure facilities.

4.3. It is important to stress that SKDC’s statutory planning authority powers will not be 
compromised. DeliverSK will operate on an arm’s length basis and run as an external 
company. As such, it will interact with SKDC in its role as Local Planning Authority just 
like any other third-party developer. DeliverSK will engage in pre-application 
discussions with the Development Management Service, and develop and submit 
planning applications (subject to public consultation in the usual way).

18



4.4. The commercial partner(s) that will share ownership and risk with the Council in 
DeliverSK will have:

 Experience of working with the public sector, sharing SKDC’s values and 
commitment to growing the region

 Diverse access to capital markets and finance, creating necessary flexibility for 
different funding for different project types

 Commercial skills and experience across a range of corporate and property 
transactions and developments

 A commitment to a long-term partnership on a fair and equal basis, working 
constructively with SKDC representatives on project development

 Supporting community priorities and projects.

4.5. The partner selection is critical to the success of DeliverSK. A number of companies 
have approached SKDC expressing a desire to work with the Council and these 
companies would be considered as part of the selection process. At the end of the 
consideration period, a number of prospective partners would be invited to present to 
the relevant Cabinet Members, and the appropriate Member decision will then be 
made.
     

4.6. Returns from successful project will be used to pay off project costs first, then any 
investments from both partners. Finally, any profits would be split according to the 
proportion of investment into a project each partner made. This is discussed in more 
detail later in this report, in section 9.

5. MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE

5.1. The proposed DeliverSK management structure is shown below.  

5.2. Strategically, DeliverSK would be led by a board with equal representation from both 
partners. This is proposed to be two representatives from each. Decision making 
would always be by consensus, and the Council representatives must agree to 
something before it can be enacted, or a previous decision changed. This structure 
helps promote compromise and flexibility on both sides to help projects move forward. 

5.3. Each partner would get one collective vote. If South Kesteven District Council had, for 
some reason, only one representative at a board meeting and the private partner had 
two, control would still be equal.  

5.4. The DeliverSK Board would be responsible for setting strategy and direction, agreeing 
projects and approving annual budgets. It would be responsible for DeliverSK’s 
performance. The Board Members would not be remunerated by DeliverSK.

19



5.5. Operational delivery would be the responsibility of an executive team, led by a full-
time Managing Director who reports to the board. The core team is designed to be 
small, as is common practice, drawing on external consultants and experts where 
needed on a ‘just in time’ basis to manage costs efficiently. 

5.6. As a separate company, the majority of DeliverSK’s day-to-day activity would be able 
to take place independently from - or without recourse to - the parent organisations, 
except in two key areas:

 DeliverSK will provide draft and finalised annual accounts to the Council’s finance 
team as early as possible so that the Council can prepare its own accounts

 Where approval is required from either party for investment in a scheme and, in 
the case of SKDC, the transfer of any land, or other assets. Where this is the 
case, a detailed report outlining the project, the requirements and other relevant 
information would be prepared and submitted to both parties in order for them to 
go through their respective approvals processes. 

5.7. Responsibility for these key decisions would require the approval of the Council in its 
capacity as 50% member (owner) of DeliverSK. The decision making process will be 
enshrined in the legal documentation for DeliverSK.

5.8. DeliverSK will interact with a range of external bodies in the course of its normal 
operations, including InvestSK, with which it will work to maximise inward investment 
potential and benefits for the local community.

Left blank intentionally. Please turn over.

20



6. PROJECTS AND FUNDING PROCESSES

All projects would go through a phased development process, with approval gateways 
at DeliverSK’s board at appropriate points, as described below: 

6.1. In stage one an outline of an idea is developed is tested and 
developed into a worked-up concept. This will include a clear 
description of objectives, constraints, timelines, key ‘unknowns’ 
etc, as well as estimated costs to take it to a business case stage 
and to implementation. Options for how the ultimate scheme 
would be financed would be considered. DeliverSK Board 
approval would be required to move to the next stage.  

6.2. The underlying commercial viability and practicality of a concept 
are then explored in stage two. This is to quickly but effectively 
test if the scheme is likely to be deliverable and work in practice, 
and whether subsidy or other support will be required and from 
which potential sources.  

6.3. Assuming overall viability is broadly positive, a business case is 
developed at stage three. This outlines in more detail what a 
scheme would look like, the intentions, timelines, resources 
required and so on. In the case of purely commercial 
development, it will specify how DeliverSK will exit, or its options 
for exiting successfully, from the scheme as it is delivered. Where 
resources are needed from one or both partners, these will be 
identified and quantified within the business case.  

6.4. The Board will need to approve any business case before it can 
proceed. If the project proposed requires finance or other input 
from one or both partners then additionally the relevant partner 
organisation would need to approve it through their usual 
governance (stage four), for which DeliverSK will prepare a 
report to the partner(s) accordingly. The report will include full 
details of the business case and the required input from the 
partner(s). If land disposals are required by the Council, these will 
be dealt with in accordance with the Council’s scheme of delegation; likewise any 
financial input into an identified scheme. These decisions will be subject to the same 
level of scrutiny as sale or investments into any other private company.

6.5. Assuming the project proceeds, the delivery phase then begins (stage five). As some 
growth and regeneration schemes can be large, this stage would vary in length from 
one to four or more years. Regular reporting to the Board would take place 
throughout.  

6.6. When a scheme completes (stage six), any available profits are distributed to both 
partners (after a prudent reserve) according to the level of investment each partner 
has made. For example, if the Council’s investment (including other contributions, e.g. 
land) equated to 60% overall, then the Council would receive 60% of the profit.   

7. INITIAL PROJECTS

7.1. DeliverSK is designed to be an open-ended endeavour, not limited to delivering one 
or a handful of known projects. Working cooperatively with InvestSK, the Council’s 
management team and others, DeliverSK will identify a pipeline of projects that help 
deliver physical growth and regeneration of the district over time, based on the sorts 
of schemes outlined in Section 2.  

21



7.2. Among the first projects under consideration are a significant, strategic, mixed-use 
development scheme in the south of the district and a mixed-use scheme close to the 
centre of Grantham.  

7.3. Early on, DeliverSK will also develop a leisure provision investment plan to outline the 
programme to provide new, refurbished and enhanced leisure facilities across the 
district.  

7.4. Alongside this, DeliverSK will look at land and property assets in the area to begin 
developing a wider programme of project activity, with the potential to consider 
partnership working with some of the larger landowners and potential acquisition 
opportunities. 

7.5. Early activity will also include an assessment of where the Council’s property portfolio 
might be used to support project delivery and the achievement of the Council’s 
regeneration ambitions if utilised by DeliverSK.  

8. TIMELINES

8.1. Subject to approval, DeliverSK would be created and begin activity based on the 
following indicative timeline:

Stage Date (indicative)

Expressions of interest from prospective partners October 2018
Considerations of expressions of interest November 2018
Selection of partner December 2018
Company legals and set-up October-Dec 2018
DeliverySK active January 2019
DeliverSK puts in place professional team to advise on 
business planning and development strategy

February 2019

DeliverSK working with SKDC and other major landowners to 
review strategic assets and identify those DeliverSK will take 
forward, putting option agreements in place accordingly 

First half 2019

Company business plan and first two project concepts and 
viability

Q1 2019

First project business cases (submission of a project 
summary document for board-approved projects where 
SKDC contributes land, property or finance, to be approved 
in the usual way)

Q2 2019 onwards

Planning application preparation Second half 2019

9. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

9.1. Do nothing: The Council could continue to serve primarily as a facilitator for growth, 
setting policy and creating a framework for the district’s regeneration, but not take an 
active, participatory role. This has a number of disadvantages, not least of which is 
that the type of growth that comes forward and in what order will be something over 
which the Council has limited influence. SKDC’s land assets will also remain unused. 
This approach is also inconsistent with the progressive, forward-thinking ethos that 
SKDC has embraced in recent times and will not unlock the district’s potential. This 
option was therefore discarded.

22



9.2 Create a wholly-owned company: The Council has created other companies – most 
recently InvestSK – that are wholly-owned, i.e. not formed with an external partner. 
This would mean all decisions around what DeliverSK did remained, effectively, in 
Council control, whereas in the LLP model proposed in this report decision making is 
by consensus of both parties. Creating a wholly-owned company would see all of the 
risks associated with finance and development sitting with the Council, whereas in 
the proposed LLP model the Council would share the risk and have access to 
commercial skills and expertise it lacks.  

9.3 Create a traditional Local Asset Backed Vehicle (LABV): An LABV is a form of 
partnership or joint venture between a public body and a private sector investment 
partner, normally over the medium or long-term. The public partner generally inputs 
assets, with the private sector partner providing finance and technical expertise, 
including development management skills and also potentially the construction supply 
chain. There have been some high-profile examples created in the UK previously, but 
the LLP model proposed has some significant differences that create a better fit for 
SKDC.  

9.4 For example, SKDC would not be procuring development management skills or 
contractors; DeliverSK would engage its own consultants/contractors as it moves 
forward with individual projects. In addition, it is common that LABVs have significant 
land assets transferred to them at inception, and that this drives the pipeline. This not 
only means more upfront commitment than is needed in the model proposed for 
DeliverSK, it also means it is more complex to create and operate, and that the 
Council is likely to have less control. 

9.5 This type of vehicle tends to be lengthy, and costly, to set up and does not offer the 
Council the concentrated investment focus that it requires.  

10. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

10.1 It is important that the Council is clear about what it will need to do and what it can 
choose to invest into any enterprise like this, and the associated risks. If this report is 
approved, the Council will commit up to £600k to the company for its set-up and initial 
project development activities. An indicative breakdown of anticipated spend is as 
follows:

Estimated set-up costs Estimated working capital
External legal advice
External financial advice
Other set-up and 
professional services costs

£40k
£20k
£40k

Pay, on costs and associated for 
first six months
Commercial consultancy
Architectural services
Technical studies
Facilities, rates etc
Legal, valuations and associated 
costs  
Back office functions
Contingency

£200k

£25k
£40k

£100k
£25k
£35k

£25k
£50k

£100k £500k

10.2 The initial investment of working capital will be recovered through future projects. The 
timeline earlier in this report shows that this should see the first project proposals 
developed for Q2 2019 onwards.

23



10.3 As projects come forward in the future, the Council will be able to commit property 
and finance to the development of those projects. The choice, however, can be made 
at the time and the Council is not compelled to do so, which limits its risk. The 
detailed implications of any future investment would be explored on a case-by-case 
basis, going through the Council’s governance process in the usual way.  

10.4 Any profits made by DeliverSK will be shared between the partners in accordance 
with their respective investment inputs.

11. RISK AND MITIGATION 

11.1. The initial £500k of working capital is part of the Council’s investment in DeliverSK. It 
is not a grant. As projects are completed and revenues received, this – and any other 
investment from both parties in projects over time – would be repaid. 

11.2. There is, of course, a risk that this may not happen, that projects may not return as 
much as hoped, which can potentially jeopardise repayment. What is clear, however, 
is that the Council’s maximum financial exposure is the value of its current 
investments in DeliverSK. 

11.3. There are also a range of mitigations that help minimise risks that are built in to the 
approach (see below).  

Category risk Action/controls
The joint venture partner 
wishes to pursue project or 
course of action with which 
SKDC does not agree

As a 50:50 joint venture partnership, all decisions 
require the agreement of both parties before they can go 
ahead. If either partner disagrees, a project will not be 
pursued.

Furthermore, each time additional funds are required to 
be invested (above the initial investment referred to in 
this report) or council land needs to be transferred to 
DeliverSK for a project, it will be subject to the usual 
council approval and governance procedures. 

This process applies to each individual project.  

No projects come forward, 
leaving the £500k of initial 
working capital investment 
unrepayable

This is a highly unlikely risk, as projects are already 
identified within this report, and there is a clear 
approach for establishing a pipeline to build on these.

24



Projects return less than 
needed to repay 
investments from the parties

Part of the development process is to assess the 
viability of a scheme, which includes market estimates 
for the ultimate sale price and regard for factors that 
could result in this varying. It is unlikely either partner 
would wish to proceed with a scheme that presented 
significant risk to returns in this way.
 
There may, however, be an occasional case where a 
scheme is highly attractive for non-financial reasons 
(such as a community regeneration project), and the 
Council wishes to proceed because of the wider 
economic benefits. One of the benefits of the proposed 
model is that the council could decide at that point to 
use profits from previous schemes to offset any viability 
gap present, allowing a site to be redeveloped where it 
would otherwise be unable to be. It is also possible that 
two sites could be linked to create an overall viable 
proposal where one profitable site supports delivery of 
one that is not commercially viable.  

Costs for scheme 
development – such as for 
obtaining planning consent, 
or for physical construction 
where appropriate – could 
exceed estimates

Careful estimates of costs for taking a project forward 
are put together through the development process, 
which details the assumptions around those to ensure 
they are robust and transparent. 

Costs will be monitored as projects come forward, 
including forecasting forward against the baseline plan, 
and any variation from this is addressed by the 
executive team the first instance, who will try to bring 
the expenditure back in line with the baseline. In the 
event that additional funds are needed, it would be for 
the partners to decide to fund at that point.

Schemes submitted do not 
obtain planning consent

The Council’s planning authority role is independent 
and would treat DeliverSK as any other developer. It is 
entirely possible that a planning application could be 
turned down, but it is also considered unlikely as 
DeliverSK will engage with the Local Planning Authority 
at the earliest possible opportunity, with extensive pre-
application dialogue, making the risk of refusal low.  

The partners within 
DeliverSK cannot agree how 
to develop a scheme that 
the Council’s 
representatives are happy 
with.

The Council will go through a careful process in order 
to establish the appropriate partner to enter into 
DeliverSK. That partner will be aligned with the 
Council's objectives for the vehicle.  

Decision making is by consensus and as such it is in 
both party’s interests to work together collaboratively to 
avoid any disagreement. However, in the event this 
took place, the scheme would simply not progress; the 
Council as a partner cannot be forced to do anything it 
does not wish to.  

That schemes are not taken 
forward quickly enough, or 
not at all, after the Council 
has agreed an investment, 
or sale of land

A key part of the business planning that supports each 
land sale or investment decision will be the timescales 
to which schemes will be delivered. The Council will 
also wish to consider what conditions (of 
sale/investment) to apply.

25



12. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS (EQUALITY, SAFEGUARDING etc.)

12.1 There are not considered to be any issues arising.

13. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

13.1 There are not considered to be any crime or disorder implications.

14. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

14.1 This report seeks in principle approval for the establishment of DeliverSK. At this 
stage, the level of financial commitment being sought is £600k. This consists of up to 
£100k set up budget to cover the costs the Council will incur in establishing the 
company, plus up to £500k investment in the company for use as working capital.

14.2 As set out earlier in the report, the £500k is an investment in the company and a loan 
note will be attached to this in order to secure the Council’s investment. To make an 
investment of this nature, an amendment will need to be made to the Council’s 
Treasury Management Strategy. It is within the remit of the Governance and Audit 
Committee to “monitor, review and amend as appropriate the Council’s approved 
Treasury Management Strategy paying particular attention to the inherent risks of the 
prevailing economic/financial climate”. This report, therefore, recommends that the 
committee is asked to consider any changes necessary to the Council’s Treasury 
Management Strategy to allow the initial and future investments in DeliverSK activities 
and projects.  

14.3 Although a loan note will be put in place, there remains a risk that the investment of 
initial working capital may not be repaid in full. Section 10 of this report highlights that 
this is highly unlikely and describes the controls in place to mitigate the risk. 

14.4 Further investment into the company by the Council will be made subject to the 
receipt of business cases from the company, and decisions on these will be made 
through the Council’s normal governance, i.e. Cabinet or Council as appropriate. 

14.5 The recommendations provide for the specific arrangements around the company set 
up and investment of working capital to be delegated to the Cabinet Member for 
Growth and Communications in consultation with the Strategic Director for Growth 
and Strategic Director for Resources. Further legal and financial advice will be 
required to ensure that robust legal and financial agreements are put in place that 
provide appropriate governance and protection for the Council.

14.6 Furthermore, advice will be taken to ensure that the financial implications and 
financial reporting requirements are fully understood. The £100k budget that is 
requested includes provision for such advice.

15. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

15.1. The Council has, in this report, set out how it intends to select an investment partner.

15.2. The creation of a co-investment partnership as proposed in this report does not in 
itself involve the procurement of works or services from the prospective partner.  
Therefore the Council is not under an obligation to run a fully regulated competition as 
set out in the Public Contracts Regulations 2015, as it is purely seeking an investor 
who can contribute or provide access to funding (and investment skills) into 
DeliverSK.

26



15.3. Following the Peters v Haringey case it has been established that where local 
authorities wish to participate in limited liability partnerships for the purpose of 
economic development, regeneration and/or local well-being and growth, then they 
may do so using the General Power of Competence contained in section 1 of the 
Localism Act 2011, provided that this is the main objective in entering into the LLP.  
This report, and any business case will demonstrate that this is a reflection of the 
Council's aims and so the formation of an LLP is considered lawful.

15.4. Where the Council is providing funding to a third party operating in the open market 
(ie the LLP) it will need to ensure that any such funding is injected in a state aid 
compliant manner. State aid is any advantage or benefit provided by a public body or 
using state resources to any undertaking (an entity deemed to be carrying out 
economic activity). The Council is a local government body funded using State 
resources. Where the Council provides these State resources to an undertaking (such 
as the LLP), which results in this entity receiving a selective advantage, it must ensure 
that it does so in line with a recognised state aid solution or exemption. Where 
unlawful state aid is provided to an undertaking, it can be clawed back with 
interest. Where the Council is able to demonstrate that no selective advantage is 
provided to an undertaking, no state aid passes to that entity. This means that where 
a loan is provided to an entity on market terms, no unlawful state aid is being provided 
as the entity is not receiving any advantage beyond what it would get on the market. 

15.5 In order to assess whether a particular investment, or investment decision confers an 
advantage that would not otherwise be available on the open market, the Market 
Economy Investor Principle Test (“MEIP Test”) should be applied to the 
assessment. The MEIP Test involves an assessment of the support provided by the 
public body in question, i.e. Would a private investor in comparable circumstances 
have provided such sums or support to the recipient if it were operating under normal 
market economy conditions? The MEIP test is deemed to be automatically satisfied if 
the public sector investor in question is investing on similar terms as a private sector 
entity. If the investment is not entirely on the same terms, pari passu, it is still possible 
for it to be deemed to be state aid compliant, provided the terms of the investment are 
such that a hypothetical reasonable private sector investor, in comparable 
circumstances, would agree to these. To evidence this, the Council could appoint an 
independent commercial advisor review the terms of the transaction and confirm that 
this is the case. This will require a review of the terms of any loan, including its length 
and interest rate.  

15.5. The governance of any joint venture will be key to ensuring it is able to operate 
effectively and meet the best interests of the Council. The Council will interact with the 
activities of the joint venture as a landowner, a member of the LLP and through 
appointees to the LLP company board of directors. Executive decisions to be made in 
respect of the LLP should be subject to scrutiny and the business plan will determine 
which decisions will be reserved to the Council.

16. BACKGROUND PAPERS

16.1. Report DSK001 – DeliverSK.  
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s21224/DeliverSK%20Report%20
to%20Growth%20OSC%20290818.pdf

27

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s21224/DeliverSK%20Report%20to%20Growth%20OSC%20290818.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s21224/DeliverSK%20Report%20to%20Growth%20OSC%20290818.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET

Report of: Councillor Kelham Cooke, 
The Deputy Leader of the Council

Report to:

Date:

Subject:

Cabinet

6th September 2018

Data Protection Policy
Report Number: LDS309

Decision
Proposal:

 Key Decision

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Member:

Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Deputy Leader of the Council

Report author:

Reviewed by:

Signed off by:

Approved for 
publication

Mandy Braithwaite
Legal Executive 
Tel:  01476 406106  E-mail:  m.braithwaite@southkesteven.gov.uk 
Date: 2.8.18 

Lucy  Youles
Solicitor to the Council
Tel: 01476 406105  E-mail:  l.youles@southkesteven.gov.uk
Date: 3.8.18 

Debbie Muddimer, Strategic Director - Resources 
Tel:  01476 406301 Email:debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk 
Date: 7.8.18

Councillor Kelham Cooke
Date:  7.8.18

SUMMARY
The report sets out the Council’s policy and procedures relating to data protection in 
line with data protection legislation which was enacted on the 23rd May 2018. The draft 
Data Protection Policy and supporting documents are attached as the Appendices to 
this report.

29

Agenda Item 5

mailto:m.braithwaite@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:l.youles@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk


RECOMMENDATION
It is recommended that:

1. Cabinet approve the draft Data Protection Policy as attached to this Report at 
Appendix 1.

1. BACKGROUND TO REPORT

1.1 The Data Protection Policy was last revised in 2015. The policy must now be 
reviewed and updated following the introduction of the General Data Protection 
Regulations (GDPR) and the Data Protection Act 2018.   

1.2 The Council holds the personal data of all its customers and people who interact 
with the Council. The Council, as a data controller, must make sure that the 
personal data which is received, processed, retained and shared is protected in 
accordance with the legal framework. The purpose of the draft policy is to set out 
for the benefit of members of the public, Council officers, Members of the Council 
and third parties with whom the Council engage, how the Council will protect the 
personal data which it processes.

1.3 The Data Protection Act 1998 has been replaced by the Data Protection Act 2018 
which implemented the GDPR into UK law on 25 May 2018. The Council should 
adopt   a policy to enable it to show how it will protect personal data in accordance 
with the new framework. 

1.4 Many of the GDPR’s main concepts and principles are the same as those in the 
previous data protection legislation. The GPDR has introduced increased rights for 
individuals, tighter time limits for reporting breaches and increased fines for 
breaching data protection legislation and associated powers of the Information 
Commissioner.  

1.5 The draft Data Protection Policy is attached to this report at Appendix 1. Several 
procedure documents have been drafted to compliment the policy and will be 
available as links within the policy. These are:

 Appendix 2  - Subject Access Request Procedure
 Appendix 3 – Procedure for Data Protection Impact Assessments
 Appendix 4 – Generic Privacy Notice
 Appendix 5 – Breach Procedure
 Appendix 6-  Protocol for Protecting Personal Information
 Appendix 7 – Information Governance Guidance

1.6 The draft Data Protection Policy and related procedures have been considered by 
the Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee and has 
recommended that the Cabinet approve the policy as drafted.

2 OVERVIEW OF CHANGES 

2.1 The Data Protection Principles

30



2.1.1 The GDPR states that anyone processing personal data must apply the six data 
protection principles: 

Lawfulness, fairness and transparency principle - personal data must be 
processed fairly, lawfully and in a transparent manner. 

Purpose limitation principle -  personal data must be collected for specified, 
explicit and legitimate purposes and not further processed in a manner 
incompatible with those processes; 

 Data minimisation principle - personal data must be adequate, relevant and 
limited to what is necessary in relation to the purposes for which it is processed;

Accuracy principle – the personal data collected must be accurate and where 
necessary kept up to date; 

Storage limitation principle - the data should only be kept in a form which 
permits identification of an individual for no longer than is necessary for the 
purpose for which the data is processed;

 Integrity and confidentiality principle - personal data must be processed in a 
manner that ensures appropriate security to protect against unauthorised 
processing, loss, destruction or damage. 

2.2 Legal Basis for Processing

2.2.1 The Council can process personal data in accordance with a legal basis. These 
are:
 The processing is necessary to fulfil or prepare a contract for the individual;
 There is a legal obligation to process the data;
 Processing the data is necessary to protect a person’s life or in a medical 

situation;
 Processing is necessary to carry out a public function, a task of public interest 

or the function has a clear basis in law;
 The processing is necessary for legitimate interests. This condition does not 

apply if there is a good reason to protect the individual’s personal data which 
overrides the legitimate interest;

 We hold recent, clear, explicit, and defined consent for the individual’s data to 
be processed for a specific purpose.Such consent must involve clear 
affirmative action. Consent can no longer be inferred. The Council is required 
to keep clear written records to demonstrate that consent has been given by an 
individual. A person will also have the right to withdraw consent. The Council is 
required to inform individuals of their right to withdraw consent.

2.3 Individual Rights

2.3.1 The Council, as a data controller, is required to process personal data in a 
transparent manner. To ensure this happens, the GDPR has introduced the 
following rights for individuals:

31



 The right to be informed of the collection and use of personal data. This right will 
be published in privacy notices (see Appendix 4 and paragraph 6  below) ;

 The right to request that inaccurate personal data is rectified;
 The right to request that personal data is erased;
 The right to request that processing of personal data is restricted;
 The right to data portability which allows individuals to obtain and reuse their data 

across different Council services;
 The right to object to the processing of personal data;
 The right not to be the subject of automated decision making including profiling.

2.3.2 All the above rights are in addition to the existing right to individuals to access the 
personal data held about them by the Council (subject access request). The 
timescale for complying with such a request has reduced from 40 days to 30 
calendar days. There is no longer a fee payable for this request or for any of the 
rights referred to above. The procedure for making and processing a subject 
access request is detailed in the Subject Access Request Procedure attached to 
this report at Appendix 2

2.4. Data Protection Impact Assessments (DPIA)

2.4.1 A DPIA is a process to help identify and minimise the data protection risks of 
Council projects and actions which involve the processing of personal data. The 
GDPR requires the Council to carry out a DPIA if it plans to for example:

 Install CCTV cameras;
 Process sensitive personal data on a large scale;
 Process personal data that might endanger an individual’s health or safety 

in the event of a security breach;
 Process personal data that concerns vulnerable adults or children.

2.4.2 A procedure for carrying out a DPIA has been drafted and is attached as Appendix 
3 to this report.

2.5. Privacy Notices

2.5.1   Individuals have a right to be informed about the collection and use of personal 
data. This is a transparency requirement of the GDPR. This can be done by way of 
a privacy notice. The information required in a privacy notice includes the 
purposes of the processing, the legal basis for the processing, the period for which 
the personal data will be stored and the individual’s rights relating to the 
processing of personal data.

2.5.2 A generic privacy notice has been drafted which is attached to this report as 
Appendix 4. It is proposed that each service which processes personal data will 
provide a specific privacy notice relating to the processes of that service. These 
privacy notices are currently being prepared.

2.6 Record of Processing Activities

2.6.1 The Council is currently carrying out a process of recording its data processing 
activities. This involves each service of the Council responding to a series of 

32



questions relating to personal data collected and how it is used. This record will be 
used to review processes and ensure that personal data is being processed in 
accordance with the legislation. 

2.7. Data Protection Breaches

2.7.1 The Council is required to report to the Information Commissioner notifiable 
breaches of data protection within 72 hours of a breach occurring. A potential 
breach procedure has been drafted and is attached to this report as Appendix 5. 

2.7.2 The GDPR has introduced new levels of fines for failure to notify a breach of up 
to   £8.8m.  Fines of up to £17.6m may be imposed for the actual breach.

2.7.3 The Data Protection Act 2018 introduces offences;

 for the deliberate or reckless obtaining, disclosing, procuring and retention of 
personal data without the consent of the data controller; 

 knowingly or recklessly re-identifying data which has been de-identified; and
 Alteration of personal data to prevent disclosure in respect of a subject access 

request.

These offences apply to any person processing personal data on behalf of the 
Council. 

3 TRAINING AND AWARENESS

3.1  The document “the Protocol for Protecting Personal Information” has been 
produced and is attached to this report at Appendix 6. This document will be 
available as a link within the Data Protection Policy. This is intended to assist 
those processing personal data to avoid potential breaches of data protection. In 
addition, all employees of the Council are required to carry out on-line data 
protection training. Further training is proposed following the adoption of the 
proposed draft policy.  

3.2 Information Governance guidance is produced at Appendix 7. This document sets 
out the various roles and responsibilities of officers, Members of the Council and 
third parties acting on behalf of the Council.

4. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

4.1 There are no other options to consider.

5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 All services within the Council have been involved in the recording and mapping of 
personal data processing to ensure compliance with GDPR. This work will 
continue as part of the day to day procedures of the Council. Budgetary provision 
has been made for the engagement of a Data Protection Officer which is a 
requirement of the Data Protection Act 2018.

6. RISK AND MITIGATION 

33



6.1 The Data Protection Policy and associated documents are intended to reduce the 
risk of data breach and non-compliance with the legislation.  

7. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS (EQUALITY, SAFEGUARDING 
etc.)

7.1  No impact analysis is required.

8 CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

8.1 Malicious misuse of personal data processed by the Council could lead to 
prosecution of individuals.

9. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

9.1 It is imperative that the legislation and policy relating to data protection is followed 
to avoid the imposition of penalties which could have a major financial impact on 
the Council

10. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

10.1 The Council must implement a policy which is compliant with the GDPR and the 
new Data Protection Act 2018. Privacy notices must be published, procedures put 
in place, records maintained and appointments made in accordance with the new 
legislation. 

11. COMMENTS OF OTHER RELEVANT SERVICES 

11.1 None

12. APPENDICES

12.1 Appendix 1 – Draft South Kesteven Data Protection Policy
Appendix 2 – Subject Access Request Procedure
Appendix 3 – Procedure for Data Protection Impact Assessments
Appendix 4 – Generic Privacy Notice
Appendix 5 – Breach Procedure
Appendix 6-  Protocol for Protecting Personal Information
Appendix 7 – Information Governance Guidance

13. BACKGROUND PAPERS

13.1 Data Protection Act 2018 – 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2018/12/contents/enacted 

IT Security Policy http://intranet/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=16922&p=0 

Acceptable Use of IT Policy http://intranet/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=16916&p=0 
Current Data protection Policy 

34

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2018/12/contents/enacted
http://intranet/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=16922&p=0
http://intranet/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=16916&p=0


APPENDIX 1

South Kesteven District Council

Data Protection Policy 
(draft)

June 2018

35



1

Revision date Previous revision 
date

Summary of Changes Changes 
marked

July 2018 First Draft V1.0

CONTENTS

Section 1 - Introduction

Section 2 - Scope

Section 3 - Data Protection Principles

Section 4 - General Requirements 

Section 5 - Information Sharing 

Section 6 - Privacy Impact Assessments

Section 7 - Data Subject Rights

Section 8 - Data Retention

Section 9 - Transfer to other Countries

Section 10 - Training

Section 11 – Information Commissioner Enforcement

Section 12 – Contact, Information and Guidance

Section 13 - Non Compliance 

Section 14 - Policy Review

36



2

1 Introduction

1.1 This is South Kesteven District Council’s Data Protection Policy.

1.2 South Kesteven District Council processes personal data to carry out its 
duties and obligations. This policy sets out the Council’s commitment to 
protecting and handling personal data.

2 Scope

2.1 This Policy applies to:

 All employees of the Council;
 Members of the Council;
 Suppliers and Contractors of the Council;
 Temporary staff engaged by the Council;
 Volunteers at the Council;
 Others using the Council’s information or systems

2.2 Some of the Council’s obligations in this policy are supported by other policies 
and procedures, where relevant, links to those policies and procedures are 
provided in this document.

2.3 This policy relates to personal data, which means any information in paper or 
digital format relating to a person who can be identified by that information. 
Personal data may also be classed as special category (sensitive) data. The 
definitions of personal and special category (sensitive) data are attached at 
Appendix 1.

3 Data Protection Principles 

3.1 South Kesteven District Council must protect and process the personal data 
which it holds in accordance with data protection principles established by 
law. The Data Protection Act 2018 (DPA) and General Data Protection 
Regulation (GDPR), require us to be sure that all personal data is:

 Processed fairly, lawfully and in a transparent manner (‘lawfulness, 
fairness and transparency’);

 Collected for specified, explicit and legitimate purposes and not further 
processed in a manner that is incompatible with those purposes 
(‘purpose limitation’);

37



3

 Adequate, relevant and limited only to what is necessary in relation 
to the purposes for which they are processed (‘data minimisation’);

 Accurate and where necessary kept up to date, erased or rectified 
without delay (‘accuracy’);

 Kept in a form which permits identification of data subjects for no 
longer than is necessary (‘storage limitation’); 

 Processed in accordance with the rights of data subjects

 Processed in a manner that ensures appropriate security of the 
personal data including protection against unauthorised or unlawful 
processing and against accidental loss, destruction or damage, 
using appropriate technical or organisational measures (‘integrity 
and confidentiality’).

4 General requirements 

4.1 The main requirements for data protection are that:

 Personal data will only be accessed by those who need it for work 
purposes

 Personal data will not be divulged or discussed except when performing 
normal work duties

 Personal data must be kept safe and secure at all times, including at the 
office, public areas or in transit

 Personal data will be regularly reviewed and updated 
 Internal and external queries about data protection to the Council must 

be dealt with effectively and promptly

How the Council complies with these requirements is set out in the IT Security Policy 
(insert link), Acceptable Use of IT Policy (insert link) and the Protocol relating to 
the protection of personal data (insert link)

5 Information Sharing 

5.1 Personal data may need to be shared with other organisations in order to 
deliver our services or perform our duties. This can only be done where we 
have permission or if there is a legal obligation for us to share personal data.

38



4

5.2 Where the Council regularly shares personal information with our partners 
and other organisations an Information Sharing Agreement will be put in 
place.  This agreement is signed by all partners to the sharing and agrees a 
set of standards and best practice surrounding Data Protection.  However, 
these are not needed when information is shared in one-off circumstances but 
a record of the decision and reasons for sharing information will be kept.

5.3 All Data Sharing Agreements will be registered with the Council’s Data 
Protection Officer. That officer will maintain a register of all our Data Sharing 
Agreements.

5.4 Where we give personal data or give access to personal data that we hold to 
anybody acting on behalf of the Council, we will require that party to sign a 
Non-Disclosure Agreement.  

6 Privacy Impact Assessments (PIAs)

6.1 PIAs will be completed to help identify and minimise risks to the protection of 
data in the following situations where personal data is held by the Council:

 At the beginning of a new project or when implementing a new system
 Before entering a data sharing agreement
 When major changes are introduced into a system or process

For further guidance on undertaking Data Protection Impact Assessments (PIA’s), 
please read our Procedure for Undertaking a Data Protection Impact Assessment 
(insert link) 

7 Data Subject Rights

7.1 The Council is committed to ensuring individuals can freely exercise their 
rights.  Below is a summary of those rights.  

 Right to Access

This allows the individual to ask the Council if it holds personal 
information about them, what it uses the information for and to be 
given a copy of that information . 

Anyone wanting to know what personal data the Council holds 
about them can make a Subject Access Request by completing 
“Subject Access Information Request Form”. This form and the 
procedure for making applications and dealing with SAR’s is 
available on this link: (insert link) 

39



5

 Right to correct incorrect information (rectification) 

This means the right to have your personal data corrected if the data 
we hold is not correct, or completed if it is incomplete.  A request for 
a correction must be made in writing to the Data Protection Officer 
with proof of identity.

 Right to erasure 

This means you have a ‘right to be forgotten’ and all your personal 
data deleted in certain circumstances. A request for erasure must be 
made in writing to the Data Protection Officer with proof of identity.

 Right to restriction of processing of personal data in certain 
circumstances. 

This means that you can ask us to limit the way that we use your 
personal data in some situations.  A request for restriction must be 
made in writing to the Data Protection Officer with proof of identity.

 Right to data portability 

This means the right, at your request, to have your personal data 
transferred from us to another person or organisation, or to use your 
personal data from somewhere else. A request for portability must 
be made in writing to the Data Protection Officer with proof of 
identity.

 Right to object

This means the right to ask that your personal data is not used for 
profiling, direct marketing, profiling, automated decision-making (for 
example by a computerised process) and similar uses. An objection 
must be made in writing to the Data Protection Officer with proof of 
identity.

 Rights related to automated decision making and profiling.  

This right enables you to object to the Council making significant 
decisions about you where the decision is completely automated 
and there is no human involvement. An objection must be made in 
writing to the Data Protection Officer with proof of identity

40



6

8 Data Retention

8.1 Personal Data which is no longer required will be destroyed appropriately.  
Personal Data will be destroyed in accordance with the Council’s retention 
schedule which is set out here – (insert link)

9 Transfers to other Countries

9.1 Most of our processing occurs in the UK or European Union.  This means that 
there are common standards for the processing of personal data.  

10 Training

10.1 Data Protection training is important so that we can be sure that all employees 
and agency workers understand their responsibilities. All employees (including 
temporary employees) will complete Data Protection training every year and 
Elected Members will be offered the same training.

11 Information Commissioner Enforcement

11.1 The Information Commissioner has various enforcement powers at it’s 
disposal ranging from inquiries into data breaches, Information Notices 
Assessment Notices, Enforcement Notices, Powers of Physical Entry and 
Inspection and, ultimately, Penalty Notices and Prosecution.

11.2 Penalty notices or monetary penalties (fines) may be served for non-
compliance with the DPA and or serious data breaches.  There are two levels 
as follows:

 The “higher maximum amount” is 20 million Euros (£17.6m)
 The “standard maximum amount” is 10 million Euros (£8.8m)

11.3 The maximum amount of penalty in sterling will be determined by applying the 
spot rate of exchange set by the Bank of England on the day on which the 
penalty notice is given.

41



7

11.4 The “higher maximum” will apply to very serious and or damaging data 
breaches and fundamental failure to comply with the fundamentals of the DPA 
ideals.

11.5 All fines are made public by the Commissioner and the Chief Executive of the 
offending organisation is usually asked to make a formal undertaking to put in 
place effective measures and remedies.

11.6 If the organisation disputes the fine, it can appeal to the First-Tier Tribunal 
within 28 days of being informed of the Monetary Penalty Notice. 

 

12 Contact, Information and Guidance

12.1 Requests for any information relating to rights or data protection matters 
should be made in writing to:

The Data Protection Officer
South Kesteven District Council
Council Offices 
St Peters Hill
Grantham
Lincs
NG31 6PZ                   Email:  dpo@southkesteven.gov.uk 

12.2 Information can also be obtained from the Information Commissioner at:

The Office of the Information Commissioner
Wycliffe House
Water Lane
Wilmslow
Cheshire
SK9 5AF
www.ico.org.uk 

Telephone 0303 1231113 (local rate) or 0162 5545745 (national rate)

13 Non Compliance

13.1 Individual members of staff can face disciplinary action for misusing personal 
data.  Malicious misuse and unauthorised disclosure of personal data can 
also lead to personal prosecution and/or liability to pay compensation in any 
civil action.

42

mailto:dpo@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.ico.org.uk/


8

13.2 Elected Members when handling personal data in relation to Council business 
must comply with this policy. Malicious misuse and unauthorised disclosure of 
personal data can also lead to personal prosecution and/or liability to pay 
compensation in any civil action

14 Policy Review

14.1 This policy will be reviewed annually.    

14.2 Reviews of this policy will take into account changes in the law, best practice, 
lessons learnt and changes in information technology (IT). 

43



9

APPENDIX 1

PERSONAL DATA

Is identified by Article 4 of the GDPR as “any information relating to an identified or 
identifiable natural person (‘data subject’); an identifiable natural person is one who 
can be identified, directly, directly or indirectly, in particular by reference to an 
identifier such as a name, an identification number, location data, an online identifier 
or to one or more factors specific to the physical, physiological, genetic mental, 
economic, cultural or social identity of that natural person.”

SPECIAL CATEGORY DATA (SENSITIVE PERSONAL DATA)

Is identified by Article 9 of the GDPR as “data revealing racial or ethnic origin, 
political opinions, religious or philosophical beliefs, or trade-union membership, and 
the processing of generic data, biometric data for the purpose of uniquely identifying 
a natural person, data concerning health or data concerning a natural person’s sex 
life or sexual orientation.”

Special Category Data can only be processed by the Council if one or more specified 
statutory conditions apply.  The statutory conditions are set out in summary below:

 explicit consent (unless law prohibits the processing and that prohibition cannot 
be overridden by the person)

 Legal obligation on the controller in respect of employment, social security etc.

 protection of the vital interests of the data subject or another person where the 
data subject is legally or physically incapable of giving consent

 legitimate activities of a non-profit making organisation with a political, 
philosophical or trade-union aim

 the personal data is manifestly made public by the data subject

 necessary for the establishment, exercise or defence of legal claims or 
whenever courts are acting in their judicial capacity

 substantial public interest (based on a  Union or State law which is proportionate 
to the aim pursued, respects the essence of the right to data protection and 
provides specific measures to protect the fundamental rights and freedoms of 
the data subject)

 necessary for the purposes of preventative or occupational medicine, 
assessment of working capacity, medical diagnosis, provision of health or social 

44



10

care or treatment or the management of health and social care systems and 
services on the basis of Union or State law

 public health (on the basis of Union or State law)

 Archiving in the public interest, research and statistics.

45



This page is intentionally left blank



          

South Kesteven District 
Council

The Right of Subject Access 

May 2018 

APPENDIX 2

47



Contents

The Rights of Subject Access

Subject Access Procedure

Subject Access Information Pack

Subject Access Form 

Agent Authorisation Form 

48



The Right of Subject Access

1. Section 45 of the Data Protection Act 2018 (the Act) gives individuals the 
right to request copies of all their personal data processed by South 
Kesteven District Council, (the Council).  The rules on subject access have 
been significantly amended by the Act and the General Data Protection 
Regulation (GDPR).

2.      Personal data is defined as "any information relating to an identified or 
identifiable natural person ('data subject'); an identifiable natural person is 
one who can be identified, directly, or indirectly, in particular by reference to 
an identifier such as a name, an identification number, location data, an 
online identifier or to one or more factors specific to the physical, 
physiological, genetic, mental, economic, cultural or social identity of that 
natural person".

3.         In order to obtain a copy of their personal data, an individual has to make a 
request in writing, provide proof of identity and specify the information they 
are seeking. This is known as a Subject Access Request. No fee is payable.

4.       Once an individual has provided this, the Council has a period of one month 
to comply with the request, otherwise the Council will be in breach of the Act.   
Repeated infringements could lead to enforcement action being taken by 
the Information Commissioner's Office (ICO) against the Council.

5.        This Procedure is designed to ensure that all requests are dealt with within 
the statutory time period of one month.

Subject Access Procedure

1.        The Council will acknowledge all Subject Access Requests within 5 working 
days. At the time of acknowledgement, individuals will be told whether any 
further information is required.

2.        Individuals will be required to provide proof of identity and residence before 
information will be disclosed.  This is to prevent unauthorised disclosure to 
third parties.

3.        Where a request is made by an agent on behalf of an individual the agent 
must provide proof of authority to act on the individual’s behalf. Please see 
Page 10 of this document for the relevant form and further information. 

    

49



1.         Initial Receipt of Requests

 All Subject Access Requests must be made in writing.
 A request for information can be sent to the main office in Grantham or our 

offices in Stamford, Bourne or Market Deeping – address details can be 
found here 

 The request might not mention the Data Protection Act 2018 or Subject 
Access. It might simply state that the individual wants to see what 
information is held about him / her.

 If the request is made verbally, t he  Counc i l  w i l l  provide advice and 
assistance to the individual to enable a written request to be made.

 An officer who receives a Subject Access Request should contact the
Data Protection Officer for advice.

 The Data Protection Officer will record the request and advise you on how 
to proceed.

 If the request is simple, the Data Protection Officer will advise you to meet 
the request.

 Otherwise forward the request to the Data Protection Officer who will be 
responsible for handling it.

2.         Advice and Assistance

 The Council's Website contains information about the right of subject 
access. An  Officer  can  either  print  out  and  send  copies  of  the 
information to the individual or just direct the individual to the website.

3.         Receipt by Data Protection Officer

 Validate Request – have the conditions been met for a valid request?
 If request is not valid, inform the individual of what further information is 

required (see 2. Advice and Assistance)
 Record request on database.
 If the request is for non-personal data, or it is for personal data of which the 

individual is not the data subject (or the legal guardian of a data subject) 
then the request will be dealt with under the Freedom of Information 
Policy and Procedure 

 Acknowledge request.
 The Data Protection Officer may contact the individual to clarify request.
 Decide on plan for meeting the request.

50

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8595
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8460
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8460


4.         Easy/Fast Track

 Some subject access requests may be limited in nature and easy to 
fulfill. i.e. the individual is requesting a specific piece of information that 
he/she clearly has a right of access too.

 In these cases, the Data Protection Officer will forward the
request to the relevant department who will respond to the individual.

5.         Process A

 The Data Protection Officer will establish which s e r v i c e s  are covered 
by the request.

 Contact the relevant departmental officers to ask for their assistance in 
locating the requested information.

6.         Process B

 Once the information has been collected together, it will be necessary to 
identify any third party information in the personal data.

 If third party information is identified then a decision needs to be made 
about whether the consent of the third party is required and if so whether 
the third party should be approached to see if they consent.

 Consult with any relevant parties internally; get the departmental officers 
views on the case to build up some background. Identify any potentially 
contentious issues.

7.         Process C

 Once Process B is complete, the Data Protection Officer will decide 
whether any of the subject access restrictions are applicable.

8.         Release

 The information will then be released to the Data Subject along with a 
description of the personal data and a list of the purposes for which it is 
processed, where it was obtained from and whom it will be/has been 
disclosed to.

The Data Subject will also be informed of the reasons why any information is being 
restricted in whole or part and the Council will record the reasons for its decision in 
this regard.

51



Appendix 1
Subject Access Information Pack

This Information Pack explains how to exercise your right under the Data Protection 
Act 2018 to see what information S o u t h  K e s t e v e n  D i s t r i c t  C o u n c i l  
h o l d s  about you and your right to request it.

What is a Subject Access Request?

Under Section 45 of the Data Protection Act 2018 you are entitled to obtain from 
the Council:

1.         Confirmation as to whether or not personal data concerning you is being 
processed, and

2.         Where that is the case, access to the personal data and the information set 
out below.

This information is:

(a)    the purposes of and legal basis for the processing; 
(b)    the categories of personal data concerned;
(c) the recipients or categories of recipients to whom the personal data 

has been disclosed;
(d) the period for which it is envisaged that the personal data will be 

stored or, where that is not possible, the criteria used to determine that 
period;

3.         You have the right to request from the Council: 

(a) rectification of personal data, and
(b)    erasure of personal data, or the restriction of its processing.

4.         You   also   have   the   right   to   lodge   a   complaint   to   the   Information
Commissioner's Office. The contact details are:

https://ico.org.uk/global/contact-us

Wycliffe House, Water Lane, Wilmslow, Cheshire, SK9 5AF

Tel:   0303 123 1113 (local rate) or
01625 545 745 (national rate)

52

https://ico.org.uk/global/contact-us


5.         However, the Council may restrict, wholly or partly, the above rights if one 
or more of the following circumstances apply:

(a) avoid obstructing an official or legal inquiry, investigation or procedure; 
(b) avoid prejudicing the prevention, detection, investigation or prosecution

of criminal offences or the execution of criminal penalties;
(c) protect public security; 
(d) protect national security;
(e) protect the rights and freedom of others.

6.         Where the rights have been restricted,  wholly or partly, the Council must 
inform you in writing without undue delay:

(a) that the rights have been restricted and the reasons for this;
(b) your right to make a complaint to the ICO and also the right to make a 

request to the ICO to check that the processing of personal data relating 
to you complies with the Data Protection Act 2018.

(c) that you have a right to apply to a Court on the basis that there has been 
an infringement of your rights under the Act.

7.         The Council must record the reasons for a decision to restrict, whether 
wholly or partly, your rights.

8.         The Council can also refuse or charge for requests for information that are 
manifestly unfounded or excessive.

How long does a subject access request take?

The Act requires the Council to comply with subject access requests, within a 
period of one month from receipt of a valid request.   No payment of a fee is 
required.  If we consider the subject access request to be complex, we can take up 
to three months to deal with it.

What information do I need to provide?

The Council will request proof of your identity and information to assist us in 
locating your personal data such as the Council service areas that you have had 
dealings with and the type of information that you wish to see.

Can a third party make a subject access request on my behalf?

Yes, but only with your written authorisation.   The person acting on your behalf 
must provide satisfactory evidence that they are authorised to make a request on 
your behalf.

53



How do I make a request to South Kesteven District Council?

1.         If you are making a request to the Council, you should use the ‘Subject 
Access Request Form’ (Appendix 2).  You will find it enclosed in this pack.

2.         You should provide at  least  one  form  of  identification.  In cases where 
special category (sensitive) personal data is involved, you may be required 
to provide further identification.  Examples of identification are a photocopy 
of your passport or driving license and a recent utility bill or Council Tax 
letter.

3.         If an agent is making a request on your behalf you will need to complete an
‘Agent Authorisation Form’ (Appendix 3).   We will not respond to third 
party requests unless this form is completed. In order to ensure 
confidentiality, we reserve the right to make further enquires to check the 
authorisation given.

4.        All completed forms should be returned to: 
The Data Protection Officer, 
South Kesteven District Council, 
Council Offices, 
St Peters Hill, 
Grantham, 
Lincolnshire 
NG31 6PZ 

54



Appendix 2
Subject Access Request Form

Before completing this form please read the Subject Access Information Pack.  Any 
information provided in this form will be used solely for the purpose of responding 
to your request under section 45 of the Data Protection Act 2018.

1.       Name and Contact Details of Data Subject
Name:
Address:

Telephone Number (day time):
Previous address (if you have moved house in the last 12 months):

2.       Data Subject or Authorised Agent
(delete as appropriate):

2.1    I am making this request on my own behalf

2.2 I would like my agent Mr/s ………………………… to Act on my behalf. 

If a third party is making a request on your behalf you will need to complete
and attach an Agent Authorisation Form. We will not be able to deal with a 
request from a third party if this form is not completed.

3.       Identification

In  order  to  assist  us  in  responding  to  your  request  and  to  help  us 
prevent unauthorised disclosures of your personal data please provide a 
copy of a photographic ID and a recent utility bill. (See information note for 
further guidance.)

3.1   I have attached photocopies of the required ID

3.2 I have attached originals of the required ID and wish for them 
to be photocopied and returned.

55



4.       Details of the Request

In order to assist us to meet your request please state what information you are 
seeking and/or what rights you are seeking to exercise.

5.       Other information

Please provide any information that will assist us in locating the data you have 
requested. This could be details of any relevant reference numbers, dates of any 
correspondence or any members of staff you have dealt with.

6.       Statement

I  have  read  and  understood  the  information  contained  in  the  Subject Access 
Information Leaflet.  I understand that the Council may seek further information to 
confirm my identity as the data subject in order to ensure confidentiality.  I confirm 
that the information I have provided is accurate.

Signature of data subject:        …………………………………………………

Date:                                           …………………………………………………

This  form  should  be  returned  to:  The  Data  Protection  Officer, South Kesteven 
District Council, Council Offices, St Peters Hill, Grantham, Lincolnshire NG31 6PZ   

56



Appendix 3
Agent Authorisation Form

Before completing this form please read the Subject Access Information Pack. Any 
information provided in this form will be used solely for purpose of responding to 
the request, made by the individual named in section 1, under section 45 of the 
Data Protection Act 2018.

1.       Name and Contact Details of the Data Subject
Name: 
Address:

Telephone Number (day time):

I am the above named person and authorise South Kesteven District 
Council to give the  information  requested  in  this  application  to  my  agent  
whose  name and address are given below.

Signature of data subject:        …………………………………………………

Date:                                           …………………………………………………

2.       Name and Address of Agent
Name:

Address:

Telephone Number (day time):

What is your relationship with the data subject:

I declare that I make this application on behalf of and solely in the interest of, 
the named data subject. To ensure confidentiality I accept that you may need 
to make further enquiries to validate this authorisation.

Signature of Agent:        …………………………………………………

Date:                                …………………………………………………

This form should be returned along with a completed Subject Access Request form 
to:  The Data Protection Officer, South Kesteven District Council, Council Offices, 
St Peters Hill, Grantham, Lincolnshire NG31 6PZ

57



This page is intentionally left blank



          

South Kesteven District 
Council

Procedure for undertaking a 
Data Protection Impact 
Assessment

June 2018 

APPENDIX 3

59



1. Introduction

1.1 Under previous legislation, the carrying out of a Privacy Impact Assessment 
was considered to be good practice. Both the General Data Protection 
Regulation (GDPR) and the Data Protection Act 2018 (DPA) now mean that 
carrying out a Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) is mandatory in 
certain circumstances. This is a key element of the new focus on accountability 
and data protection by design, and a more risk-based approach to compliance.

1.2 A DPIA is a process to help identify and minimise the data protection risks of a 
particular project or activity when the processing of personal data is likely to 
result in ‘a high risk to individuals’ rights or freedoms’. A high risk might arise if 
the Council is intending to process data that:

  Involves the use of special category (sensitive), or highly personal data;

 Concerns vulnerable adults or children;

 Involves preventing people from using a service or exercising a right;

 Includes processing data on a large scale.

 1.3 If you are in any doubt as to whether you need to complete a DPIA, you 
should consult with the Council's Data Protection Officer. Email: 
dpo@southkesteven.gov.uk  

 1.4 If you identify a high risk and you cannot mitigate that risk, you must consult with 
the Information Commissioner's Office (ICO) before starting the processing. The 
ICO will give written advice within 8 weeks, or 14 weeks in complex cases. In 
appropriate cases, the ICO has the power to issue a formal warning not to 
process the data, or to ban the processing altogether.

2. When should a DPIA be undertaken?

2.1 A DPIA is a process to systematically analyse the Council's processing and 
help it to minimise data protection risks. It is not intended to be a one-off 
exercise and should be seen as an ongoing process; it should be monitored 
and reviewed as necessary. A DPIA must:

 Describe the processing and its purposes;

 Assess necessity and proportionality;

 Identify and assess risks to individuals; and
 

 Identify any measures to mitigate those risks and protect the data.

2.2 The GDPR states that the Council must carry out a DPIA if it plans to:

 Systematically monitor a public place on a large scale by for example,   
installing CCTV cameras;

 Process sensitive personal data or criminal offence data on a large scale;
60

mailto:dpo@southkesteven.gov.uk


 Use systematic and extensive profiling with significant effects;

 Use new technologies, process biometric data (e.g. fingerprints,     
facial recognition, retinal scans) and geometric data (an 
individual's gene sequence);

 Profile children or target services at them;

 Match data or combine data sets from different sources;

 Process personal data without providing a privacy notice 
directly to an individual;

 Process personal data that might endanger an individual's health or 
safety in the event of a security breach.

2.3 The GDPR also provides that the Council must, where appropriate, seek the 
views of data subjects or their representatives on the intended processing, 
without prejudice to the protection of commercial or public interests or the 
security of processing operations.

The following checklist will assist you in terms of determining whether a DPIA
must be carried out.

DPIA questions Yes/No
1. Identity Will the project involve collecting information 

about individuals for the first time?
2. Identity Will your project or activity compel 

individuals to provide information about 
themselves?

3. Sharing 
information

Will any information about individuals be 
disclosed to any other organisations?

4. Data Are you using information about individuals for a 
purpose it is not currently used for, or in a way it 
is not currently used?

5. Data Does the project involve you using new 
technology that might be perceived as being 
privacy intrusive? For example, the use of 
biometrics or facial recognition or CCTV 
cameras?

6. Data Will the project result in you making decisions or 
taking action against individuals in ways that 
could have a significant impact on them?

7. Data Is the information about individuals of a kind 
particularly likely to raise privacy concerns or 
expectations? For example, health records, 
criminal records or other information that 
people would consider to be private.

8. Data Will the project or activity require you to 
contact individuals in ways that they may find 
intrusive?

61



If you have answered YES to ANY of the questions in the checklist, 
you will need to consult with the DPO

3. What should a DPIA contain?

3.1 Section 64 of the DPA 2018 prescribes that a DPIA must contain as a 
minimum:

 A systematic description of the proposed processing and its 
purpose;

 An assessment of the risks to the rights and freedoms of data 
subjects;

 The measures proposed to address those risks;

 Safeguards, security measures and mechanisms to ensure 
the protection of personal data and to demonstrate 
compliance with the Council's revised Data Protection 
Policies and Procedures.

The following Data Protection Impact Assessment Template should 
be used when carrying out a DPIA.

Title of project:

What is the project?

What is the purpose of the project?

1.  Describe the 
project - new 
service or 
change to 
service

Assistant Director  (insert name):

2.  Risk
Assessment

Is there a high risk to personal 
data? Please give details, refer to 
checklist.

What Personal Data will be collected
(list all fields)

3.  What personal 
and/or 
sensitive 
personal data 
will be 
collected?

What sensitive personal data will 
be collected
(list all)

62



What is the legal basis for processing 
the data?

Is the data you will collect the 
minimum necessary to achieve the 
purpose of the project?
(please explain)

How will the accuracy of the data 
be checked?
How long will you retain the 
data collected for?

(The retention period may be defined 
by law, if not you should only retain 
data as long as is necessary)

4.  Data 
Protection 
principles

What measures are in place to ensure 
the data is held securely?

5.  Contracts (issues that might arise if service is 
under contract)

•     Tender process
•     Contractual controls
•     Contract Term
•     Supplier(s) & Accreditation
•     Training
•     Organisational Policies
•     Technical Controls

o Access
o Security at rest
o Security in transit

6.  Risk 
management

What controls are in place to manage 
or mitigate any risks and have you 
considered whether there is a need to 
consult with data subjects?

Note:  If the risks to personal data 
cannot be mitigated, the Data 
Protection Officer will need to consult 
the Information Commissioner's Office 
before your project can proceed.

63



7.  Attachments Please attach the following 
as appropriate:

•     Privacy Notice
•     Consent Form
•     Business Case
•     PID/Specification
•     High and low level design

documents, network diagrams
•     Procurement evaluations,       

contracts, agreements

8.  Reviews

9.  Approvals Assistant Director 

DPO

64



APPENDIX 4

Privacy Notice – South Kesteven District Council 

About us

South Kesteven District Council (SKDC) is the ‘controller’ of the personal data that we 
collect about you. We process and hold your personal data in order to provide public 
services to the district. 

Why do we collect your personal information? 

SKDC holds a wide variety of personal data which is used to deliver public services. We 
will process your personal data for the following purposes:

 For the service you have requested, and to monitor and improve our 
performance in responding to your request.

 To allow us to be able to communicate and provide services and benefits 
appropriate to your needs.

 To ensure that we meet our legal obligations and to exercise our statutory 
powers in the public interest.

 Where necessary, for law enforcement functions.
 Where necessary, to protect individuals from harm or injury.
 To allow the statistical analysis of data so we can plan the provision of services.

We will only collect personal data that we need in order to deliver services to you, and 
as far as is reasonable and practicable, we will ensure that personal data is accurate 
and kept up to date.

What personal data do we collect? 

We will collect personal data about you to help us deliver the right service. This data 
may include:

 Name, address and other contact details;
 Financial details;
 Family details;
 Employment and education information;
 Lifestyle and social circumstances;

We may also process other special categories of personal data, including: 

 Physical or mental health needs;
 Racial or ethnic origin;
 Sexual orientation;

65



 Trade union membership;
 Political affiliation or political opinions;
 Details of criminal convictions;
 Civil or criminal proceedings, and associated sentences
 Religious or other similar beliefs. 

How do we collect your personal data? 

Personal data can be collected in many different ways, including in face to face 
meetings, over the telephone, via email or from enquiries submitted via our website. 

Who do we collect your personal data from? 

Personal data is collected in a number of different ways:

 Taken directly from you when you access one of our services 
 Provided by other members of the public, 
 Provided to us by another professional organisation involved in the delivery or 

provision of a service
 Provided by another professional organisation to allow the research and 

intelligence necessary to perform our statutory functions. 

Professional organisations may include other public sector bodies, such as health care 
providers or the Police Service. Where necessary, we will share your personal data with 
the organisations that deliver services on behalf of the Council. We will only share your 
personal data where it is necessary to, and in accordance with the law. 

Where necessary we may share your personal data with the following categories of 
recipients:

 Healthcare, social and welfare organisations and professionals
 Providers of goods and services
 Financial organisations, including debt collection, tracing and credit referencing 

agencies
 Elected Members
 Local and central government
 Ombudsman and regulatory authorities
 Professional advisors and consultants
 Police forces, other law enforcement and prosecuting authorities
 Voluntary and charitable organisations
 Disclosure and Barring Service
 Courts and Tribunals
 Utilities providers

How long do we keep your personal data for? 

66



We are required to retain your personal data only for as long as is necessary, after 
which it will be securely destroyed in line with SKDCs retention schedule, or the specific 
requirements of the organisation who has shared personal data with us.

Retention periods can vary and will depend on various criteria including the purpose of 
processing, regulatory and legal requirements, and internal organisational need.

How do we keep your personal data safe? 

We have an information security framework in place which ensures that appropriate 
technical and organisational measures are in place to help keep your personal data 
secure and to reduce the risk of loss and theft.

Access to personal data is strictly controlled based on the role and function of all staff. 

All staff are required to undertake regular data protection training and must comply with 
a variety of policies designed to keep your information secure.

Your rights

You have a number of rights which relate to your personal data. 

You are entitled to request access to any personal data we hold about you, and to ask 
for a copy of it. 

You also have the right to request we correct any inaccurate data held should this be 
identified to us. 

You can also request that we erase your personal data, or that we stop processing all or 
some of it. This is not always possible, and any request would be considered 
individually. 

We are obliged to consider and respond to any such request within one calendar month. 

Further information 

If you wish to make a request regarding any of the above, or if you have a complaint 
about how we have handled your personal data, contact the Data Protection officer by 
emailing dpa@southkesteven.gov.uk  

Alternatively, you can write to us at Data Protection Officer, The Council Offices, St 
Peters Hill, Grantham, Lincolnshire, NG31 6PZ. Our telephone number is 01476 406080

67

mailto:dpa@southkesteven.gov.uk


Further information about data protection can be obtained from the Information 
Commissioner’s Office. 

68

https://ico.org.uk/make-a-complaint/
https://ico.org.uk/make-a-complaint/


          

South Kesteven District 
Council

Procedure for reporting 
Information Security Breaches, 
Data Protection Breaches & 
Card Data Security Incidents 

July 2018 

APPENDIX 5

69



1

Introduction

This procedure applies to all staff and elected Members working for the South Kesteven 
District Council (The Council) and it applies to any actual, suspected or "near miss" loss 
of personal data.

Any loss of confidential information can result in large fines for the Council.  The Council 
is under a duty to report certain types of breaches so it is imperative that these are 
reported as soon as possible.

This procedure should be used to report all breaches of confidentiality and information 
security whether actual or suspected. This covers information held and shared in 
different formats (paper, electronic or verbal).

This procedure underpins the Council’s Information Governance guidance, (INSERT 
LINK) and our Data Protection Policy which have been developed to protect the 
information handled by the Council. In addition, it supports the guidelines produced for 
connecting to the Government Secure Internet and is part of the Council's Payment 
Card Industry Governance.

All staff and Elected Members have a responsibility to report a suspected or actual 
breach of confidentiality or loss of data.  Failure to do so may be considered a breach of 
the Council's Data Protection Policy and may result in disciplinary action.

Where there is a risk that Credit or Debit Card information may have been 
compromised, the Card Data Security Incident Response Plan, at Page 9 of this 
document, should also be followed.

Procedure 

If you suspect an information security breach has occurred, you should report it 
immediately to the Council's Data Protection Officer (the DPO) as the Council is under a 
duty to report serious incidents within 72 hours of becoming aware of them.

Breaches should be reported to dpo@southkesteven.gov.uk Telephone Number: 01476 
406080

The DPO will conduct an initial investigation and risk assessment to ascertain the 
nature and seriousness of the incident.  It is imperative that this assessment is done 
without delay.

If a breach meets the notification requirements, the DPO shall inform the Chief 
Executive of this fact. They will also inform the Information Commissioner as soon as 
possible and no later than 72 hours from the time the Council became aware of the 
breach. See Page 4 for guidance on this.

70

mailto:dpo@southkesteven.gov.uk


2

The DPO does not need to have full details of the breach available prior to making a 
notification to the Information Commissioners Officer (ICO).  If the DPO believes, on 
initial assessment, that there is a likelihood that the breach will meet the notification 
requirements then the DPO should make the initial notification within 72 hours and 
update the ICO as and when further information becomes available.

The DPO will maintain a record of incidents, including a risk assessment, the outcomes 
and resulting recommendations made.

Breach Management Team 

The Council's DPO will, if they consider it necessary, chair a breach management team 
to assist in responding to a breach.  The exact makeup of this team will depend on the 
nature and the seriousness of the breach and what skills and resources are required to 
respond.

The core team should comprise representatives from IT Services, Legal Services, Risk 
& Audit, Human Resources and Communications as well as representatives from the 
effected service area(s).  The makeup of the team will depend on the exact nature of 
the breach.

Guidance 

What is a personal data breach?

Breaches can be categorised according to the following three well-known information 
security principles: 

 Confidentiality breach - where there is an unauthorised or accidental disclosure 
of, or access to, personal data. 

 Availability breach - where there is an accidental or unauthorised loss of access 
to, or destruction of, personal data. 

 Integrity breach - where there is an unauthorised or accidental alteration of 
personal data. 

A breach may involve a combination of these elements.

Assessing Risk and High Risk

Although the GDPR introduces the obligation to notify a breach, it is not a requirement 
to do so in all circumstances: 

 Notification to the ICO is only triggered where a breach is likely to result in a ‘risk 
to the rights and freedoms of individuals’.

71



3

 Communication of a breach to the individual is only triggered where it is likely to 
result in a ‘high risk to their rights and freedoms’. 

A breach can potentially have a range of significant adverse effects on individuals, 
which can result in physical, material, or non-material damage. This includes loss of 
control over their personal data, limitation of their rights, discrimination, identity theft or 
fraud, financial loss, unauthorised reversal of pseudonymisation, damage to reputation, 
and loss of confidentiality of personal data protected by professional secrecy. It can also 
include other significant economic or social disadvantage to those individuals.

A breach will be considered to pose a high risk to the rights and freedoms of individuals 
where the breach may lead to physical, material or non-material damage for the 
individuals whose data have been breached. Examples of such damage are 
discrimination, identity theft or fraud, financial loss and damage to reputation.

When the breach involves sensitive, or special category, personal data that reveals 
racial or ethnic origin, political opinions, religious beliefs or philosophical beliefs, or trade 
union membership, or includes genetic data and biometric data for the purpose of 
identifying a natural person, data concerning health or data concerning sex life or sexual 
orientation, or criminal convictions and offences or related security measures, it should 
be assumed that there will be a high risk to the rights and freedoms of individuals. 

Factors to take into account

 Nature of the breach
 Nature, sensitivity and volume of the data
 Ease of identification
 Severity of consequences for data subject(s) - for instance identity theft or fraud, 

physical harm, psychological distress, humiliation or damage to reputation. If the 
breach concerns personal data about vulnerable individuals, they could be 
placed at greater risk of harm

 If there has been a loss of confidentiality is the 3rd party "trusted"? - The fact that 
the recipient is trusted may eradicate the severity of the consequences of the 
breach but does not mean that a breach has not occurred. However, this in turn 
may remove the likelihood of risk to individuals, thus no longer requiring 
notification to the ICO, or to the affected individuals.

 Special characteristics of the individual (children, vulnerable adults etc.) 
 The number of affected individuals 

72



4

Notification of a personal data breach 

1. Notifying the ICO

The GDPR and Data Protection Act 2018 makes it mandatory for serious data breaches 
to be reported to the ICO.

Where a breach is likely to result in a risk to the rights and freedoms of natural persons, 
a notification to the ICO should be made within 72 hours of the Council (not the DPO) 
becoming aware of the breach.

Where a notification to the ICO is not made within 72 hours, it shall be accompanied by 
written reasons for the delay. 

The notification needs to:

(a) Describe the nature of the personal data breach including where possible, the 
categories and approximate number of data subjects concerned and the 
categories and approximate number of personal data records concerned; 

(b) Communicate the name and contact details of the DPO or other contact point 
where more information can be obtained; 

(c) Describe the likely consequences of the personal data breach; 

(d) Describe the measures taken or proposed to be taken by the Council to 
address the personal data breach, including, where appropriate, measures to 
mitigate its possible adverse effects.

If it is not possible to provide all the above information at the same time, it may be 
provided in phases without undue further delay.

The Council is required to record the following information in relation to a personal data 
breach: 

(a) The facts relating to the breach, 

(b) Its effects, 

(c) The remedial action taken.

It must be recorded in such a way as to enable the ICO to verify compliance.

73



5

2. Notifying data subjects affected by the breach 

The Council is also required to communicate a breach to the affected individuals where 
the breach is likely to result in a high risk to the rights and freedoms of natural persons. 

This a higher risk level than notification to the ICO.

Where a breach poses a high risk, the Council should communicate the personal data 
breach to the data subject without undue delay.

The communication shall describe in clear and plain language:

(a)  A description of the nature of the breach; 

(b)  The name and contact details of the DPO or other contact point where more     
information can be obtained; 

(c)  The likely consequences of the personal data breach; 

(d)  The measures taken, or proposed to be taken, by the Council to address the 
personal data breach, including, where appropriate, measures to mitigate its 
possible adverse effects. 

Circumstances where notification of the data subject is not required: 

(a)  When the data is protected, measures that render personal data unintelligible   
or inaccessible to any person who is not authorised to access it. 

(b) Immediately following a breach, the Council has taken steps to ensure that 
the high risk posed to individuals’ rights and freedoms is no longer likely to 
materialise.

(c) It would involve disproportionate effort to contact individuals, perhaps where 
their contact details have been lost as a result of the breach or are not known 
in the first place.  Instead, the Council must make a public communication or 
take a similar measure, whereby the individuals are informed in an equally 
effective manner.

The Council may restrict, wholly or partly, the provision of information to the data 
subject by way of notification to: 

(a) Avoid obstructing an official or legal inquiry, investigation or procedure; 

(b) Avoid prejudicing the prevention, detection, investigation or prosecution of 
criminal offences or the execution of criminal penalties; 

74



6

(c) Protect public security; 

(d) Protect national security; 

(e) Protect the rights and freedoms of others.

Appendix 1 – Breach Reporting Form 
Reporting Officer
Team
Service Area and 
name of Business 
Manager 

Date of Breach
Date Breach 
discovered 
Date Reported to 
the ICO 
Please provide a 
brief explanation 
for any delay 
between the 
breach being 
discovered and 
the ICO being 
notified 

Does the breach 
involve sensitive / 
special category 
personal data?

YES NO Unknown at time of 
reporting

Does the breach 
involve card data? YES NO Unknown at time of 

reporting
A description of 
the breach – what 
caused it, what 
data was affected, 
what was / could 
be the impact of 
the breach? 

75



7

To be completed by the Data Protection Officer 
Risk Assessment? HIGH MEDIUM LOW

Reported to the ICO?
 

YES NO

Date reported to the ICO 

If ICO not notified, record 
the reason why 

Data subjects informed?
 

YES NO

Date data subjects 
informed

If data subjects not 
informed, record the 
reason why

Describe the steps taken 
to remedy the breach / 
recover the data or to 
mitigate the risk and 
impact of the breach 

76



8

Post breach analysis, 
follow up actions and 
lessons learnt 

A copy of this form will be retained by the Data Protection Officer. 

77



9

Card Data Security Incident Response Plan 

Scope 

This plan applies to all staff and contractors working for the Council. 

Purpose 

To address cardholder data security, the major card brands (Visa, MasterCard, etc.) 
jointly established the PCI Security Standards Council to administer the Payment Card 
Industry Data Security Standards (PCI DSS) that provide specific guidelines for 
safeguarding cardholder information. One of these guidelines requires that merchants 
document an incident response plan.

Any compromise of cardholder data can result in large fines for the Council and 
reputational damage. All staff have a responsibility to protect cardholder data.

This procedure should be used to report all incidents, whether actual or suspected. This 
covers information held and shared in different formats (paper, electronic or verbal).

The procedure underpins the Council’s Information Governance Policy and Data 
Protection Policy, which have been developed to protect the information handled by 
South Kesteven District Council.  

A data compromise, or breach, occurs when a person accesses the Council’s 
customer’s information with the intent to commit fraud.  The information most valuable 
to criminals include the customer’s card number, expiry date, name, address and the 
security details such as CVC / CVV code and the track data.  A cardholder data 
compromise is any situation where theft or suspected theft of cardholder data has 
occurred.

Criminals may access cardholder data in a number of ways including:

 Theft from premises of terminals and terminal receipts,
 A dishonest member of staff accessing and passing on cardholder data to 

criminals,
 A criminal tampering with a card terminal and skimming data,
 Through the Council’s third party payment providers.

Procedure 

If you suspect an information security breach has occurred, you should report it 
immediately to your line manager and / or your Business Manager.

If a card terminal has (or is suspected to have been) tampered with, unplug the device 
and Contact the IT service desk.  They will collect the terminal.  IT Services can provide 

78



10

spare CAPITA terminals and the Control Accounting Team can arrange for a 
replacement Global Pay terminal (contact details below).

Business Managers must report the incident to:

 The Council’s SIRO (Senior Information Risk Officer)
 The Control Accounting Team 

The Control Accounting Team will immediately inform the Relationship Manager for the 
Council’s Merchant Services Provider and ensure the payment brands are advised 
within the necessary timescales.  If a card terminal has been stolen or compromised, 
the Control Accounting team will follow the UK Cards Association procedures.

The Control Accounting Team will inform the Council’s:

 Data Protection Officer, dpo@southkesteven.gov.uk, who will liaise with the IT 
team, and instigate any necessary remedial action.  

The Council’s Data Protection Officer will maintain a record of incidents, the outcomes 
and any recommendations made.

In Addition

To minimise further data loss, and preserve evidence to facilitate the investigation 
process, the Council will not:

 Access, alter or delete files in the compromised system(s)
 Attempt to change passwords on the compromised system(s). 
 Log in as administrators - indeed logon at all.
 Turn (back) on the compromised system(s).

Any logs generated are kept for at least six months in keeping with HMG GPG13.

While no system is 100% secure, South Kesteven District Council: 

 Carry out active scans for credit and debit card data on any data stored and 
transmitted via email, and prevent this from onwards transmission.

 Have controls on USB’s being added to computers which makes the movement 
of skimming of data more difficult from Council computer systems. 

 Only employ 3rd party payment providers who are PCIDSS compliant and listed 
on the Visa Europe Member or Merchant Agent Web listing.

 Ensure staff are trained in awareness in relation to card terminal tampering.
 Have specific technical controls in place within the Contact Centre as well as 

governance and training in relation to processing card payments.

79

mailto:dpo@southkesteven.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1

          

South Kesteven District 
Council

Protocol for protecting 
personal information 

June 2018 

APPENDIX 6

81



2

The Council has a duty to protect the information held about members of the 
public. 

Breaches of the Data Protection Act 2018 (DPA) and the General Data Protection 
Regulation (GDPR) can result in enforcement action being taken against the 
Council by the Information Commissioner's Office (ICO), and a fine of up to 20 
million Euros being imposed. This in turn can lead to disciplinary action being 
taken against individual members of staff responsible for the data breach.

For protecting personal and special category (sensitive) data:

1.  Always keep personal information safe and secure
2.  Check who you are sharing information with
3.  Use email carefully and responsibly
4.  Do not store personal data on laptops and mobile devices
5.  Keep data secure when working away from the office
6.  Take extra care when taking information out of the office
7.  Always report information security breaches

1.  Always keep personal information safe and secure

○ Always ensure that records containing personal and special category 
(sensitive) data are stored securely to prevent unauthorised access.  If 
you have paper records you must store these in a locked cabinet or 
drawer. You can see the definition of personal and special category 
(sensitive) data in the Council’s Data Protection Policy (insert link)

○ Do not use the hard drive (the C: drive) on your desktop computer or 
laptop for saving and storing personal data. This is not secure and back-
up copies of records are not made by IT networks.

○    Never share any of your IT system passwords with anyone else.
Passwords should not be written down.  Passwords should be a minimum 
of 8 characters in length, and use a mix of letters, numbers and other 
characters. Do not use the same password for different systems.

○ Ensure that your desk and computer cannot be overlooked by members of 
the public. Where you are processing special category (sensitive) 
personal information you should also consider whether care should be 
taken to prevent other members of staff from seeing the work.

 ○ Be security aware when entering or leaving the office. Do not let 
unauthorised persons into the building.  If someone asks to be let into the 
office or tries to follow you through the secure doors, politely ask to see 
their ID.

○ When records no longer need to be kept (in line with the Council’s  
Retention Schedule (insert link) all personal information held in hard copy 

82



3

should be disposed of appropriately using the confidential waste bins 
provided.

○ When using the printer, photocopier or scanner please check that all 
documents are collected when you have finished.  Check that the 
documents you pick up are the correct ones.

○ Before sending a letter always check that the address is correct and that it 
is addressed to the correct recipient.  Double-check any documents that 
are being enclosed to make sure they are the correct ones.

○ You should avoid sending sensitive records by fax unless there is no other 
secure alternative. Before sending a fax check with the recipient that the 
fax number is correct and make the recipient aware that the fax is being 
sent. Always take care to ensure that the correct number is inputted into 
the fax machine. You may wish to ask a colleague to assist you.

○ You must only use authorised Council USB memory sticks. The use of any 
other device with Council equipment risks damaging systems. Contact 
your Business Support team or the IT Service Desk for assistance with 
this.

2.  Check who you are sharing information with

o If you are sharing personal and/or special category (sensitive) data, you 
must make sure that the person you are sharing the data with has a need 
and right to have access to the data. The disclosure of data must be 
authorised by the owner of that information (asset) and lawful.

○ Be careful about sharing information via the telephone. Take simple steps 
to verify the caller's identity to establish their identity.

○ Requests for disclosure by law enforcement agencies should be made in 
writing.

○ Members of staff must only access personal information and systems 
where it is necessary for their role.  Remember - it is a disciplinary offence 
to use or access the Council's records for your own purposes.

○ Do not discuss or share Council-owned personal data via social media.  
Only authorised members of staff should use social media for Council 
purposes. 

83



4

3.  Use email carefully and responsibly

○ All email for Council business must be sent using the Council’s email 
systems.  Personal email accounts must not be used for council business.

○  When sending an email, care must always be taken to ensure that it has
been addressed to the appropriate person and that the correct email 
address has been used.

○ When sending bulk email it is important to use the ‘blind carbon copy’ 
function (Bcc) to prevent the inadvertent disclosure of email addresses.

○ When sending emails involving special category (sensitive) content, use 
simple anonymisation techniques to mitigate the risks of unauthorised or 
accidental disclosure.  For instance, use reference numbers and initials 
rather than names.  The intended recipient will know who the information 
relates to but an unintended recipient will not be able to identify the subject 
of the email.

○ Be aware of the risks posed by spam email containing viruses and 
malware. Whilst the Council has good anti-virus software in place, 
members of staff should be alert to any email that seems odd or unusual, 
for instance it looks out of place, is poorly spelt, contains an offer that is too 
good to be true etc.  If you receive a suspect email do not click on any link 
or open an attachment it may contain but report it to IT immediately.

4.  Do not store personal data on laptops or mobile devices

○  Personal data should only be stored on the Council’s secure network.

○ Due care and attention should be used when working on laptops or other 
devices when away from your normal place of work.  Make sure you 
cannot be overlooked and never leave your equipment unattended or lend 
it to a third party.

○ Only use Council issued or Council approved laptops or mobile devices. 
Elected Members are permitted to use one piece of their own IT 
equipment. This is purely for the purposes of accessing Council e-mail and 
must be used in accordance with the Acceptable Use of IT Policy
http://intranet/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=16916&p=0  

5.  Keep data secure when working away from the office

○ Files, paperwork and mobile computing devices must be stored in a secure  
location when not in use.  Store any manual records separately from your 
IT equipment.

84

http://intranet/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=16916&p=0


5

○ Council data should not be stored at home long term.  If you are to be out 
of the office for a significant period of time, you should ensure that all 
Council owned personal data is returned to the office.

○ If you are leaving the Council’s employment you must return all Council 
owned data and equipment to the Council in good time.

○ A record of any files or records taken out of the office should be kept in 
case they are damaged/destroyed, lost or stolen.  Where possible you 
should avoid taking original files or records out of the office.

○ The Council recognises that there are circumstances when personal 
information will need to be taken out of the office.

○ Only transport the minimum of personal information required.  Ensure that 
you don’t leave files, equipment or bags containing Council equipment or 
Council personal data unattended at any time or on view in a locked 
vehicle.

○ When travelling on public transport, extra care should be taken to ensure 
that bags containing personal information are not lost or stolen.

○ You must ensure that any electronic media has been appropriately 
encrypted.  Only Council owned electronic transportable media should be 
used.

○ The password (encryption key), which provides access to information being 
sent by any electronic media or email, must be sent to the recipient by a 
different method to that by which the data has been sent.

○ It is good practice to keep a record of any large-scale data transfers. The 
record should show what data was sent, how it was sent, and what security 
measures were taken. All large-scale transfers of personal data must be 
authorised by the Assistant Director of the information asset owner’s area.  
If in doubt, seek legal advice from the Council’s Data Protection Officer.

○ Where possible you should avoid working on or discussing work involving 
personal or sensitive matters in a public environment.  If this is not 
possible, care should always be taken to ensure that you are not 
overlooked or overheard.

6. Always report information security breaches

○ All staff have a responsibility to report a suspected or actual breach of 
confidentiality or loss of data.  Early notification of an incident can ensure 
that any mitigating or recovery actions can take place as soon as possible.  
It is better to report a suspected incident even if you are unsure if one has 
occurred, than not to do so.

85



6

○ If you suspect an information security breach has occurred, you should 
report it immediately to your line manager and your Business Manager.

○ Business Managers must report the incident to the Councils Data 
Protection Officer. 

○ Breaches will be dealt with in line with the Council’s Procedure for 
Reporting Information Security Breaches, Data Protection Breaches and 
Card Security Incidents (insert link).

○ There is a statutory duty on the Council to notify the Information 
Commissioner's Office of the above within 72 hours. Failure to do so can 
result in a fine of up to 10 million Euros being imposed on the Council.

86



1

          

South Kesteven District 
Council

Information Governance 
Guidance

May 2018 

APPENDIX 7

87



2

Contents

1. Scope

2. Purpose

3. Guidance

4. Legislation and Standards

5. Roles and Responsibilities

6. Training and Guidance

7.  Incident Management

88



3

1.       Scope

1.1 This guidance applies to:

 All employees of the Council;
 Members of the Council;
 Suppliers and Contractors of the Council;
 Temporary and agency staff engaged by the Council;
 Volunteers at the Council;
 Others using the Council’s information or systems.

1.2 The guidance covers all aspects of information within the Council, including (but 
not limited to):

 Personal and special category (sensitive) information (e.g. records about 
residents and staff);

 Other corporate information (e.g. financial or accounting records)

1.3 The guidance covers all information whether held in notes or structured records 
systems (paper and electronic) and the transmission of information (e.g. fax, e-
mail, post and telephone etc.) 

2.       Purpose

2.1 'Information Governance' describes the framework by which organisations such 
as the Council handle information; it applies to special category (sensitive) and 
personal information of staff and also to information related to the business of 
the Council.

2.2 Effective Information Governance enables the Council to safeguard personal 
information and to make the best use of the information that it holds.

2.3 All staff have a responsibility at work to look after personal data properly and 
appropriately. Residents have a right to know that information about them is 
kept secure.

2.4 Breaches of the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) and the Data 
Protection Act 2018 (DPA), through loss or mishandling of personal data, can 
result in large fines for the Council and disciplinary action against individual 
members of staff which may lead to dismissal.

2.5 Information is also a valuable asset that helps to ensure that the Council   
provides the best possible services to residents.

89



4

2.6 Information plays a key part in effective governance, service planning, financial 
management and performance management.  It is therefore important that 
information is well-managed and used effectively to deliver and improve 
services.

2.7 The Council will actively protect all paper and electronic data and information in 
ways that are appropriate and cost effective. The Council will thereby fulfil its 
statutory responsibilities, protect the interests of residents, partners, suppliers 
and businesses, and maintain the quality, effectiveness and continuity of 
services to South Kesteven residents.

2.8 This guidance provides an overview of the Council’s approach to Information 
Governance; a guide to the policies and procedures in use; and the roles and 
responsibilities for managing information to ensure compliance with legal 
requirements.

3.       Protocol

3.1 The Council will implement information governance effectively to ensure the 
following:

3.1.1 Keeping information safe and secure

·    Information will be protected against unauthorised access
·    Confidentiality of information will be assured
·    Integrity of information will be maintained

3.1.2 Recording accurately and only record what is required
·    

  Information will be supported by the highest quality data
·    Only information that is required will be recorded

3.1.3 Retaining and destroying records
·

Information will only be retained for as long as is required.  Information will be 
destroyed securely as appropriate

3.1.4 Accessible Information
·    

Information will be accessible to those who have a right of access

3.2 The following information security principles guide this Protocol:

3.2.1 Confidentiality - Appropriate measures must be taken to ensure that 
information held by the Council is only accessible to those authorised to have 
access.

90



5

3.2.2   Integrity – The accuracy and completeness of information must be 
maintained and all changes or modifications affecting that information must be 
authorised, controlled and validated.

3.2.3   Quality - The Council must ensure that the information it holds is fit for its   
intended purpose.

3.2.4   Availability – Information must be available to authorised individuals when 
required.  In the event of a disaster or malicious attack, the Council’s 
information and systems critical to the operation of key services and ongoing 
activities must be recoverable.

3.2.5   Authentication – Any person or system seeking access to Council 
information or networks must first establish their identity to the satisfaction of 
the Council.

3.2.6   Access control – Access to view or modify information or systems must be 
restricted to those whose job functions specifically require such access.

3.2.7   Auditing – User access and activity on each of the Council’s computers, 
firewalls and networks must be recorded and maintained in compliance with 
security, retention and all legislative and regulatory requirements.

3.3 The Council will monitor this guidance document, and will update it as 
necessary.

4.       Legislation and Standards

4.1 The following legislation and standards are an integral part of the regulatory 
environment within which the Council must operate:

 The GDPR;
 Data Protection Act 2018;
 Freedom of Information Act 2000
 Human Rights Act 1998
 Environmental Information Regulations 2004
 Local Government Act 1972
 Computer Misuse Act 1990
 Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard

5.      Roles and responsibilities

  5.1 The following roles and responsibilities underpin effective Information Governance 
within the Council.

91



6

5.2 Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO)

This role provides senior leadership for information governance in the organisation. 
The role:

 Ensures effective governance arrangements are in place for improving the 
management of information in the Council;

 Oversees the development of policies, procedures and guidance;

 Identifies organisation-wide information management risks and ensures 
appropriate action to mitigate risks are agreed and implemented;

 Ensures effective training and staff development is in place;

 Oversees any communications needed about information governance;

 Provides an annual report and updates as required to CMT about the delivery 
and success of the information governance action plan.

5.3 Assistant Directors / Directors 

5.3.1 Are accountable for the implementation of Information Governance, policies, 
procedures and guidelines in their service area.

5.3.2     Take ownership of the information in their service area.

5.3.3     Are accountable for identifying and managing effectively the information 
necessary for service delivery.

5.4 Business Managers 

5.4.1 Ensure that staff in their team(s) are aware of policies, procedures and 
guidance for Information Governance.

5.4.2 Ensure that the practice of managing information in their service area 
complies with policies, procedures and guidance.

5.4.3 Must report breaches in data protection to the Council’s Data Protection 
Officer.

5.4.4 Identify risks in managing information in their service area and ensure these 
are mitigated and/or escalated as required

5.4.5     Ensure that members of staff attend relevant and appropriate training.

92



7

5.5  Data Protection Officer

5.5.1 To inform and advise the Council and its staff who carry out processing 
of their obligations pursuant to the GDPR.

5.5.2 To monitor compliance with the GDPR and the DPA and with the Data 
Protection Policy and other Data Protection Policies and Procedures.

5.5.3 To act as the contact point for the Information Commissioner's Office on 
all matters relating to data protection and to fully cooperate with this 
body.

5.6 All Staff (whether permanent or temporary) and others using Council        
systems or information

5.6.1 Have a responsibility to ensure that they are familiar with the contents 
of this Policy and to ensure information is managed in line with 
Information Governance policies, procedures and guidelines;

5.6.2 Must report breaches of data protection to their Manager;

5.6.3 Are to undertake training and support as required.

6.      Training and Guidance

All Information Governance related guidance and procedures are published on the 
Council’s intranet, Monty, and available to all staff. Staff are made aware of these 
procedures through well-established management and communication channels – 
such as check ins and PDRs, team meetings, training, staff communication 
channels and communications campaigns.  All employees are required to 
complete the mandatory e-learning module on GDPR.

7. Incident Management:

7.1    Clear guidance on incident management procedures should be 
documented and staff should be made aware of their existence, where 
to find them and how to implement them.

7.2 See Procedure for Reporting Information Security Breaches, Data 
Protection Breaches and Card Data Security Incidents (insert link) for 
further information.

93



This page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet

Report of: Councillor Helen Goral
Cabinet Member for Growth and Communications

Report to:

Date:

Subject:

Cabinet

6th September 2018

DM 13 – Rectory Farm – Planning Brief

Decision
Proposal:

Key decision to approve the Rectory Farm Planning Brief for public 
consultation.

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Member:

Councillor Helen Goral, Cabinet Member for Growth and 
Communications

Report author:

Reviewed by:

Signed off by:

Approved for 
publication

Kevin Cartwright, Principal Planning Officer
k.cartwright@southkesteven.gov.uk
01476 406390
Date: 16th August 2018

Sylvia Bland, Head of Development
s.bland@southkesteven.gov.uk
01476 406388

Paul Thomas, Strategic Director for Growth 
p.thomas@southkesteven.gov.uk
01476 406162
Date: 16th August 2018

Councillor Helen Goral, Cabinet Member for Growth and 
Communications
Date: 19th August 2018

SUMMARY

Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD’s) provide guidance to supplement the 
policies and proposals in development plan documents. The objective of the Rectory 
Farm SPD is to add detail to the policies of the emerging Local Plan, particularly Policy 

95

Agenda Item 6

mailto:k.cartwright@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:s.bland@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:p.thomas@southkesteven.gov.uk


GR4 (Grantham Allocations). 

This will aid the delivery of high quality residential development in an important site on 
one of the main approaches to Grantham, by highlighting the key principles that the 
District Council will apply when considering development proposals thereby helping 
applicants to make successful applications.

An SPD does not form part of the Development Plan but may be taken into account as 
a material consideration in the determination of planning applications. Before an SPD 
can be adopted there is a requirement to undertake a formal period of consultation.

The Council will consider all the representations made during the consultation period, 
and then decide whether to adopt the document unchanged or with revisions to address 
issues raised in the representations.     

This report seeks authorisation to undertake public consultation to allow the Rectory 
Farm Planning Brief to be progressed towards adoption as a Supplementary Planning 
Document.

RECOMMENDATION

That the Cabinet approves the draft Rectory Farm Planning Brief for the purposes of 
public consultation.

1. BACKGROUND TO REPORT

1.1. The draft SPD is attached at Appendix 1 with the associated masterplans at 
appendix 2. It includes sections about the objectives of the document, relevant 
planning policy, description of the site, key constraints, and development 
principles, design principles and delivery.

1.2. The main part of the document, when read in conjunction with the masterplan 
maps, describes in detail the location and characteristics of the site, which 
permits an assessment of its key constraints and opportunities. The document 
then moves onto the development principles for the site and the key land uses 
envisaged.

1.3. This is then followed by detailed design considerations that site developers 
should incorporate into their own plans, as well as the indicative land use 
budget for the allocated land.

1.4. The final chapter sets out how the site might be developed, and the potential 
implications of different delivery, implementation or development options.

1.5. It is likely as with most strategic sites, that Rectory Farm will be developed in a 
phased manner. This reflects the fact that developers are free to submit 
planning applications on just part, rather than all, of the land they control. Once 
submitted, the Council is required to determine all planning applications 
without undue delay and to the relevant target timescales. This is a 
requirement of the National Planning Policy Framework.  

96



1.6. Whilst the Council cannot insist on a single application for the entire site this 
planning brief is the mechanism by which we can ensure that development of 
part(s) of the site does not prejudice the delivery of the remainder of the site 
and it is developed in a cohesive and comprehensive manner. The presence of 
a planning brief can also help to encourage a less piecemeal approach to the 
submission of planning applications.

1.7. The number of individual planning applications, the timetable for their 
submission and the timetable for housing completion is determined by the site 
landowners and developers and is largely outside the control of the District 
Council. In this instance the land at Rectory Farm is in multiple ownerships.

1.8. The preparation of this Planning Brief, ongoing dialogue with developers and 
landowners, and its formal adoption as a SPD demonstrates that the Council is 
taking a proactive role and encouraging a strategic approach to the 
development of the site, having particular regard to the adjacent Poplar Farm 
site to its immediate east, which forms Phase One of the North West Quadrant 
(NWQ) development with Rectory Farm being Phase Two.

1.9. The drafting of the SPD has been supported by AECOM. They have particular 
experience in Planning Brief/SPD preparation and have worked with SKDC on 
a number of projects including preparing planning guidance and landscape 
sensitivity and capacity studies including the recent Grantham Capacity and 
Limits to Growth Study (2015). 

1.10. Whilst prepared by AECOM, it should be made clear, however, that the draft 
SPD is the Council’s document and has been subject to extensive comment by 
officers during the preparation of the draft document.  

Next Steps

1.11. The format of public consultation that should be undertaken for SPDs is stated 
in the Council’s adopted Statement of Community Involvement. This is set out 
in Appendix 4 and would include both Barrowby and Gonerby Parish Council 
as the site lies partially within both parishes.

1.12. Subject to the number and nature of any representations received, it is 
anticipated that the representations, together with responses to them, and any 
changes to the Planning Brief will be reported to Cabinet in November at which 
time Cabinet will be requested to adopt the Planning Brief. 

1.13. The document will become an SPD once the Local Plan is adopted. Until then 
it would still be a material consideration in the determination of relevant 
planning applications.

2. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1. To not proceed with the preparation of the SPD. An alternative would be to 
rely on developers to submit a planning application and hopefully engage in 
pre-application discussions. The preparation of the SPD is a more positive and 
proactive approach in that it provides guidance to developers, SKDC officers 
and the general public on the key issues and impacts to consider when 
assessing and submitting a planning application for phase 2 of the NWQ.  

97



3. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

3.1. The costs associated with the public consultation are circa £300, and will 
include the publication of statutory notices and printing of the documents, 
although this will be kept to a minimum through the provision of electronic as 
opposed to hard copy versions of documents.

 

4. RISK AND MITIGATION 

No significant risks have been identified.

5. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS (EQUALITY, 
SAFEGUARDING etc.)

5.1. An Initial Analysis of Equality Impact has been completed and has not 
identified any potential for discrimination.

6. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

6.1. None arising from this report.

7. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

7.1. The costs that will be incurred as a result of the consultation will be met from 
existing budgetary resources.

8. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

8.1. The purpose of the report to Cabinet is to consider the draft Rectory Farm 
Planning Brief SPD for consultation purposes. It is proposed, following 
consultation, the results of the consultation be reported to Cabinet. Cabinet will 
be asked to consider and approve the SPD taking into account relevant 
representations made as a result of the consultation.

9. COMMENTS OF OTHER RELEVANT SERVICES 

9.1. None

10. APPENDICES

Appendix 1 – Draft Rectory Farm Planning Brief SPD  
Appendix 2 – Masterplan maps
Appendix 3 – Equality Impact Initial Analysis
Appendix 4 – Relevant extract from SCI

98



11. BACKGROUND PAPERS

Adopted Statement of Community Involvement - 
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=14102&p=0

99

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=14102&p=0


This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Brief

Rectory Farm (Phase 2 North West Quadrant)

South Kesteven District Council

August 2018

Final draft

November 2017 
101

Appendix 1



South Kesteven District Council
Planning Brief- Rectory Farm (Phase 2 North West Quadrant)– August 2018

2

Prepared by Checked by Approved by

Jesse Honey
Associate Planner

Ben Castell
Technical Director

Ben Castell
Technical Director

102



South Kesteven District Council
Planning Brief- Rectory Farm (Phase 2 North West Quadrant)– August 2018

3

Prepared for:
South Kesteven District Council
Council Offices
St Peter’s Hill
Grantham
Lincolnshire
NG31 6PZ

Prepared by:
AECOM Infrastructure & Environment UK Limited
Aldgate Tower, 
2 Leman Street, 
London 
E1 8FA

www.aecom.com

© 2018 AECOM Infrastructure & Environment UK Limited. All Rights Reserved.  

This document has been prepared by AECOM Infrastructure & Environment UK Limited (“AECOM”) for sole use 
of our client South Kesteven District Council (the “Client”) in accordance with generally accepted consultancy 
principles, the budget for fees and the terms of reference agreed between AECOM and the Client. Any 
information provided by third parties and referred to herein has not been checked or verified by AECOM, unless 
otherwise expressly stated in the document. No third party may rely upon this document without the prior and 
express written agreement of AECOM.

103



South Kesteven District Council
Planning Brief- Rectory Farm (Phase 2 North West Quadrant)– August 2018

4

THIS DOCUMENT HAS BEEN FORMATTED FOR DOUBLE SIDED PRINTING

104



105



6

Table of Contents

1 Introduction ................................................................................................8

1.1 About this document .............................................................................8

1.2 Structure of document...........................................................................8

2 Objectives and process............................................................................10

2.1 Objectives of Planning Brief ................................................................10

2.2 History of Site......................................................................................11

2.3 Consultation process...........................................................................12

3 Planning Policy and Obligations ..............................................................14

3.1 Introduction .........................................................................................14

3.2 National planning policy ......................................................................14

3.3 Local planning policy...........................................................................14

3.4 Other planning guidance.....................................................................15

3.5 Planning obligations............................................................................16

3.6 Future management............................................................................16

4 Site Description........................................................................................16

4.1 Introduction .........................................................................................16

4.2 The allocated land...............................................................................17

4.3 Poplar Farm (NWQ Phase 1) ..............................................................17

4.4 Land ownership...................................................................................20

4.5 Baseline infrastructure provision.........................................................21

4.6 Site opportunities and constraints .......................................................22

4.7 Climate change ...................................................................................22

4.8 Landscape...........................................................................................23

4.9 Nature conservation ............................................................................24

4.10 Archaeology and heritage ................................................................24

4.11 Built environment .............................................................................26

4.12 Geo-environmental considerations ..................................................28

5 Development principles............................................................................29

5.1 Key land uses......................................................................................29

106



7

5.2 Housing...............................................................................................29

5.3 Supporting infrastructure.....................................................................29

5.4 Delivery and phasing of development .................................................38

6 Design Principles .....................................................................................39

6.1 Overarching design principles.............................................................39

6.2 Quality .................................................................................................39

6.3 Connectivity.........................................................................................39

6.4 Form, massing and layout...................................................................40

6.5 Character areas ..................................................................................40

6.6 Density ................................................................................................42

6.7 Landscaping........................................................................................42

7 Delivery and Implementation ...................................................................44

Appendix 1: Relevant South Kesteven Planning Policies ...............................45

Core Strategy Development Plan Document (adopted 2010) .....................45

Site Allocation and Policies Development Plan Document (adopted 2014) 45

Consultative Draft Local Plan (2017) (emerging as of this Planning Brief)..45

Appendix 2: Further reference documents......................................................47

Appendix 3: List of Service Providers .............................................................48

107



8

1 Introduction
1.1 About this document

1.1.1 Rectory Farm is a key allocation in the South Kesteven Local Plan, forming an urban 
extension to Grantham to meet South Kesteven’s housing requirements up to 2036. 
It forms Phase 2 of Grantham’s North West Quadrant (NWQ) development, the 
adjoining Poplar Farm site to its east forming Phase 1 of the NWQ. 

1.1.2 This Planning Brief has been prepared to add detail to relevant policies in the 
emerging South Kesteven New Local Plan 2011-2036. This Planning Brief will not 
only provide guidance for landowners and developers, but also through its 
preparation as a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) the local community and 
other stakeholders will have the opportunity to influence the future development of 
the area. A key element of the Planning Brief is the Masterplan Maps (Plans 1 to 12) 
which set out the location of the main land uses and supporting infrastructure within 
and adjacent to the site. 

1.2 Structure of document

1.2.1 The remainder of this document, comprising the text accompanying and to be read in 
conjunction with the twelve Masterplan Maps, is structured as follows:

 Chapter 2: Objectives and Process outlines the process leading to site 
allocation, the aims of this Planning Brief and provides detail on the 
associated consultation process;

 Chapter 3: Planning Policies and Obligations sets out the key relevant local 
and national planning policies and obligations relevant for the site;

 Chapter 4: Site Description describes in detail the location and characteristics 
of the site, which permits an assessment of its key constraints and 
opportunities;

 Chapter 5: Development Principles builds on the conclusions of previous 
chapters to set out development principles for the site and the key land uses 
envisaged;

 Chapter 6: Design Principles sets out the detailed design considerations that 
site developers should incorporate into any development plans, as well as the 
indicative land use budget for the allocated land;

 Chapter 7: Delivery and Implementation covers how the site might be 
developed, and the potential implications of different delivery, implementation 
or development options; and

108



9

 Appendices 1,2 and 3 set out respectively relevant South Kesteven planning 
policies, further reference documents, and a list of relevant service providers.

109



10

2 Objectives and process
2.1 Objectives of Planning Brief

2.1.1 This Planning Brief has the following objectives:

 To amplify and add detail to the policies of the emerging Local Plan1, 
particularly Policy GR4 (Grantham Allocations);

 To promote best practice in achieving sustainable development, in 
accordance with local and national planning policy;

 To identify any other planning issues not specified in the emerging Local Plan;

 To clarify the requirement for planning obligations; and

 To address the implications of potential development options, having 
particular regard to the site’s wider context as Phase 2 of the NWQ, 
immediately adjoining Phase 1 (Poplar Farm).

2.1.2 It is recognised that, in practice, most strategic sites are developed in a phased 
manner. This reflects the fact that developers are free to submit planning applications 
on just part, rather than all, of the land they control. Once submitted, the Council is 
required to determine all planning applications without undue delay and to the 
relevant target timescales. 

2.1.3 The number of individual planning applications, the timetable for their submission and 
the timetable for housing completion is determined by the site landowners and 
developers and is largely outside the control of the District Council. The land at 
Rectory Farm is in multiple ownerships.

2.1.4 However, through the preparation of this Planning Brief and ongoing dialogue with 
developers and landowners, the Council is taking a proactive role and encouraging a 
strategic approach to the development of the site, having particular regard to the 
phasing and development of the Poplar Farm site to its immediate east, which forms 
Phase One of the North West Quadrant development.

2.1.5 There are standard requirements for the submission of supporting information for all 
planning applications, including the requirement for Environmental Impact 
Assessment (EIA) scoping, and these are set out and clarified within this Planning 
Brief.

2.1.6 One of the key aims of this Planning Brief is to ensure that development of a small 
part of the housing allocation does not prejudice the delivery of the rest of the site.

1 Consultative Draft version of the emerging Local Plan available at 
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=21077 

110

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=21077


11

2.1.7 To help achieve this goal, the District Council will look to work closely with all 
interested parties including Lincolnshire County Council (LCC), Highways England, 
Parish Councils and other relevant statutory service providers in planning and 
delivering services to meet the needs of the new development.

2.1.8 The Masterplan Maps accompanying this Planning Brief are intended to guide the 
development of the Rectory Farm site by setting out the specific locations where 
different types of development are expected and showing clearly the relationship 
between them and the supporting infrastructure required. 

2.1.9 In this way, they build on and add clarity to the more indicative mapping for the site 
that appears within the Local Plan policies map. Planning applications on all or any 
part of the site will be expected to accord with these Masterplan Maps, which, 
together with the Planning Brief text, form a material consideration for the 
determination of planning applications on the site. 

2.2 History of Site

2.2.1 Land north of the A52 Barrowby Road and south of the Nottingham-Grantham 
railway line was first allocated for housing in the South Kesteven Local Plan 1995. 
The allocation was retained into the 2010 South Kesteven Core Strategy under the 
name of H2A North West Quadrant.

2.2.2 Land at Rectory Farm, which lies immediately west of Core Strategy allocation H2A, 
was first identified through the Grantham Capacity and Limits to Growth Study 
(AECOM, 2015)2, as part of a wider area of land considered for suitable for strategic 
scale housing development. The Capacity and Limits to Growth Study stated that 81 
hectares of land west of the then allocated Poplar Farm site and east of the A1 could 
be appropriate as Phase 2 of the NWQ.

2.2.3 Subsequently, the emerging Local Plan, which will eventually replace the 2010 Core 
Strategy, divided this 81 hectare parcel into two sites: H2 Rectory Farm, to the east 
(which is the subject of this Planning Brief) and H3 Land Adjacent to Rectory Farm, 
to the west.

2.2.4 In 2017, linked planning applications for housing development were submitted by two 
site landowners, Jelson Homes and Linden Homes. The boundary of the 2017 
planning applications overlaps some, but not all, of the H2 Rectory Farm allocation 
boundary.

2.2.5 The site, as well as the boundary of the neighbouring allocation H3, are illustrated for 
clarity in Masterplan Map 1.Note in Map 1 the 5.36 hectares of land in the north-west 
corner of the site that is considered by the emerging local plan (as informed by the 
Grantham Capacity and Limits to Growth Study) to be unsuitable for built 
development. It may, however, be used, subject to sensitive design, as a landscape 
buffer, which means it can contribute towards the open space requirement for the 

2 Available at http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=17031 

111

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=17031


12

built development proposed for allocation H2.

2.2.6 The emerging Local Plan considers that, at an indicative density of 30 dwellings per 
hectare and a discount of 60% to allow for developable area, site H2 has an 
indicative capacity of 1,150 dwellings and site H3 has an indicative capacity for 404 
dwellings, giving a total across both sites of 1,554 dwellings.

2.2.7 It is considered that the optimum capacity for allocation H2 is approximately 1,035 
dwellings.

2.2.8 Extensive modelling work carried out by technical specialists during preparation of 
the Local Plan tested the full range of infrastructure impacts associated with an 
allocation of this size. The modelling indicated that the infrastructure impacts would 
be acceptable subject to the required improvements being funded appropriately 
through contributions, in line with emerging Local Plan Policy ID1: Infrastructure for 
Growth.

2.2.9 The emerging Local Plan will now be subject to an Examination in Public, which will 
determine its final conclusions. It is important to note that until the Local Plan is 
adopted, Core Strategy 2010 Policy H2A remains the most relevant allocation policy 
within the immediate area.

2.3 Consultation process

2.3.1 The principle of developing the site is being established through consultation and the  
forthcoming Local Plan Examination in Public.

2.3.2 This formal consultation process has regard to national legislation requiring 
appropriate consultation and is being carried out in accordance with the District 
Council’s Statement of Community Involvement.

2.3.3 This Planning Brief has also been informed by informal consultation with relevant 
stakeholders within the Council and beyond, in accordance with the Council’s 
Statement of Consultation. This included dialogue with Great Gonerby and Barrowby 
Parish Councils, as the site lies partially within both parishes, as illustrated in 
Masterplan Map 2) as well as with the site’s landowners and developers, namely 
Linden Homes, Jelson Homes and the Jenkinson family.

2.3.4 A draft Planning Brief will also be made public for consultation over a six-week 
period. Following consideration of consultation responses, the text and plans will be 
amended where appropriate.

2.3.5 The Planning Brief will then be formally adopted as an SPD once the emerging Local 
Plan itself is adopted; however, it cannot legally be formally adopted ahead of the 
Local Plan to which it forms an SPD.

2.3.6 In the period between the end of the formal consultation period and the adoption of 
the emerging Local Plan, the Planning Brief will nevertheless form a material 

112



13

consideration to be taken into account by the District Council when determining 
planning applications relating to the site. 

2.3.7 The Council does not consider the formal adoption of the SPD to be a necessary pre-
condition for determining planning applications on the site. Indeed, in the context of 
meeting South Kesteven’s evidenced housing need, it welcomes early proposals to 
develop the site that have appropriate regard to the Planning Brief based on its 
status at the time of application.

2.3.8 The timetable for the preparation, consultation and adoption of the document is 
anticipated to be as follows:

 Consultation September 2018
 Consider comments and amend as necessary October  2018
 Adopt SPD alongside Local Plan 2019

113



14

3 Planning Policy and Obligations
3.1 Introduction

3.1.1 As stated previously, the key planning documents relevant to the development of the 
Rectory Farm site are the adopted Core Strategy (H2A North West Quadrant) and 
the emerging Local Plan (H2 Rectory Farm). This chapter provides more detail on 
local policy and also identifies other planning policy documents guiding development 
at the site alongside these allocation policies.

3.2 National planning policy

3.2.1 National planning policy guidance is provided by the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF)3 and the national Planning Practice Guidance (PPG)4. Proposals 
for the site will need to take account of these and other relevant national guidance, in 
particular, government guidance on climate change5, flooding6 and the achievement 
of zero carbon development.7

3.3 Local planning policy

Adopted Core Strategy

3.3.1 South Kesteven’s Core Strategy Development Plan Document (DPD)8 was adopted 
in July 2010 and addresses the period to 2026. It incorporates a detailed vision and 
spatial objectives for South Kesteven over this period, and this Planning Brief has 
been drafted to accord fully with that vision and spatial objectives.

Adopted Site Allocations and Policies DPD

3.3.2 The Core Strategy is accompanied by the Site Allocations and Policies DPD 
(adopted in April 2014)9; Although this DPD does not allocate land in and around 
Grantham, , it is nevertheless relevant for the purposes of this development brief as 
Policy SAP10 sets out open space standards for residential planning applications. 

Emerging Local Plan

3.3.3 The District Council is preparing a new Local Plan which will supersede the adopted 
Core Strategy and Site Allocations and Policies DPDs and will cover the period to 

3 Available at 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/72
8643/Revised_NPPF_2018.pdf
4 Available at https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance 
5 Available at https://www.gov.uk/government/topics/climate-change 
6 Available at https://www.gov.uk/government/policies/flooding-and-coastal-change 
7 Available at https://www.gov.uk/government/policies/energy-efficiency-in-buildings 
8 Available at http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=13828 
9 Available at http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=14107 

114

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/topics/climate-change
https://www.gov.uk/government/policies/flooding-and-coastal-change
https://www.gov.uk/government/policies/energy-efficiency-in-buildings
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=13828
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=14107


15

2036. The new Local Plan is informed by the previously-mentioned Grantham 
Capacity and Limits to Growth Study. 

3.3.4 It is the emerging Local Plan that includes the previously-mentioned Policy GR3-H2, 
which allocates the Rectory Farm site and adjacent land for an indicative 1,150 
dwellings.

3.3.5 Among the most relevant of the other emerging policies (in order of their appearance 
in the emerging Local Plan) are:

 SD2: The Principles of Sustainable Development in South Kesteven;

 H1: Housing Allocations

 H2: Affordable Housing Contributions

 H3: Self and Custom Build Housing

 H4: Meeting All Housing Needs

 EN6: The Historic Environment

 DE1: Promoting Good Quality Design

 SB1 Sustainable Building

 OS1 Open Space

 GR1: Protecting and Enhancing the Setting of Belton House and Park

 GR2 Sustainable Transport in Grantham

 ID1 Infrastructure for Growth

 ID2 Transport and Strategic Transport Infrastructure

 ID3 Broadband and Communications Infrastructure

3.3.6 Development proposals will also need to demonstrate compliance with other policies 
of the adopted and emerging Local Plans.

3.3.7 Any planning applications relating to the Rectory Farm site will be determined against 
the planning policy framework in place at that time.

3.4 Other planning guidance

115



16

3.4.1 Other local and national non-statutory guidance e.g. the Belton House and Park 
Setting Study (SKDC/National Trust)10, Manual for Streets 2007 (DfT)11, Manual for 
Streets 2 (CIHT)12 and Lincolnshire County Council’s Highways and Transportation 
Guidance Notes13, will assist developers in preparing proposals for development.

3.4.2 Sustainability objectives are shared by developers and regulatory agencies at all 
levels of government. All dwellings in the development will be required to meet the 
requirements of national policy on energy efficient buildings.14

3.5 Planning obligations

3.5.1 Developer contributions will be sought for the provision and funding of existing and 
new community infrastructure. In this context, community infrastructure may include 
open space, schools, community and cultural facilities, healthcare services, 
affordable housing, public transport, highways, waste disposal, fire and rescue, and 
police. 

3.5.2 Unless arrangements are made for the provision and maintenance of a service 
privately, the new development may impact on existing community infrastructure, and 
as such, adverse impacts will normally need to be offset by developer contributions in 
accordance with Section 106 contributions and the South Kesteven Planning 
Obligations Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) which was adopted by the 
Council in June 2012.15 At the time of writing, South Kesteven has no adopted CIL 
charging schedule.

3.5.3 A final assessment of a development’s impact on community infrastructure leading to 
Heads of Terms for a legal agreement can only be made at planning application 
stage when details of the proposed development and its timing are known. Most of 
the relevant planning obligations relate exclusively to housing development.

3.6 Future management

3.6.1 The future management of new and retained open space and other infrastructure is 
important in ensuring the long-term sustainability and legacy of the development. It is 
a requirement that plans are in place to the satisfaction of those bodies charged with 
future management of land or facilities. If any of the land to be managed requires 
work of a specialised nature, this will be reflected in the s106 negotiations.

10 Available at http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=3810
11 Available at https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/manual-for-streets 
12 Available at https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/manual-for-streets-2 
13 Available at https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/transport-and-roads/strategy-policy-and-
licences/control-of-new-development-affecting-the-highway/design-and-construction-
guidance/highways-and-transportation-guidance-notes/101318.article 
14 Available at https://www.gov.uk/government/policies/energy-efficiency-in-buildings 
15 Available at http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=13870 

116

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/manual-for-streets
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/manual-for-streets-2
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/transport-and-roads/strategy-policy-and-licences/control-of-new-development-affecting-the-highway/design-and-construction-guidance/highways-and-transportation-guidance-notes/101318.article
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/transport-and-roads/strategy-policy-and-licences/control-of-new-development-affecting-the-highway/design-and-construction-guidance/highways-and-transportation-guidance-notes/101318.article
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/transport-and-roads/strategy-policy-and-licences/control-of-new-development-affecting-the-highway/design-and-construction-guidance/highways-and-transportation-guidance-notes/101318.article
https://www.gov.uk/government/policies/energy-efficiency-in-buildings
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=13870


17

4 Site Description
4.1 Introduction

4.1.1 The boundaries of the site that forms the subject of this Planning Brief are shown in 
Masterplan Map 1.

4.1.2 Thesite consists of agricultural land subdivided by hedged field boundaries and three 
clusters of farm buildings; Rectory Farm, and Boundary Farm and Hurnsfield closer 
to the A52 Barrowby Road. 

4.1.3 The site occupies the south and south-eastern slopes of Stubbock Hill; its centre is a 
flat, raised plateau, sloping steeply down to the railway line on its northern boundary 
and more gently to the east down into the Poplar Farm site that forms Phase One of 
the North West Quadrant.

4.1.4 The highest point of the site is around Rectory Farm itself, at around 107 metres 
above sea level; the site’s lowest point is on its eastern boundary, around 94 metres 
above sea level. The site is bounded to its south by the A52, to its east by the Poplar 
Farm development, to its north by the Nottingham-Grantham railway line and to its 
west by the embankment of the A1 Grantham western bypass.

4.2 The allocated land

4.2.1 In the emerging Local Plan, the land is allocated for an indicative 1,150 dwellings at a 
gross density of 30 dwellings per hectare. The total area of the allocated land is 
61.59 hectares.

4.2.2 The entire site has been allocated for development in accordance with Policy GR3: 
Grantham Allocations, specifically by sub-policy GR3-H2: Rectory Farm (Phase 2 
North West Quadrant).

4.2.3 An Environmental Impact Assessment may be required to accompany any significant 
planning application(s).

4.3 Poplar Farm (NWQ Phase 1)

4.3.1 The land immediately east of the allocation, known as Poplar Farm, already has 
planning permission and is being developed as Phase 1 of the North West Quadrant. 
Once complete, it will provide 1,800 new homes across the 68-hectare site. Details of 
the development appear in the Poplar Farm Design Code (PFDC) (FPCR, 2011).16 

The site is being developed in three phases from south to north; Phase 1 is the 
largest and is being developed as of 2018. The land bordering the Rectory Farm site 
includes land in all three phases.

16 Available alongside application S08/1231 on the South Kesteven Planning Application Search at 
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8170 

117

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8170


18

4.3.2 Figure 1 below gives an overview of existing and proposed development at Poplar 
Farm at the time of writing.

118



19

Figure 1: Composite diagram of existing, consented and proposed development at Poplar Farm as of 2018

Source: Buckminster Estates and South Kesteven District Council

119



20

4.3.3 A new spine road called Pennine Way (designated in the PFDC as an Urban 
Boulevard) is proposed to run north-south across the Poplar Farm development, 
linking the A52 to the B1174 Gonerby Road to the north via a new bridge across the 
railway.

4.3.4 In the south-west corner of the Poplar Farm site, facing the A52 and immediately 
east of the Rectory Farm site, a mixed-use local centre will be provided. This will 
incorporate a new primary school, a community centre, shops, a doctor’s surgery and 
accommodation for elderly people. It is proposed that the new district centre will also 
serve the residents of the Rectory Farm site.

4.3.5 The primary school will have capacity for 420 pupils, alongside new sports fields, and 
is projected to open in September 2018.

4.3.6 The PFDC shows that except for the new local centre, the proposed land use 
bordering the rest of the Rectory Farm site will be residential, with two major west-
east road spines traversing the boundary between the Poplar Farm and Rectory 
Farm sites.

4.3.7 These spines, the northern of which is designated in the PFDC as a Main Street and 
the southern as an Urban Lane (accompanied by a Greenway), have been taken into 
account in the Masterplans accompanying this Planning Brief. It is currently proposed 
that the residential land at the eastern edge of Poplar Farm that borders the Rectory 
Farm site will be developed at a range of lower, medium and higher densities, 
ranging between 15 and 55 dwellings per hectare.

4.3.8 This Planning Brief seeks to integrate existing, ongoing and proposed developments 
at Poplar Farm to the greatest possible extent with development at the Rectory Farm 
site. In this way, the North West Quadrant as a whole can form a single, seamless 
new community, maximising opportunities for economic, social and environmental 
sustainability.

4.3.9 As such, this Planning Brief will seek to maximise permeability and connectivity 
across the shared boundary of the Rectory Farm and Poplar Farm sites.

4.4 Land ownership

4.4.1 The land comprising the allocated site is, at the time of writing, in three separate 
landownerships; Linden Homes, Jelson Homes and the Jenkinson family. The Linden 
Homes land occupies around 11.9 hectares at the south-east corner of the site, 
bordering the Poplar Farm site. The land owned by the Jenkinson family occupies the 
north-east corner of the site, also bordering Poplar Farm; it is 12.7 hectares in size17.

4.4.2 The Jelson land is in the south-west of the site, occupying 11 hectares; a further 20 
hectares in the north-west of the site is, at the time of writing, the subject of a joint 

17 Although the total size of each landholding listed may be larger, the areas given comprise the 
hectares of each landholding that overlap with the area covered by this planning brief.

120



21

outline planning application between Jelson Homes and Linden Homes. 

4.5 Baseline infrastructure provision

4.5.1 As noted previously, it is intended that infrastructure to be provided on the 
neighbouring Poplar Farm site will to some extent also serve the Rectory Farm site. 
However, some additional infrastructure, including utility services, new access routes, 
open space and drainage provision, will be needed within the Rectory Farm site 
itself. 

4.5.2 As the vast majority of the existing site is farmland, the level of baseline infrastructure 
provision is relatively low. Further details of existing services in the vicinity are 
available from the service providers (see Appendix 3). The infrastructure provision 
that will be required to support future development is set out below in Chapter 7: 
Development Principles.

121



22

4.6 Site opportunities and constraints

4.6.1 Developers will need to demonstrate that they have taken into account the context of 
the site and its surroundings in any proposals for new development. Some of the key 
contextual considerations, both opportunities and constraints, that developers are 
expected to build into their planning applications at the site have been illustrated on 
Masterplan Map 3.

4.7 Climate change 

4.7.1 The planning system is one of the most important ways that the impact of climate 
change can be reduced. The NPPF lays out the ways that planning can help in 
addressing climate change. NPPF paragraph 148 sets out the key objectives for the 
planning system in this regard: 

4.7.2 The planning system should support the transition to a low carbon future in a 
changing climate, taking full account of flood risk and coastal change. It should help 
to: shape places in ways that contribute to radical reductions in greenhouse gas 
emissions, minimise vulnerability and improve resilience; encourage the reuse of 
existing resources, including the conversion of existing buildings; and support 
renewable and low carbon energy and associated infrastructure. One of the most 
visible ways that Britain has been affected by climate change is the increased risk of 
flooding that new weather patterns have brought. To address this it is a requirement 
that surface water run-off is assessed and managed to ensure that development is 
itself safe from flooding and that areas surrounding the site do not experience 
increased risk of flooding.

4.7.3 The whole of the allocation site lies within Environment Agency Flood Zone One and 
as such it has been confirmed that there are no abnormal requirements in terms of 
flooding or flood risk.

4.7.4 Nevertheless, development proposals will need to consider carefully the potential 
impacts of surface water flooding and appropriate mitigation through drainage.

4.7.5 In order to meet zero/low carbon standards for the site, it is possible that land will 
need to be set aside to accommodate energy generation and distribution. Solar, heat 
pump, wind and biomass technologies are all potentially suitable for this site, with 
delivery through a decentralised system subject to further feasibility studies.

4.7.6 The use of any emerging or innovative technologies should also be explored when a 
planning application is submitted. Such provision would need to be integrated at the 
outset with other utility services.

4.7.7 Developers are expected to take into account as appropriate South Kesteven’s Draft 
Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) (2016).18 The AQAP has been prepared to set out the 
measures which will be taken to help reduce vehicle emissions occurring as a result 

18 Available at http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=17199&p=0 

122

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=17199&p=0


23

of development proposals. The guidance seeks to improve air quality and avoid 
further areas having to be designated as Air Quality Management Areas, as has 
already happened in central Grantham. Key points from the AQAP have been 
incorporated into the emerging South Kesteven Local Plan.

4.8 Landscape 

4.8.1 The site lies within National Character Area 48 – Trent and Belvoir Vales (Natural 
England, 2014)19 and the Grantham Scarps and Valleys Character Area in the South 
Kesteven Landscape Character Assessment (2007).20 There are no statutory 
landscape designations within or in the close vicinity of the site. 

4.8.2 Defra’s Magic Map21 shows that development of the site would have no impact on 
ancient woodland. 

4.8.3 Due to the open nature of the topography there is potential to cause visual impact. 
This would have to be evaluated in a landscape and visual impact assessment.

4.8.4 The development proposals will need to be designed having regard to a landscape 
and visual impact assessment undertaken, potentially as part of an environmental 
impact assessment (EIA).

4.8.5 A landscape and biodiversity strategy will also be required including specific 
proposals for the allocated land, such as planting and landscaping. Appropriate 
conditions and/or a legal agreement may be used to ensure that the 
recommendations of the strategy are implemented.

4.8.6 The historic landscape around the site is also important. The County Council’s 
Historic Environmental Record will contain useful information on the historic 
environment of the area.

19 Available at https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-character-area-profiles-data-for-
local-decision-making/national-character-area-profiles#ncas-in-east-midlands 
20 Available at http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=2117&p=0 
21 Available at http://www.magic.gov.uk/MagicMap.aspx 

123

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-character-area-profiles-data-for-local-decision-making/national-character-area-profiles#ncas-in-east-midlands
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-character-area-profiles-data-for-local-decision-making/national-character-area-profiles#ncas-in-east-midlands
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=2117&p=0
http://www.magic.gov.uk/MagicMap.aspx


24

4.9 Nature conservation

4.9.1 In conjunction with any planning application, an ecology assessment will be required 
together with proposals to protect and enhance existing ecological resources, create 
new features and secure their long-term management. Appropriate conditions and/or 
a legal agreement may be used to ensure that the long-term management of 
ecological resources within the site are implemented.

4.9.2 The vast majority of the site comprises intensively farmed arable land, and as such, 
the fields themselves are likely to be of minimal ecological value, although this will 
need to be confirmed by an appropriate level of ecological survey and assessment.

4.9.3 However, there are a number of historic hedgerows and mature trees across the site, 
which provide opportunities for protection and enhancement of green infrastructure. 
These opportunities are expected to be developed as part of detailed 
masterplanning, and maintenance contributions will be agreed via s106 negotiations. 
Details should be discussed with the Strategy and Partnerships Team within the 
Environmental Services department of Lincolnshire County Council.22 

4.9.4 Development proposals should, in line with NPPF paragraph 118, make provision for 
the creation of new wildlife habitats. This will aid the wider sustainability of the site.

4.9.5 Measures to encourage biodiversity will also be expected within the new 
development. These could include green and brown roofs and walls, native-species 
planting and landscaping, integrated bird/bat boxes and SUDS.

4.9.6 Most of the hedgerows within the site are considered ‘important’ (Hedgerow 
Regulations 1997). Wherever possible, hedgerows and mature trees should be 
preserved and enhanced as landscape and ecological features. The retained 
hedgerows should form part of a Green Infrastructure network running throughout the 
site.

4.9.7 Developers should make use of opportunities to use boundary treatments to mitigate 
against negative landscape and visual impacts. As with all unavoidable impacts on 
any landscape or ecological resource, surveys should be undertaken to ascertain the 
best location for development on this criterion.

4.9.8 Development at the site must also avoid any adverse impacts on the nearest Site of 
Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), comprising Allington Meadows, around 3.7 
kilometres north-west of the site.

4.10 Archaeology and heritage 

4.10.1 The closest Conservation Area to the site is Great Gonerby to the north- the shortest 
distance between the Conservation Area boundary and the site boundary is around 

22 As specified at https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/residents/environment-and-
planning/conservation/landscape-and-nature-conservation/26955.article 

124

https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/residents/environment-and-planning/conservation/landscape-and-nature-conservation/26955.article
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/residents/environment-and-planning/conservation/landscape-and-nature-conservation/26955.article


25

575 metres. Barrowby Conservation Area boundary is around 1km west of the site 
and Grantham Conservation Area boundary around 1.5 km east of the site. Each of 
these Conservation Areas contains a cluster of listed buildings

4.10.2 Another important designated heritage asset in the vicinity is Belton Park, containing 
Belton House, both Grade I listed (the former as a registered Park and Garden, the 
latter as a listed building). There are, however, no listed buildings in the immediate 
vicinity of the site; the closest listed building is the Grade II listed Gonerby House, 
around 1km east of the site boundary.

4.10.3 In line with Historic England’s Good Practice Advice in Planning 3 (The Setting of 
Heritage Assets)23 and NPPF paragraphs 189-197, development of the allocated 
land should avoid adverse impacts on views to, from and between the settings of 
listed buildings and other heritage features. A historic landscape assessment should 
form part of any planning application, and should cover in particular any impacts of 
development on Belton House and Park in line with the Belton House and Park 
Setting Study and Policy Development (Atkins, 2010).24 

4.10.4 There are potential archaeological sites within the allocated land. Archaeological 
investigation to date has included desk-based assessment, geophysical survey and 
limited trial trenching. The results have been presented in the Environmental 
Statement accompanying the 2017 planning applications. The archaeological 
framework document, which also accompanies the 2017 planning applications, 
outlines the procedure for further trial trench evaluation of the site, consultation and 
mitigation (including archiving and reporting as well as an area of preservation in situ) 
and the intention to submit management proposals.

4.10.5 The results of the archaeological surveys reveal an extensive archaeological 
landscape that dates from the prehistoric to the Roman period. The main focus of 
settlement activity is located on the higher land towards the north-western corner of 
the site. However, the southern part of the site appears to be characterised more by 
land divisions rather than settlement, although further work is required to understand 
the nature of the remains. 

4.10.6 Further development proposals will require comprehensive archaeological evaluation 
(trial trenching) to determine the extent, depth, character, date, survival and 
significance of the remains across the whole application area. The results will inform 
A detailed and appropriate mitigation strategy will need developed based on the 
results of the evaluation which addresses the likely impacts of the proposals on the 
archaeological deposits, the scope of further archaeological mitigation excavation, 
the nature of any design mitigation (such as preservation in situ), analysis, 
publication and dissemination. The mitigation framework should be maintained as a 
live document to inform and address the ongoing archaeological requirement and 

23 Second Edition, December 2017. Available at https://content.historicengland.org.uk/images-
books/publications/gpa3-setting-of-heritage-assets/heag180-gpa3-setting-heritage-assets.pdf/ 
24 Available at http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=3810 

125

https://content.historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/gpa3-setting-of-heritage-assets/heag180-gpa3-setting-heritage-assets.pdf/
https://content.historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/gpa3-setting-of-heritage-assets/heag180-gpa3-setting-heritage-assets.pdf/
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=3810


26

conserve and manage the heritage resource throughout the life of the scheme. 

4.10.7 As the scheme may be phased over a number of years it is important that provision is 
made for the publication, in an appropriate format, of the results of investigations 
across the site as a whole, as this is an important landscape with opportunities to 
address a number of research questions. Public engagement should also be 
considered as part of this strategy. There is an opportunity to engage with local 
communities and schools regarding the archaeology of the site as well as employing 
a range of media for public dissemination, information and display for the site and its 
wider, historic environment setting.

4.10.8 Historic England advises specifically that development of the site should seek to 
positively incorporate strategic views towards heritage assets in the surrounding 
area, in particular the Grade II*-listed Bellmount Tower at Belton Park, the Grade I-
listed St Wulfram’s Church in Grantham, and the Grade I-listed St Sebastian church 
at Great Gonerby. 

4.10.9 In particular, the ridge line of Stubbock Hill to the immediate west of the site is an 
important backdrop to and feature of the town and its surroundings, and to this extent 
development should respect the topography of the site to ensure that heritage assets 
and their settings are conserved or enhanced. Further dialogue between the District 
Council and Historic England will take place as proposals emerge to ensure that 
heritage assets, their settings and local archaeology are not adversely impacted.

4.11 Built environment 

4.11.1 The site falls within Character Area 17b (Landscape Fringes: Northwest Quadrant 
(Poplar Farm, Boundary Farm and Rectory Farm) of the Grantham Townscape 
Assessment (2011).25

4.11.2 The Townscape Assessment notes that there are important views in this location 
north to Great Gonerby’s church spire (St Sebastian’s), and that the land appears in 
views from Gonerby Hill.

4.11.3 Additionally it notes that ‘views from the landscape fringe are dominated almost 
entirely by the spire of St Wulfram’s church in Grantham. It towers above the 
relatively modest and consistently scaled town…views of great value and strategic 
importance include those to and from parts of sub-area CA17b (Northwest 
Quadrant)….the spire of the Grade I listed church of St Sebastian is of equal 
importance to that of St Wulfram’s and views to the spire from the A52 are of vital 
importance to the identity of both [Grantham and Great Gonerby].’ 

4.11.4 The Assessment goes on to note that ‘a significant negative quality which is the case 
throughout the character area is the way in which the urban areas border the 
landscape fringes. These are often abrupt and poorly considered boundaries with 
very little opportunity for the landscape to permeate into the urban structure of the 

25 Available at http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8711 

126

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8711


27

town.’ 

4.11.5 Development at the Rectory Farm site has the potential to ameliorate this issue and 
design proposals that can do so will be encouraged.

4.11.6 The Townscape Assessment culminates in a number of key design principles to be 
adopted by new development in Character Area 17, of which the most relevant for 
the Rectory Farm site are as follows:

 ‘Protect and enhance woodlands, field boundaries, hedgerow trees and where 
found watercourses;

 Soften harsh urban edges with new broad leafed woodland planting or use 
new development, and associated structural landscape, to soften existing 
harsh urban edges;

 Maintain a varied urban edge with fringes of the landscape setting extending 
into proposed developments;

 Consider opportunities for enhanced access to the countryside around the 
edge of town;

 There should be a soft edge to the outer perimeter of proposed development;

 Existing lanes, hedgerows and trees to be retained in all proposed 
development;

 Encourage the use of locally distinctive materials – red brick and stone, even 
as panels accompanying other materials;

 Promote the use of clay pantiles – for principal buildings and outbuildings;

 Use the colour palette recommendations to reinforce local identity and create 
themes within developments;

 Promote street trees to accentuate principal routes and reinforce green 
corridors to existing footpaths, lanes and roads;

 Reinforce key views to the town’s heritage assets; this is particularly important 
for views north from the A52 towards Great Gonerby.’

4.11.7 The Townscape Assessment also states that given the topography and prominence 
of proposed urban extensions, houses or flat blocks should not exceed three storeys; 
for most of the character area’s allocated sites two storey will be sufficient and should 
not be exceeded.

127



28

4.11.8 In text relating specifically to the Northwest Quadrant Urban Extension to Grantham, 
the Townscape Assessment states that development in this location:

‘offers an opportunity to create new neighbourhood identities, belonging to the town, 
but celebrating a positive new image. This should free development from the sterile 
cul-de-sacs of pastiche and promote contemporary architecture derived from a sense 
of place but addressing current cultural and technological issues. Colour and 
materials palettes can reinforce local identity; strong positive identity leads generally 
to civic pride and an engaged community. The colours proposed for the urban 
extensions take the predominant brick and pantile range with the landscape colours 
of the rural edge and introduce the colour blue. 

Blue pubs were the symbol of Whig support in Grantham, and the colour endures in 
street names. The palette develops the blue range as a response to the indigenous 
colours to create an integrated scheme, which will sit well in the landscape and at the 
junction with the existing townscape. The colours may be realised through render, 
preformed panels, glazed brick and glass block, amongst others. Within each new 
development the modulation of colour intensity and scale of use will add legibility and 
form to the environment.’

4.12 Geo-environmental considerations 

4.12.1 The Environment Agency’s map of Groundwater Source Protection Zones26 shows 
that there are no groundwater source protection zones within or close to the site. 
Likewise, the Coal Authority’s interactive map27 shows no constraints within or close 
to the site in terms of existing or former coal mining activity.

26 Available at http://maps.environment-
agency.gov.uk/wiyby/wiybyController?x=357683&y=355134&scale=1&layerGroups=default&ep=map
&textonly=off&lang=_e&topic=groundwater 
27 Available at http://mapapps2.bgs.ac.uk/coalauthority/home.html 

128

http://maps.environment-agency.gov.uk/wiyby/wiybyController?x=357683&y=355134&scale=1&layerGroups=default&ep=map&textonly=off&lang=_e&topic=groundwater
http://maps.environment-agency.gov.uk/wiyby/wiybyController?x=357683&y=355134&scale=1&layerGroups=default&ep=map&textonly=off&lang=_e&topic=groundwater
http://maps.environment-agency.gov.uk/wiyby/wiybyController?x=357683&y=355134&scale=1&layerGroups=default&ep=map&textonly=off&lang=_e&topic=groundwater
http://mapapps2.bgs.ac.uk/coalauthority/home.html


29

5 Development principles
5.1 Key land uses

5.1.1 Based on the emerging South Kesteven Local Plan allocation, it is envisaged that 
key land uses across the site will comprise:

 Housing

 Supporting infrastructure including:

- transport and access network;
- education playing fields;
- other open space;
- drainage; and
- utilities.

Development principles for each of the key land uses outlined above are detailed in turn 
below.

5.2 Housing

5.2.1 In line with draft Local Plan policy H4: Meeting All Housing Needs, a mix of house 
types is encouraged, ranging from single bedroom units to large family dwellings of 
five bedrooms or more. The dwelling mix has the potential to include housing suitable 
for older people, such as bungalows, which are known to be in demand locally.

5.2.2 The developer will be responsible for ensuring 30% of dwellings provided are an 
appropriate mix of affordable dwellings in line with draft Policy H2: Affordable 
Housing Contributions. These should be distributed throughout the housing area and 
not concentrated in a single location. 

5.2.3 Likewise, in line with draft Policy H3: Self and Custom Build Housing, up to 2% of the 
plots will be provided for self and custom build housing, comprising serviced plots 
made available to purchase by individuals on the Self and Custom Build register held 
by the District.

5.2.4 At the discretion of South Kesteven District Council, some or all of the affordable 
housing requirement may be met off-site, in the form of direct provision or via an in-
lieu payment, to meet strategic needs elsewhere in the District.

5.3 Supporting infrastructure

Overarching principles

5.3.1 Development of the allocated land will require developers to make appropriate 
provision for supporting infrastructure in line with draft policy ID1: Infrastructure for 

129



30

Growth, the Infrastructure Delivery Plan 201728 and South Kesteven’s requirements 
as expressed through Section 106 agreements.

5.3.2 Infrastructure required to support the development should be designed in accordance 
with best practice and sustainable technology. The development of the Rectory Farm 
site requires that an integrated view of power generation, energy consumption, water, 
waste and drainage be taken from the outset. This infrastructure should be located 
and designed to minimise the risk posed by the impact of climate change. This 
includes protecting infrastructure from severe heat and storms.

5.3.3 Where the infrastructure demands of future development cannot be reasonably 
foreseen, or where investment to service such development is not viable in the 
current phase of development, infrastructure should be planning and designed to be 
easily modified to accommodate increased capacity.

Transport and access network

General principles

5.3.4 The following transport criteria should be considered when developing the Rectory 
Farm site:

 access to the site by sustainable transport modes (i.e. walking, cycling, public 
transport);

 type and location of vehicular access; and

 impact on the surrounding highway network.

5.3.5 The above would be best considered within an integrated Transport Assessment 
covering the whole site across all landownerships.

5.3.6 Despite the fact that the Poplar Farm site is being developed independently from the 
Rectory Farm site, it is anticipated that multiple vehicle, pedestrian and/or cycle 
connections will be created across the boundary dividing the sites. 

5.3.7 Notwithstanding this, development at the Rectory Farm site should demonstrate that 
it can deliver independent vehicular access, so that it is not dependant on decisions 
made on the form or layout of development at Poplar Farm.

Pedestrian and cycle movements

5.3.8 Based on the Manual for Streets-recommended transport hierarchy, a coherent 
network of footpaths and cycleways should be provided within the development to 
accommodate pedestrian and cyclist demand. Direct connections should also be 
made to existing and proposed development at Poplar Farm, and the site should 

28 Available at http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=21071 

130

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=21071


31

consider the potential to upgrade footways and existing shared use footway / 
cycleways along the A52, given their current limited width and the likelihood that they 
will need to accommodate more pedestrians in future.

Bus access

5.3.9 In terms of public transport, a bus service is generally considered to be accessible if 
it serves a stop within 400m of a potential customer.29 The current service past the 
site operates every 60 minutes and the nature of this connection should be 
considered in further detail to determine if a higher frequency service could be 
achieved. 

5.3.10 A service with a 60 minute frequency is unlikely to be attractive for new bus users 
from the Rectory Farm site. It may be that the site could achieve a better bus service 
in partnership with Poplar Farm; however, to be consistent with the approach for 
vehicular access it should also be demonstrated that the site could be serviced by 
public transport independently of Poplar Farm.

5.3.11 CIHT Guidance on buses in urban developments30 provides advice on how 
infrastructure could be provided to maximise the potential of bus services. This 
guidance should be considered in any application for the Rectory Farm site. The new 
guidance endorses that produced by Stagecoach in 2017, Bus Services and new 
residential developments.

Vehicular Access

5.3.12 It is understood that LCC has examined the feasibility of converting the existing T-
junction at the south-west corner of the site (A1 southbound slip road and A52) to a 
roundabout, and that there may be benefit in providing a northern spur from this 
roundabout to serve future development north of the A52 (including, but not limited 
to, the Rectory Farm site). Again, an important requirement for the Rectory Farm site 
is to demonstrate that it can be independently accessed, so that it is not dependent 
on infrastructure brought forward on third party land.

5.3.13 LCC is also promoting a new route to the south of Grantham known as the Grantham 
Southern Relief Road. This should have the effect of reducing traffic on Barrowby 
Road along the south of the site. However, given that timescales for this route are not 
known at the time of writing, the site masterplan should demonstrate that access 
points onto Barrowby Road function appropriately irrespective of the provision of the 
Southern Relief Road.

29 Note, however, that guidance contained in the Building Research Establishment Environmental 
Assessment Method (BREEAM) uses a threshold of 650m.
30 Chartered Institute of Highways and Transportation, January 2018, available at 
http://www.ciht.org.uk/en/document-summary/index.cfm/docid/1D79344D-A8E9-429B-
A0C6710299356BCD

 

131

http://www.ciht.org.uk/en/document-summary/index.cfm/docid/1D79344D-A8E9-429B-A0C6710299356BCD
http://www.ciht.org.uk/en/document-summary/index.cfm/docid/1D79344D-A8E9-429B-A0C6710299356BCD


32

5.3.14 LCC highways design documents do not specify a limit on the number of houses that 
can be served from a single point of access, and neither does the Manual for Streets. 

5.3.15 Notwithstanding this, neighbouring authorities work to no more than 150 dwellings off 
a single residential access, and no more than 400 dwellings off a major residential 
access. 

5.3.16 The Transport Assessment submitted to support planning applications submitted in 
2017 identifies two potential points of access:

 a new roundabout to replace the current A52 / Gloucester Road T-junction to 
provide the main access to the proposed development; and

 a new ghost island right turn to the west of the proposed roundabout to 
provide a second access point for the development, for approximately 200 
dwellings.

5.3.17 LCC Highways indicated no objection to this proposed access strategy. As such, and 
having regard to other relevant evidence, it is considered that full development of the 
Rectory Farm site would require at least five two-way vehicular access points across 
its southern and eastern boundaries, as follows:

 at least two north-south points of access off A52 Barrowby Road (of which at 
least one would be a ‘major’ access, requiring a new roundabout); and 

 at least three east-west points of access along the boundary with Poplar 
Farm.

5.3.18 The maximisation of additional non-vehicular access points, comprising pedestrian 
and cycle paths, is also encouraged, as this would help facilitate a comprehensive 
and coherent movement strategy across the Rectory Farm site.

5.3.19 This should include upgrading of the existing Rectory Farm drive along the western 
boundary of the site into a pedestrian and cycle corridor, ideally alongside vehicular 
access. This will simultaneously maximise development permeability and safeguard 
the existing access to Rectory Farm itself and other existing houses along its length, 
all of which will be retained in any redevelopment.

5.3.20 The same western boundary of the site should also safeguard, as illustrated by 
Masterplan Map 11, at least two east-west vehicular access points to link to future 
development on the remainder of allocation H2 and on allocation H3 which, as 
mentioned previously, is more dependent on forthcoming remodelling decisions 
relating to the A1/A52 junction.

5.3.21 Based on the transport assessment work submitted to date, it is suggested that the 
overriding principle in terms of transport and access should be that the site should be 
deliverable without reliance on off-site developments or the use of off-site and/or third 
party land. 

132



33

5.3.22 A phasing plan should therefore be submitted that identifies how the initial parcels of 
land would be accessed, which would then inform the form and timing of subsequent 
vehicular access points. Vehicular access junctions should be modelled under 
scenarios both with and without the Grantham Southern Relief Road.

Wider Network Assessments

5.3.23 LCC operates a tool through which the highway capacity impacts of development can 
be objectively assessed. This is known as the Grantham Transport Model. The use of 
this model is encouraged to test the performance of the site access junctions (both 
with and without the Grantham Southern Relief Road) and to identify the off-site 
highway impact of the development (both with and without the Grantham Southern 
Relief Road).

5.3.24 Future forecast years will need to be agreed with both LCC and Highways England 
(HE), although the latter’s requirements would be as per the published relevant HE 
Circulars. The findings of this work should be reported in a Transport Assessment.

5.3.25 LCC’s future aspiration to develop a roundabout to replace the A1 southbound off /on 
slip T-junction could open further land for development, for example on Local Plan 
allocation H3, west of allocation H2. 

5.3.26 To allow for this scenario, east-west penetration of the Rectory Farm and Poplar 
Farm sites is required, to avoid future development at allocation H3 forming a large 
cul-de-sac and to help reduce additional traffic impacts on the A52 Barrowby Road 
arising from full development of all allocated sites. This requirement for a coherent 
east-west movement network through the site has informed the Development Brief.

Open space

5.3.27 The additional public open space to be provided should be in line with the indicative 
site layout in Plans 4 and 6. It should include sufficient land for recreational use, 
including informal play space, allotment land and children’s play areas.

5.3.28 Multiple contextual factors suggest that, as a general principle, the north of the site is 
more suited to large areas of open space than the south. These factors include:

 the location of the local centre on the neighbouring Poplar Farm site, 
suggesting a higher density of housing on the south and south-east of the 
Rectory Farm site, and a lower density, including more land for other uses, to 
the north and north-west;

 the desirability of minimising the visual impacts of development on, and any 
perception of coalescence with, the village of Great Gonerby, which overlooks 
the site from the north;

133



34

 the generally higher land in the north and north-west of the site, making built 
development more visually prominent and strengthening the case for it to be 
provided at a lower density and/or mixed with undeveloped open land; and

 surface water flood mapping, which suggests a greater degree of surface 
water run-off on the north of the site than the south, which could be addressed 
through drainage solutions making use of open spaces between built 
development.

5.3.29 The design of the open spaces should take into account how they will be used and 
measures taken to limit the impact on adjacent residential properties. Noise barriers, 
landscape bunds and the type or location of leisure equipment facilities that may be 
installed should be considered in this context.

5.3.30 A commuted sum will be negotiated with the developer for maintenance. If the 
developer(s) seeks to transfer maintenance responsibilities for open space either to 
the local Parish Council(s) (Barrowby and Great Gonerby) or South Kesteven District 
Council, guidance on capitalised maintenance payments is provided in SKDC’s 
Planning Obligations SPD (June 2012).31

5.3.31 South Kesteven Policy SAP10: Open Space Provision recommends 0.20 hectares of 
allotment space per 1,000 population. Based on the South Kesteven average of 
2.247 persons per dwelling in Census 201132, and an average recommended plot 
size of 250 square metres33, this indicates that the allocated land will have a 
residential population of 2,32734 and will thus require around 4,650 square metres 
(i.e. 0.47 hectares) of allotment space.

5.3.32 Interventions that can help to reduce future landscaping maintenance requirements, 
such as planting with low-nutrient soil, are encouraged. For areas that may require 
specialised techniques, additional sums may be negotiated.

5.3.33 The overall requirement for open space should also be in line with Policy SAP10. 
This is required for formal and informal play, youth facilities and formal sports 
provision.

5.3.34 Based on Policy SAP10 and the calculations above, it is anticipated there will be a 
need for the Rectory Farm site to provide 4.65 hectares of informal/natural green 
space, 2.33 hectares of outdoor sports space and 1.86 hectares of other open space 
(comprising play equipped space, young persons’ space, allotments and parks). 
These requirements have been reflected in the Masterplan Maps. As noted 
previously, the planning applications submitted in 2017 propose development on the 
5.36 hectares of land at the north-west corner of the allocation that is not suitable for 

31 Available at http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=13870 
32 In the 2011 Census, South Kesteven had 133,788 residents and 59,530 dwellings, making 2.247 
people per dwelling- source: Nomis (https://www.nomisweb.co.uk) 
33 See https://www.nsalg.org.uk/allotment-info/ 
34 Based upon the figure of 1,035 dwellings calculated in Chapter 2 of this development brief.

134

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=13870
https://www.nsalg.org.uk/allotment-info/


35

built development and hence will be retained as open space. If suitably landscaped, 
and with the appropriate access arrangements, this area would exceed the minimum 
requirement for 4.65 hectares of informal/natural green space, and this has been 
illustrated on the relevant Masterplan maps.

5.3.35 As stated previously, the development of the land covered by this brief should not 
prejudice further development on the rest of allocation H2 or other developments in 
the wider area, including allocation H3. The provision of open space should therefore 
take into account the potential for future open space provision in these locations.

5.3.36 Consideration should be given to the layout and design of play and open spaces so 
as to complement the wider landscape character. Arrangements for future funding 
and management should also be made.

5.3.37 The formal and informal play areas should form part of the Green Infrastructure 
network that will run throughout the site and which will also enhance the site’s 
biodiversity potential.

Flooding and drainage

5.3.38 In line with emerging Local Plan policy SD2: The Principles of Sustainable 
Development in South Kesteven, adequate measures should be put in place to 
ensure that the development does not exacerbate the risk of flooding elsewhere. This 
can be achieved through a Sustainable Drainage System or other means appropriate 
to the specific development.

5.3.39 Lincolnshire County Council, as the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA), expect any 
major development on the site to restrict its surface water run-off to greenfield run-off 
rate and implement Sustainable Urban Drainage System (SUdS) principles as per 
the NPPF.

5.3.40 A Flood Risk Assessment will need to be carried out for development proposals of 
one or more hectares as per Footnote 50 of the NPPF in line with advice from the 
Environment Agency. A Sustainable Drainage System, which could include, 
depending on location, balancing ponds, and permeable materials to roads and 
green roofs, should be implemented across the site aligned with and linked to the 
sustainable drainage infrastructure developed or planned for at the neighbouring 
Poplar Farm site. 

5.3.41 The drainage proposals submitted alongside any individual application will be 
assessed in terms of how they integrate holistically with the strategic approach to 
drainage required across the whole site, taking into account existing and proposed 
drainage interventions in other parts of the site at the time of the application.

5.3.42 Development will not be permitted to begin until the planning authority has approved 
submitted drainage/surface water run off management plans with input from Anglian 
Water, the Environment Agency and Lincolnshire County Council as the Lead Local 
Flood Authority. A condition to this effect will be attached to any future planning 

135



36

permission.

136



37

5.3.43 Developers should note that open space used for flood attenuation and/or drainage 
has the potential to be multi-functional, offering also opportunities for promoting 
nature conservation, recreation and as structural amenity space. However, there are 
some locations within the site where large-scale SUDS infrastructure will be neither 
necessary nor viable, and instead smaller interventions such as filter strips, swales 
and/or small-scale storage could be more appropriate, as long as it can be 
demonstrated that they contribute appropriately to the overall drainage strategy 
across the site.

Utilities and services

Electricity

5.3.44 Western Power advises that any development at the Rectory Farm site (and, at the 
time of writing, further development at Poplar Farm beyond what is already 
consented) would require two new 11 kilovolt (Kv) circuits fed from Grantham North 
Primary sub-station. These new circuits would also require an extension to the 
building at Grantham North containing the existing 11Kv circuit breakers.

5.3.45 Dialogue between Western Power and the District Council suggests that the most 
cost-effective way for these new circuits to serve the site would be for them to cross 
the Grantham-Nottingham railway line via the land over the railway tunnel north of 
Rectory Farm itself. Contributions for this new infrastructure will be sought on a 
proportional basis from the developers of Poplar Farm as well as the developers of 
the Rectory Farm site.

5.3.46 Western Power further advise that, although this advice is correct at the time of 
writing, power network requirements are dynamic and therefore this situation may 
differ in future; as such, the applicant is advised to engage with Western Power at the 
time of any application.

Gas

5.3.47 As indicated in the South Kesteven Infrastructure Delivery Plan, National Grid has 
indicated that no major constraints to future development in terms of gas networks 
and supply have been identified, but that it is expected that new connections will be 
developer-funded.

Water and sewerage

5.3.48 Anglian Water state in the Infrastructure Delivery Plan that in terms of water supply 
and waste water treatment, no major development constraints have been identified in 
the short term; however, there will be a need for new provision later in the Local Plan 
period. As such, developers are expected to liaise with Anglian water at the time of 
any application; it is expected that new connections will be developer-funded.

137



38

Communications

5.3.49 Through the Infrastructure Development Plan, BT Openreach and other providers, 
including Virgin Media, have not indicated that the development of the site would give 
rise to any abnormal requirements in terms of IT or telephone networks.

Emergency services

5.3.50 The police, ambulance and fire and rescue services have confirmed through the 
Infrastructure Development Plan that in most cases the layout of a new scheme can 
make appropriate provision for access to police, ambulance and fire services. As 
detailed proposals emerge, there will be further dialogue between the District Council 
and the emergency services in terms of local facilities for neighbourhood policing, fire 
and ambulance access, and layout and mix of units.

5.4 Delivery and phasing of development

5.4.1 The  District Council recognises that the development timeframe for this site is 
reasonably long, potentially taking ten or more years to be developed in its entirety. 
Its preferred approach to development phasing over this period is to develop the site 
from south to north, as this will help developers avoid excessive early infrastructure 
costs.

5.4.2 Developers are encouraged to enter into early and ongoing dialogue with the District 
Council, which will provide clarity and certainty on the specific infrastructure 
requirements and triggers pertaining at the time of individual development 
applications. 

5.4.3 The infrastructure requirements and triggers will depend to a significant extent on 
how much and what type of infrastructure has already been consented and/or 
delivered by that stage, both in the vicinity of the site and elsewhere across 
Grantham and the District.

5.4.4 In development phasing, consideration should be given to opportunities for delivering 
supporting infrastructure for housing across the site in the right places and at the 
right times, seeking to maximise their ability to deliver wider benefits and 
encouraging economies of scale in service delivery.

138



39

6 Design Principles
6.1 Overarching design principles

6.1.1 In any major development project there will be key conflicting objectives, for example 
between the need to protect the environment (Local Plan Strategic Objectives 12, 13 
and 14) and the need to enhance the prosperity of the district, in part through new 
housing and other development (Strategic Objectives 1-9). At the Rectory Farm site, 
the design principles in this chapter will be used as a guide against which 
development proposals will be assessed.

6.1.2 The development and design principles for the site articulated through this Planning 
Brief take full account of the Local Plan aspirations for the allocation. This helps 
ensure that an appropriate balance is achieved between the development being 
sustainable and self-contained but also integrating well with and being fully 
accessible to and from its surroundings, including Poplar Farm and the rest of 
Grantham.

6.1.3 Development proposals for all or part of the site should take full account of the 
Masterplan Maps accompanying this text, including Masterplan Map 4, which sets 
out a complete concept layout plan for the site. 

6.1.4 Development should be designed on the basis of the key site constraints and 
opportunities identified in this document, including appropriate responses to the site’s 
surrounding context, access points, and local views.

6.1.5 Although these considerations should apply to the development of the entire site, 
they are particularly relevant to the highest land within it, at the site’s north-west 
corner, as this will of course be relatively more prominent in views. As such, the 
visual impact of development should be carefully considered and, where necessary, 
mitigated through appropriate design.

6.1.6 Low carbon / zero carbon development which makes use of emerging science and 
technology will be supported. Clear, innovative and reliable management 
mechanisms should be put in place to ensure enduring sustainability.

6.2 Quality

6.2.1 The design and construction of the built environment should be of the highest quality 
when judged against Policy DE1 of the emerging Local Plan. The District Council will 
examine any proposals critically to ensure that high quality design is achieved 
through the development of the site, including compliance with Building for Life 
criteria. 

6.3 Connectivity

6.3.1 The design of development at the Rectory Farm site should avoid peripherality by 

139



40

ensuring sustainable connections to its surroundings. The aim is for a development 
that is a fully integrated component of the developing North-West Quadrant, itself 
designed as a fully integrated new part of Grantham, with clear, strong connections 
to the town centre. 

6.3.2 In design terms, this indicates solutions including frontages to Barrowby Road and 
improving pedestrian and cycle links between the site and the town centre, as well as 
to community facilities at nearby Poplar Farm, as stated in the text on transport 
above. Masterplan Map 5 indicates key frontages and landmarks to take into account 
when designing the site.

6.3.3 Designing a logical road hierarchy will help to define and structure the site’s 
character areas. The site’s indicative movement and access layout is illustrated in 
Masterplan Map 11.

6.4 Form, massing and layout

6.4.1 Development, particularly along the outer edges of the allocation, should be designed 
to reflect and respond to its edge-of-town context as an important and attractive 
gateway to Grantham from the A1 to the west, as per Masterplan Map 5.

6.4.2 Adopting the principles of continuity, enclosure and overlooking should create 
successful and well-defined public places. Spaces and streets should be defined and 
enclosed by buildings. The building line will combine with boundary features to create 
a sense of enclosure for the street.

6.4.3 The design and layout of the scheme should take the opportunity to reduce the 
opportunities for crime. All streets and public spaces should be overlooked, with front 
facing development providing an active frontage and natural surveillance, including of 
the proposed green corridors. Alleyways and rear parking courtyards should be 
minimised.

6.4.4 There is scope for the layout of development to maximise the potential offered by 
photovoltaic (PV) panels for solar energy development. PV panels achieve maximum 
efficiency on south-facing roofs.

6.4.5 For further guidance on expectations of streetscape design across the development, 
refer to Lincolnshire County Council’s Streetscape Design Manual (2016).35 The 
indicative overall layout of development across the site (i.e. the development 
‘footprint’) is illustrated in Masterplan Map 9.

6.5 Character areas

6.5.1 It is required that the site generally, and the housing element in particular, should be 
developed on the basis of individual ‘character areas’. Each character area’s form, 

35 Available at https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/residents/environment-and-
planning/conservation/conservation-areas/every-street-matters/91118.article 

140

https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/residents/environment-and-planning/conservation/conservation-areas/every-street-matters/91118.article
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/residents/environment-and-planning/conservation/conservation-areas/every-street-matters/91118.article


41

massing and layout should be designed to be visually and functionally distinct from 
those of its neighbours. A character area approach will simultaneously help to:

 build a sense of place;
 increase development legibility;
 improve townscape through varying building scale, height and type;
 soften the landscape and visual impact of development;
 promote integration with surrounding areas; and
 counteract the perception of monolithic or unbroken development.

6.5.2 As such, the site has been divided into four key residential character areas, namely 
Southern, Western, Eastern and Northern (illustrated on Masterplan Map 10). 
Appropriate building heights will vary by character area, as described below and 
illustrated in Masterplan Map 7. Development within each character area is expected 
to have regard to the following general principles:

Southern Character Area

6.5.3 Among the most important functions of the South Character Area in design terms is 
as a frontage and entry along Barrowby Road not only to the rest of the site but to the 
town of Grantham itself. 

6.5.4 To respect this requirement, houses should face the road and not turn their back to it. 
Equally, despite its location close to the Poplar Farm local centre, which would 
otherwise be a reason for higher-density development, development lining Barrowby 
Road should be lower density so as to provide an appropriate gateway to the town 
and to relate well to the density of existing development on the south side of the 
road. For this reason, dwelling heights should not exceed two stories.

Western Character Area

6.5.5 The Western Character Area is unusual in that it will form the urban edge of 
Grantham, but only for a temporary period before Local Plan Allocation H3 is 
developed later in the Plan period.

6.5.6 As such, its density should be higher than would be the case if it were a permanent 
urban edge; if it is developed at too low a density this would have negative 
implications for the density of the land still to be developed to its west. Dwelling 
heights should generally not exceed two storeys, though there may be potential for 
three-story development in the south-east of the character area.

6.5.7 At the same time, density should be relatively lower than in the Eastern Character 
Area which is within closer walking distance to a range of services and facilities. 
Design and layout of individual houses should be carefully considered so that 
connections to the west will not be compromised when the time comes to develop 
there; for example, long, unbroken lines of housing along the western boundary of 
the site should be avoided.

141



42

Eastern Character Area

6.5.8 The Eastern Character Area is the closest to services and facilities at the Poplar 
Farm Local Centre, and as such should also form the highest-density development, 
Additionally, as it occupies some of the lowest land on the Rectory Farm site, there is 
widespread potential for three storey building heights, although both dwelling heights 
and densities could drop to the north-west of the character area.

6.5.9 Key frontages onto open space and a coherent, legible network of pedestrian and 
cycle routes will also both be important design elements of this character area, as 
illustrated in Masterplan Maps 5 and 11 respectively.

Northern Character Area

6.5.10 The Northern Character Area should be the least dense of the four character areas 
and have, in general terms, the lowest building heights. Both of these characteristics 
are appropriate given the area’s relative distance from services and facilities, as well 
as its elevation- it extends to the highest part of the site and is where development 
will be most visually prominent.

6.5.11 As such, it is suggested that, while building heights should certainly not exceed two 
storeys, the character area would be particularly suitable for one-storey dwellings, 
depending on the demand profile for such development at the time of application; 
however, providing a proportion of one storey dwellings would align development to a 
greater extent with Local Plan policy H3 on housing mix. The area considered most 
suitable for one-storey development is indicated on Masterplan Map 7.

6.6 Density

6.6.1 Residential densities should be in line with emerging Local Plan policy DE1: 
Promoting Good Quality Design. In line with draft Policy GR3, the site-wide average 
net density has been assessed as 30 dwellings per hectare, but this should vary 
across the site depending on context. 

6.6.2 For example, densities should be higher than 30 dph at the south-eastern part of the 
site, closest to the school and the local centre being developed at Poplar Farm, and 
should also be higher along main transportation routes. The more outlying parts of 
the site, to the west and north, will be better suited to lower density development, 
with appropriate regard to the indicative gross site density and the efficient use of 
land. Indicative densities across the site are illustrated in Masterplan Map 8.

6.7 Landscaping

6.7.1 For the most appropriate style and composition of landscape layout developers 
should use the South Kesteven Landscape Character Assessment (Grantham 
Scarps and Valleys Character Area chapter) and the Grantham Townscape 
Assessment (Character Area 17b, as set out in section 3.17 above) as guidance to 
ensure landscaping responsive to and appropriate within the local area. 

142



43

6.7.2 Play areas, open spaces, and hedgerows should be linked with green corridors to 
create a green infrastructure network across the site. Tree and shrub planting in 
appropriate locations across the site could also have an important role to play in 
mitigating and minimising the landscape and visual impact of the new development 
from key viewpoints.

6.7.3 Masterplan Map 6 sets out the indicative green infrastructure network across the site. 
Two corridors of multi-purpose open space, used both for flood mitigation and for 
recreation, run generally west-east across the site, having regard to the existing and 
emerging SuDs network at the neighbouring Rectory Farm development. 

6.7.4 A third open space corridor runs parallel to the railway along the northern edge of the 
site, with potential for nature conservation and softening the transition from urban to 
rural land and helping maintain separation, and the perception of separation between 
Grantham and Great Gonerby.

143



44

7 Delivery and Implementation
7.1.1 This Planning Brief has been drafted to provide firm direction to individual site 

developers and landowners no matter how the site is brought forward or developed- 
in partnership or individually, together or phased over time.

7.1.2 The Masterplan Maps reflect the preferred spatial interpretation of the text, but are 
designed to be flexibly applied. They should be considered as a guideline to follow, 
having regard to specific circumstances or material considerations pertaining at the 
time of any application. They do not preclude the preparation of one or more future 
masterplan(s) on the part of landowners/developers, but any such developer-
prepared masterplan will be considered by the Council in terms of how it performs 
against the development principles set out in this Planning Brief.

7.1.3 In other words, any planning proposals, even if differing spatially from the Masterplan 
Maps, must conform to the requirements of this SPD, which have been carefully 
worded to enable them to be sufficiently prescriptive, but at the same time flexible 
enough to accommodate the priorities of developers and local stakeholders.

7.1.4 Furthermore, given the fact that this SPD was drafted on the basis of robust 
evidence, including formal and informal consultation, developers are expected to 
consult on and justify any significant differences proposed from the indicative 
Masterplan Maps.

7.1.5 Like all sites allocated through the planning process, the Council can exercise a 
degree of control over phasing and process through the power to approve phasing 
plans and conditions., In so doing, a phased development will be encouraged from 
the Barrowby Road frontage on the southern edge of the site northwards. This 
indicative phasing process, which has regard to the phasing of neighbouring Poplar 
Farm, is illustrated in Masterplan Map 12.

7.1.6 As noted in section 5.4 above, relevant infrastructure will need to be provided 
alongside the new dwellings for each of the development phases consented in 
accordance with the outline phasing strategy.

144



45

Appendix 1: Relevant South Kesteven 
Planning Policies
Alongside the requirements of this Planning Brief, site developers will need to ensure 
development proposals align with the following adopted and emerging South Kesteven 
planning policies:

Core Strategy Development Plan Document (adopted 2010)

SP3: Sustainable Integrated Transport

SP4: Developer Contributions

EN1: Protection and Enhancement of the Character of the District

EN2: Reducing the Risk of Flooding

EN4: Sustainable Construction and Design

H1: Residential Development

H3: Affordable Housing

Site Allocation and Policies Development Plan Document (adopted 2014)

SD1: Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development

SAP10: Open Space Provision

SAP11: Protecting and Enhancing the Setting of Belton House and Park

Submission Draft Local Plan (2017) (emerging as of this Planning Brief)

SD1: Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development

SD2: The Principles of Sustainable Development in South Kesteven

SP1: Spatial Strategy

SP2: Settlement Hierarchy

SP4: Development on the Edge of Settlements

H1: Housing Allocations

H2: Affordable Housing Contributions

145



46

H3: Self and Custom Build Housing

H4: Meeting All Housing Needs

EN1: Landscape Character

EN2: Protecting Biodiversity and Geodiversity

EN3: Green Infrastructure

EN4: Pollution Control

EN5: Reducing the Risk of Flooding

EN6: The Historic Environment

DE1: Promoting Good Quality Design

SB1: Sustainable Building

OS1: Open Space

GR1: Protecting and Enhancing the Setting of Belton House and Park

GR2: Sustainable Transport in Grantham

GR3: Grantham Residential Allocations (both H2 and H3)

ID1: Infrastructure for Growth

ID2: Transport and Strategic Transport Infrastructure

ID3: Broadband and Communications Infrastructure

146



47

Appendix 2: Further reference documents
Relevant national policy and evidence documents are referenced in footnotes throughout the 
text of this Planning Brief. The following further documents are also relevant in the 
development of the Rectory Farm site.

4th Lincolnshire Local Transport Plan 2013/14-2022/23

https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/transport-and-roads/strategy-and-policy/local-transport-
plan/34380.article

Active Design, Sport England (2015)

https://www.sportengland.org/med ia/3964/spe003-active-design-published-october-2015-
high-quality-for-web-2.pdf

Belton House and Park Setting Study, SKDC/National Trust (2010)

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=3810 

Building for Life 12- Third Edition, Design Council (January 2015)

http://www.designcouncil.org.uk/resources/guide/building-life-12-third-edition

Lincolnshire CC Travel Plan Guidance (September 2015)

https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/transport-and-roads/walking-cycling-and-sustainable-
travel/access-ln6/benefits/travel-plans/115097.article

Local Plan for South Kesteven Statement of Community Involvement (November 2014)

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=14102 

Peterborough Housing Market Area and Boston Borough Council Strategic Housing 
Market Assessment Update (March 2017)

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=20273 

Planning Practice Guidance on Renewable and Low Carbon Energy, DCLG

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/renewable-and-low-carbon-energy

South Kesteven Open Space, Sports and Recreation Facilities Report (2017)

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=21278

South Kesteven Air Quality Action Plan (2016)

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=17687 

147

https://www.sportengland.org/media/3964/spe003-active-design-published-october-2015-high-quality-for-web-2.pdf
https://www.sportengland.org/media/3964/spe003-active-design-published-october-2015-high-quality-for-web-2.pdf
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=3810
http://www.designcouncil.org.uk/resources/guide/building-life-12-third-edition
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/transport-and-roads/walking-cycling-and-sustainable-travel/access-ln6/benefits/travel-plans/115097.article
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/transport-and-roads/walking-cycling-and-sustainable-travel/access-ln6/benefits/travel-plans/115097.article
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=14102
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=20273
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=21278
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=17687


48

Appendix 3: List of Service Providers

Barrowby Parish Council 

The Coach House

509 Newark Road

Lincoln

Lincolnshire

LN6 8RT

Phone 07710 087124

Great Gonerby Parish Council 

46 Cliffe Road

Grantham

Lincolnshire

NG31 8HS

Phone 01476 568761

Email greatgonerbypc@gmail.com 

Heritage Lincolnshire

The Old School

Cameron Street

Heckington

Lincolnshire

NG34 9RW

148

mailto:greatgonerbypc@gmail.com


49

Phone 01529 461499

Email htladmin@heritagelincolnshire.org

Lincolnshire County Council

Community and living, Highways maintenance, Parking, Public transport, Traffic 
management

County Offices

Newland

Lincoln

LN1 1YL

Phone 01522 552222

Email customer_services@lincolnshire.gov.uk 

South Kesteven District Council

Air quality, Allotments, Housing, Leisure centres and sport activities, Parking, transport and 
roads, Waste management

Council Offices

St Peters Hill

Grantham

Lincolnshire

NG31 6PZ

Phone 01476 406080

Email frontdesk@southkesteven.gov.uk 

South West Lincolnshire Clinical Commissioning Group

149

mailto:customer_services@lincolnshire.gov.uk
mailto:frontdesk@southkesteven.gov.uk


50

District Council Offices

St Peter’s Hill

Grantham

Lincolnshire

NG31 6PZ

Phone 01476 406578

Email office@southwestlincolnshireccg.nhs.uk 

150

mailto:office@southwestlincolnshireccg.nhs.uk


51

AECOM Infrastructure & Environment UK Limited

Aldgate Tower, 

2 Leman Street, 

London 

E1 8FA

UK

aecom.com  

151



This page is intentionally left blank



ScaleDate

RevisionProject No Drawing No

Drawing Title

Project

Check byDrawn by

RECTORY FARM

01

Boundaries

1:5000@A3 GDG

AECOM
Aldgate Tower, 2 Leman Street
London, E1  8FA
Tel. +44 (0) 207 061 7000
www.aecom.com

60473674 R.02

N

06-08-2018

KEY

Site boundary

Local Plan Allocation GR3-H2

Local Plan Allocation GR3-H3

Site area [ha]
61.59 ha - Local Plan Allocation GR3-H2
22.45 ha - Local Plan Allocation GR3-H3
48.95 ha - Boundary of three 2017 planning applications
5.36    ha - Area within boundary of Allocation GR3-H2
                     suitable for open space but not built development

Boundary of three 2017 planning applications

Area within boundary of Allocation GR3-H2 
suitable for open space but not built 
development

153

Appendix 2



Barrowby CP

Great Gonerby CP

Non-Civil parish

ScaleDate

RevisionProject No Drawing No

Drawing Title

Project

Check byDrawn by

RECTORY FARM

02

Parish Boundaries

1:5000@A3 GDG

AECOM
Aldgate Tower, 2 Leman Street
London, E1  8FA
Tel. +44 (0) 207 061 7000
www.aecom.com

60473674 R.02

N

06-08-2018

KEY

Site boundary

Parish boundary

Parish area [ha]
33.14 ha - Barrowby CP
11.86 ha - Great Gonerby CP
16.58 ha - Unparished land

154



ScaleDate

RevisionProject No Drawing No

Drawing Title

Project

Check byDrawn by

RECTORY FARM

05

CONSTRAINS MAP

03-06-2018 1:5000@A3

R.00

GDG

AECOM
Aldgate Tower, 2 Leman Street
London, E1  8FA
Tel. +44 (0) 207 061 7000
www.aecom.com

60473674

N
KEY

Local centre

School

A1

Railway line

Primary road

Secondary road

Consented roundabout 
forming major access

FLOOD RISK 
FROM SURFACE WATER

Existing pond

Existing ditch

High

Medium

Low

Woodland

Hedgerows - intact

Hedgerows - defunct

Public rights of way

Existing buildings

Rectory Farm

Land covered by SPD

SUDs

Proposed area for multifunctional  
open space and SUDs

Powerline

Ridge line of Stubbock Hill

Long distance view

View to Great Gonerby Church spire 
(St Sebastian’s)

3 

2 

1 

4 

5 

6

View to Barrowby Church spire
(All Saints Church)

View to Bellmount Tower

View to St Wulfram’s Church spire

View to St Wulfram’s Church spire

View to Vale of Belvoir

400m  /  5 minutes walk

40
0m

  /
  5

 m
in

ut
es

 w
al

k

800m  /  10 minutes walk

80
0m

  /
  1

0 
m

in
ut

es
 w

al
k

1

6

2 3
4

5

ScaleDate

RevisionProject No Drawing No

Drawing Title

Project

Check byDrawn by

RECTORY FARM

03

Constraints and opportunities map

1:5000@A3 GDG

AECOM
Aldgate Tower, 2 Leman Street
London, E1  8FA
Tel. +44 (0) 207 061 7000
www.aecom.com

60473674 R.02

N

06-08-2018

KEY

Local centre

School

A1

Railway line

Primary road

Secondary road

Proposed roundabout 
forming major access

FLOOD RISK 
FROM SURFACE WATER

Existing pond

Existing ditch

High

Medium

Low

Woodland

Hedgerows - intact

Hedgerows - defunct

Public rights of way

Existing buildings

Rectory Farm

Land covered by SPD

SUDs

Proposed area for multifunctional  
open space and SUDs

Powerline

Ridge line of Stubbock Hill

Long distance view

View to Great Gonerby Church spire 
(St Sebastian’s)

3 

2 

1 

4 

5 

6

View to Barrowby Church spire
(All Saints Church)

View to Bellmount Tower

View to St Wulfram’s Church spire

View to St Wulfram’s Church spire

View to Vale of Belvoir

155



1.55 ha
R_A.02

2.56 ha
R_A.03

1.35 ha
R_A.04

1.51 ha
R_A.07

1.93 ha
R_A.06

1.75 ha
R_A.05

1.85 ha
R_B.02

1.16 ha
R_B.03

0.76 ha
R_B.04

1.28 ha
R_B.06

2.04 ha
R_B.05

1.98 ha
R_B.07

1.53 ha
R_B.08

1.34 ha
R_B.09

1.28 ha
R_D.02

0.92 ha
R_D.03

1.03 ha
R_D.04

1.52 ha
R_D.05

1.73 ha
R_C.02

1.74 ha
R_C.03

1.09 ha
R_C.04

0.99 ha
R_C.05

1.54 ha
R_C.06

1.06 ha
R_C.07

0.95 ha
R_C.08

1.60 ha
R_C.09

1.46 ha
OS-NGS_02

1.84 ha
OS-NGS_01

0.50 ha
OS-NGS_03

0.16 ha
OS-NGS_04

0.75 ha
OS-NGS_05

0.86 ha
OS-NGS_06

2.06 ha
OS-OSS_03

1.67 ha
OS-OSS_02

1.85 ha
OS-OSS_01

1.45 ha
OS-OOS_01

0.38 ha
OS-OOS_02

0.27 ha
OS-Allotment_01

0.33 ha
OS-Allotment_02

 5.46 ha
OS-NGS_07

1.40 ha
R_D.01

ScaleDate

RevisionProject No Drawing No

Drawing Title

Project

Check byDrawn by

RECTORY FARM

04

Concept Layout Plan

1:5000@A3 GDG

AECOM
Aldgate Tower, 2 Leman Street
London, E1  8FA
Tel. +44 (0) 207 061 7000
www.aecom.com

60473674 R.02

N

06-08-2018

KEY

Residential

Multi-Functional open space

Primary road

Secondary road

Existing buildings (to be retained)

Site boundary

156



ScaleDate

RevisionProject No Drawing No

Drawing Title

Project

Check byDrawn by

RECTORY FARM

05

Key Frontages and Landmarks Plan

1:5000@A3 GDG

AECOM
Aldgate Tower, 2 Leman Street
London, E1  8FA
Tel. +44 (0) 207 061 7000
www.aecom.com

60473674 R.02

N

06-08-2018

KEY

Landmarks

Key frontages

Primary road

Development land

Site boundary

157



ScaleDate

RevisionProject No Drawing No

Drawing Title

Project

Check byDrawn by

RECTORY FARM

06

Green Infrastructure Plan

1:5000@A3 GDG

AECOM
Aldgate Tower, 2 Leman Street
London, E1  8FA
Tel. +44 (0) 207 061 7000
www.aecom.com

60473674 R.02

N

06-08-2018

KEY

Natural green space

Outdoor sport space

Other open space:
Play equipped space
Young persons space
Parks

Other open space:
Allotment

Site boundary

Potential wildlife corridor

Potential drainage corridor

158



ScaleDate

RevisionProject No Drawing No

Drawing Title

Project

Check byDrawn by

RECTORY FARM

07

Building Heights Plan

1:5000@A3 GDG

AECOM
Aldgate Tower, 2 Leman Street
London, E1  8FA
Tel. +44 (0) 207 061 7000
www.aecom.com

60473674 R.02

N

06-08-2018

KEY

Area particularly suitable for 1 storey

2 storeys maximum

Site boundary

159



ScaleDate

RevisionProject No Drawing No

Drawing Title

Project

Check byDrawn by

RECTORY FARM

08

Density Plan

1:5000@A3 GDG

AECOM
Aldgate Tower, 2 Leman Street
London, E1  8FA
Tel. +44 (0) 207 061 7000
www.aecom.com

60473674 R.02

N

06-08-2018

KEY

20 dph

25 dph

30 dph

35 dph

Site boundary

160



ScaleDate

RevisionProject No Drawing No

Drawing Title

Project

Check byDrawn by

RECTORY FARM

09

Development Land Plan

1:5000@A3 GDG

AECOM
Aldgate Tower, 2 Leman Street
London, E1  8FA
Tel. +44 (0) 207 061 7000
www.aecom.com

60473674 R.02

N

06-08-2018

KEY

Development landSite boundary

161



ScaleDate

RevisionProject No Drawing No

Drawing Title

Project

Check byDrawn by

RECTORY FARM

10

Character Areas Plan

1:5000@A3 GDG

AECOM
Aldgate Tower, 2 Leman Street
London, E1  8FA
Tel. +44 (0) 207 061 7000
www.aecom.com

60473674 R.02

N

06-08-2018

KEY

Northern character area

Western character area

Eastern character area

Southern character area

Site boundary

162



ScaleDate

RevisionProject No Drawing No

Drawing Title

Project

Check byDrawn by

RECTORY FARM

11

Key Movement Plan

1:5000@A3 GDG

AECOM
Aldgate Tower, 2 Leman Street
London, E1  8FA
Tel. +44 (0) 207 061 7000
www.aecom.com

60473674 R.02

N

06-08-2018

Main route

Secondary route

Pedestrian route

Development land

KEY

Site boundary

163



ScaleDate

RevisionProject No Drawing No

Drawing Title

Project

Check byDrawn by

RECTORY FARM

12

Phasing plan

1:5000@A3 GDG

AECOM
Aldgate Tower, 2 Leman Street
London, E1  8FA
Tel. +44 (0) 207 061 7000
www.aecom.com

60473674 R.02

N

06-08-2018

KEY

Phase 1

Phase 2

Phase 3

Site boundary

164



1

South Kesteven District Council

Equality Impact
(Initial Analysis)

     
Planning Brief - Rectory Farm - Supplementary Planning 

Document

Lead officer: 
Kevin Cartwright
 
Assessors:
Kevin Cartwright
Sylvia Bland

Service Area:

Development Management 
and Implementation 

Neutral Assessor:
Carol Drury

Date of Meeting 

01/08/18

165

Appendix 3



2

1. Name and description of policy/service/function/strategy

Rectory Farm is a key allocation in the South Kesteven Local plan forming an urban 
extension to Grantham to meet South Kesteven’s housing requirements up to 2036.
It forms phase 2 of the North West Quadrant (NWQ) and adjoins Poplar Farm which 
is phase 1 of the NWQ.

The Planning Brief has been prepared to add details and expand the relevant 
policies in the emerging South Kesteven Local Plan. The Planning Brief will not only 
provide guidance for landowners and developers but also through its preparation as 
a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) the local community and other 
stakeholders will have the opportunity to influence the future development of the 
area. 

The key stages for the preparation of SPDs are set out in the Local Planning 
Regulations.    

Is this a new or existing policy? Existing

2. Complete the table below, considering whether the proposed 
policy/service/function/strategy could have any potential positive,  or 
negative impacts on groups from any of the protected characteristics (or 
diversity strands) listed, using demographic data, user surveys, local 
consultations evaluation forms, comments and complaints etc.

Equality Group

Does this 
policy/service/function/stra
tegy have a positive or 
negative impact on any of 
the equality groups? 

Please state which for each 
group

Please describe why the impact is 
positive or negative.
If you consider this policy etc is 
not relevant to a specific 
characteristic please explain why  

Age Neutral The delivery and implementation
of the SPD is not determined
by any individual protected
characteristic. However, if there are 
specific circumstances that prevent 
the person from visiting the Council 
offices or viewing documents on-line, 
alternative arrangements would be 
provided on request. This may be in 
the form of paper copies of plans or 
alternative formats of planning 
applications.

Disability Neutral The delivery and implementation
of the SPD is not determined
by any individual protected
characteristic. However, if there are 
specific circumstances that prevent 
the person from visiting the Council 

166



3

offices or viewing documents on-line, 
alternative arrangements would be 
provided on request. This may be in 
the form of paper copies of plans or 
alternative formats of planning 
applications. Assistance and 
appointments can be made with 
planning officers for customers who 
require additional support.

Race Neutral The delivery and implementation
of the SPD is not determined
by any individual protected
characteristic. However, the Council 
provides the alternative language 
functionality of the website and 
language line for instant translation 
when meeting people face-to-face.  
We can also provide hard copies of 
information in alternative languages 
on request. Response forms are only 
provided in English, however, 
assistance and appointments can be 
made with planning officers for 
customers who require additional 
support.  

Gender 
Reassignment

  

Neutral This protected characteristic is not a 
determinant of this document.

Religion or Belief  Neutral This protected characteristic is not a 
determinant of this document.

Sex

  

Neutral This protected characteristic is not a 
determinant of this document.

Sexual 
Orientation

Neutral This protected characteristic is not a 
determinant of this document.

Pregnancy and 
Maternity

Neutral The delivery and implementation
of the SPD is not determined
by any individual protected
characteristic. However, if there are 
specific circumstances that prevent 
the person from visiting the Council 
offices or viewing plans on-line, 
alternative arrangements would be 
provided on request. 

167



4

Marriage and Civil 
Partnership

Neutral This protected characteristic is not a 
determinant of this document.

Carers Neutral No direct impact has been identified 
in relation to those with caring 
responsibilities beyond those already 
addressed under the protected 
characteristics of age and disability.

Other Groups 
(e.g. those from 
deprived (IMD*) 
communities; 
those from rural 
communities, 
those with an 
offending past)

*(IMD = Indices of 
multiple 
deprivation)

Neutral The delivery and implementation of 
the SPD recognises certain hard to 
reach groups not identified above 
such as rural communities, those with 
poor literacy skills and those who may 
have poor internet accessibility.
However, we will work within the 
framework of the Customer Access 
Strategy which provides a range of 
options for customers to access 
Council services and information.
We recognise that people with literacy 
issues may need assistance and 
appointments can be made with 
planning officers for customers who 
require additional support.  
For those customers unable to access 
information online alternative access 
methods are available.

General 
comments

The consultation and adoption of the SPD will follow the requirements 
set out in the Council’s adopted Statement of Community Involvement 
(SCI).

The SCI sets out how the public, organisations and other interested 
parties will be involved and engaged in the preparation of the local 
plan documents and the planning application process.

The Statement of Community Involvement falls within the framework 
of the Council’s Customer Access Strategy.

The SCI recognises specific hard to reach groups and identifies 
methods of consultation to engage with them, for example focus and 
stakeholder group meetings, drop in sessions in locations across the 
District.
Responding to consultations is not governed by any individual 
protected characteristic and responses can be made in a variety of 
formats.

3. What equality data/information did you use to inform the outcomes of 
the proposed policy/service/function/strategy? (Note any relevant 
consultation who took part and key findings)

The Planning Brief SPD has been informed by informal consultation with relevant 
stakeholders. This included dialogue with Great Gonerby and Barrowby Parish 
Councils, as the site lies partially within both parishes, as well as with the site’s 

168



5

landowners and developers, Linden Homes, Jelson Homes and the Jenkinson 
family.

A draft Planning Brief will also be made public for consultation over a minimum four 
week period. Following consideration of consultation responses, the text and plans 
will be amended where appropriate.

The Planning Brief will then be formally adopted as an SPD once the emerging 
Local Plan itself is adopted. It cannot be formally adopted ahead of the Local Plan to 
which it forms an SPD. 

 

If there are any gaps in the consultation/monitoring data, how will this 
be addressed?

None

4. Outcomes of analysis and recommendations (please note you will be 
required to provide evidence to support the recommendations made): 
Please check one of the options.   

a) No major change needed: equality analysis has not identified any potential 
for discrimination or for negative impact and all opportunities to promote 
equality have been taken

If you have checked option a) you can now send this form to the Lead Officer 
and your Neutral Assessor for sign off

b) Adjust the proposal to remove barriers identified by equality analysis or to 
better promote equality. 

If you have checked option b) you will need to answer questions b.1 and b.2 

c) Adverse impact but continue

If you have checked option c) you will need to answer questions c.1

d Stop and remove the policy/function/service/strategy as equality analysis 
has shown actual or potential unlawful

b.1 In brief, what changes are you planning to make to your proposed 
policy/service/function/strategy to minimise or eliminate the negative 
equality impacts?

169



6

b.2 Please provide details of whom you will consult on the proposed 
changes and if you do not plan to consult, please provide the rationale 
behind that decision.  

If you have checked option b) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality 
analysis

c.1 Please provide an explanation in the box below that clearly sets out your 
justification for continuing with the proposed policy/function/service/ 
strategy.

If you have checked option c) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality 
analysis. You should consider in stage 2 whether there are sufficient plans to 

reduce the negative impact and/or plans to monitor the actual impact.

Signed (Lead Officer):  Kevin Cartwright
(Name and title) Principal Planning Officer

Date completed: 01/08/18 

Signed (Neutral Assessor): Carol Drury
(Name and title) Community Engagement Officer

Date signed off:    02/08/18

170



171

Appendix 4



172



CABINET

Report of: Councillor Matthew Lee
The Leader of the Council

Report to:

Date:

Subject:

Cabinet

6 September 2018

Matters referred to Cabinet by the Council or 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees since 12 July  
2018 (LDS310)

Decision
Proposal:

Report for information 

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Member:

Councillor Matthew Lee, the Leader of the Council

Report author:

Reviewed by:

Signed off by:

Approved for 
publication

Jo Toomey, Principal Democracy Officer
Tel: 01476 40 61 52 E-mail: j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk
Date: 16 August 2018

Margaret Welton, Senior Research and Support Assistant
Tel: 01476 406415    
Email: margaret.welton@southkesteven.gov.uk
Date: 22 August 2018

Lucy Youles, Solicitor to the Council 
Tel: 01476 40 61 05 E-mail: l.youles@southkesteven.gov.uk 
Date: 22 August 2018

Councillor Matthew Lee, the Leader of the Council
Date: 22 August 2018 

SUMMARY

This report highlights any matters referred to the Cabinet by the Council or by the 
Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committees since the Cabinet’s last meeting on 12 
July 2018, as set out in Appendix A.

173

Agenda Item 7



RECOMMENDATION

It is recommended that the Cabinet notes the contents of the report and the matters 
referred to in Appendix A.

1. BACKGROUND TO REPORT

Council:

1.1      Any matters referred by Council to the Cabinet at the last meeting of Council 
are contained in Appendix A. 

Overview and Scrutiny Committees:

1.2 The Council operates the Executive decision-making arrangements as set out 
in the Local Government Act 2000, which means it is required to have at least 
one scrutiny committee in place. The Council currently has five Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees. They meet regularly (and may hold additional meetings 
as necessary) to discuss items within their remit.  

1.3 Any recommendations made, or an overview of the topics discussed, by the 
Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committees since the last meeting of Cabinet 
are contained in Appendix A.

1.4 Where an Overview and Scrutiny Committee has met after the publication of 
this Cabinet agenda, any outstanding recommendations to the Cabinet will be 
provided in an addendum to the Cabinet meeting or a synopsis provided with 
the agenda for the next Cabinet meeting depending on the timing of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting.

2. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 This report is a standing item on the agenda for meetings of the Cabinet. No 
other options were considered.

3. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 There are no resource implications arising from this report.

4. RISK AND MITIGATION 

4.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report and no specific high risks were 
identified in its production. 

5. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS (EQUALITY, SAFEGUARDING 
etc.)

5.1 This report draws together any matters referred to the Cabinet from Council 
and the recommendations that have been made by all of the Council’s 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees. Where appropriate, impact analysis is 

174



carried out as part of the development process and presented to Cabinet when 
it receives the final reports. 

6. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

6.1 None.

7. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

7.1 There are no financial comments arising from this report.

8. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

8.1 This report offers the Cabinet an opportunity to consider matters which have 
been raised by other Members at meetings of the Council and committees that 
operate within the executive function of the Council.

9. COMMENTS OF OTHER RELEVANT SERVICES 

9.1 None

10. APPENDICES

 Appendix A: Matters referred from Council (Part 1) and Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees (Part 2) 

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS

11.1 None

175



Appendix A

MATTERS REFERRED FROM COUNCIL AND OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEES

Part 1: Matters referred from Council
There are no matters referred by Council to Cabinet on this occasion.

Part 2: Matters referred from Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees

Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Date of Meeting: 31 July 2018
Chairman of Meeting: Councillor Ray Wootten

The items discussed at that meeting and referred to Cabinet are summarised below.

Lincolnshire Health and Wellbeing Strategy

Considerations

 A presentation on the Lincolnshire Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy
 Requirements under the health and Social Care Act 2012
 The processes undertaken in the development of the strategy
 Workshops held with member organizations of the Health and Wellbeing Board 

which had led to the development of 7 priority areas
 The aims of the strategy to provide a focus on prevention and early intervention 

Outcomes

 That a joint workshop should be arranged at a future date to look at the 
deprived areas in Wards in order to try to determine areas where future 
resources might be focused

 The Committee agreed it wanted to receive an update on progress in six-
months time

Recommendations

 None

Links to relevant papers 

 None

176



Community Cohesion

Considerations

 A verbal update delivered by the Community Engagement and Policy 
Development Officer

 The outcome of a visit to Boston Borough Council to gain more information 
about its bid for Controlling Migration funding

 Information on the Integrated Communities Innovation Fund

Recommendations

The Committee considered the benefits of accessing the Integrated Communities 
Innovation Fund but was of the opinion that a better option would be to make further 
enquiries about the funding from the Controlling Migration Fund.  

Links to relevant papers 

 None

Housing Policies (Mutual Exchange, Assignment and Succession)

Considerations

 Report HSG133 of the Cabinet Member for Housing outlining proposals to 
enhance the implementation process for mutual exchanges, assignment and 
succession

 Information on the number of applications received in respect of mutual 
exchange

 Administration of mutual exchange was costly and time-consuming – legislation 
required that a decision be reached on each application within 42 days

 Research into other local authorities and whether they charged an application 
fee for mutual exchanges  

Recommendations

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee recommended the Mutual Exchange Policy and 
Procedures, the Assignment Policy and Procedures and the Succession Policy and 
Procedures to Cabinet for approval. It also recommended that delegated authority 
should be granted to the Cabinet Member for Housing regarding decisions about any 
administration fee, the refunding of such fees and approving minor changes in the 
documents and that the officers should consider and agree each application on a case 
by case basis.

Links to relevant papers 

 HSG134:
 
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20911/Communities%20an

177

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20911/Communities%20and%20Wellbeing%20OSC%20signed%20report%20for%2031%2007%202018.pdf


d%20Wellbeing%20OSC%20signed%20report%20for%2031%2007%202018.p
df 

 HSG134, Appendix 1
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20915/MEX%20policy%20
DRAFT%20for%20OSC%2031.7.2018.pdf 

 HSG134, Appendix 2
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20914/Assignment%20Poli
cy%20and%20Procedures%20DRAFT%20for%20OSC%2031.07.2018.pdf 

 HSG134, Appendix 3
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20916/Succession%20Poli
cy%20Procedures%20DRAFT%20for%20OSC%2031.07.2018.pdf 

 HSG134, Appendix 4a
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20912/EIA%20-
%20Assignment%20and%20Succession%20policies%20OSC%2031.07.2018.p
df 

 HSG134, Appendix 4b
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20913/EIA%20-
%20MEX%20policy%20OSC%2031.07.2018.pdf 

Data Protection Policy

Considerations

 Report number LDS307 of the Deputy Leader of the Council
 Updates the Data Protection legislation that were enacted on 23 May 2018
 The draft Data Protection Policy and supporting documents attached as 

appendices to the report

Recommendations

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee recommends that Cabinet approve the draft 
Data Protection Policy and Appendices

Links to relevant papers 

 LDS307
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20960/K-
%20SKDC%20DPP%20REPORT%20FINAL%20DRAFT%20APPROVED.pdf 

 LDS307, Appendix 1
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20961/1.DPP%20DRAFT.
pdf 

 LDS307, Appendix 2
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20970/2%20Right%20of%
20Subject%20Access%20FINAL.pdf 

 LDS307, Appendix 3
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20963/3%20Procedure%2
0for%20Undertaking%20a%20Data%20Protection%20Impact%20Assessment
%20FINAL.pdf 

 LDS307, Appendix 4

178

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20911/Communities%20and%20Wellbeing%20OSC%20signed%20report%20for%2031%2007%202018.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20911/Communities%20and%20Wellbeing%20OSC%20signed%20report%20for%2031%2007%202018.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20915/MEX%20policy%20DRAFT%20for%20OSC%2031.7.2018.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20915/MEX%20policy%20DRAFT%20for%20OSC%2031.7.2018.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20914/Assignment%20Policy%20and%20Procedures%20DRAFT%20for%20OSC%2031.07.2018.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20914/Assignment%20Policy%20and%20Procedures%20DRAFT%20for%20OSC%2031.07.2018.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20916/Succession%20Policy%20Procedures%20DRAFT%20for%20OSC%2031.07.2018.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20916/Succession%20Policy%20Procedures%20DRAFT%20for%20OSC%2031.07.2018.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20912/EIA%20-%20Assignment%20and%20Succession%20policies%20OSC%2031.07.2018.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20912/EIA%20-%20Assignment%20and%20Succession%20policies%20OSC%2031.07.2018.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20912/EIA%20-%20Assignment%20and%20Succession%20policies%20OSC%2031.07.2018.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20913/EIA%20-%20MEX%20policy%20OSC%2031.07.2018.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20913/EIA%20-%20MEX%20policy%20OSC%2031.07.2018.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20960/K-%20SKDC%20DPP%20REPORT%20FINAL%20DRAFT%20APPROVED.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20960/K-%20SKDC%20DPP%20REPORT%20FINAL%20DRAFT%20APPROVED.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20961/1.DPP%20DRAFT.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20961/1.DPP%20DRAFT.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20970/2%20Right%20of%20Subject%20Access%20FINAL.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20970/2%20Right%20of%20Subject%20Access%20FINAL.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20963/3%20Procedure%20for%20Undertaking%20a%20Data%20Protection%20Impact%20Assessment%20FINAL.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20963/3%20Procedure%20for%20Undertaking%20a%20Data%20Protection%20Impact%20Assessment%20FINAL.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20963/3%20Procedure%20for%20Undertaking%20a%20Data%20Protection%20Impact%20Assessment%20FINAL.pdf


http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20964/4%20SKDC%20Pri
vacy%20Notice%20FINAL.pdf 

 LDS307, Appendix 5
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20965/5%20Procedure%2
0for%20reporting%20Information%20Security%20Breaches%20Data%20Prote
ction%20Breaches%20and%20Card%20Data%20Secur.pdf 

 LDS307, Appendix 6
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20966/6%20Protocol%20f
or%20protecting%20personal%20data%20FINAL.pdf 

 LDS307, Appendix 7
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20967/7%20Information%
20Governance%20Guidance%20FINAL.pdf 

Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Date of Meeting: 10 July 2018
Chairman of Meeting: Councillor Linda Wootten

The items discussed at that meeting and referred to Cabinet are summarised below.

Easton Walled Garden – Diversification and broadening the visitor appeal

Considerations

 Presentation delivered by Lady Ursula Cholmeley
 A video that had been taken on the estate
 The history of Easton Hall
 An overview of opportunities that could be explored to add to the sustainability 

of the estate

Recommendations/Outcomes

 None

Links to relevant papers 

 None

Cultural Strategy

Considerations

 Report iSK003 which provided a progress report on the development of the 
Cultural Strategy

 Workshops in which the Committee had been involved that identified four key 
strands

 Proposed next steps to undertake a series of workshop/experience days across 
the district

179

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20964/4%20SKDC%20Privacy%20Notice%20FINAL.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20964/4%20SKDC%20Privacy%20Notice%20FINAL.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20965/5%20Procedure%20for%20reporting%20Information%20Security%20Breaches%20Data%20Protection%20Breaches%20and%20Card%20Data%20Secur.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20965/5%20Procedure%20for%20reporting%20Information%20Security%20Breaches%20Data%20Protection%20Breaches%20and%20Card%20Data%20Secur.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20965/5%20Procedure%20for%20reporting%20Information%20Security%20Breaches%20Data%20Protection%20Breaches%20and%20Card%20Data%20Secur.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20966/6%20Protocol%20for%20protecting%20personal%20data%20FINAL.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20966/6%20Protocol%20for%20protecting%20personal%20data%20FINAL.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20967/7%20Information%20Governance%20Guidance%20FINAL.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20967/7%20Information%20Governance%20Guidance%20FINAL.pdf


 A funding allocation of £250,000 that had been included in the budget for 
outreach, promotional work and commissioning, including work on the Cultural 
Strategy

 The engagement of businesses with cultural projects, e.g. Stamford Georgian 
Festival

Outcomes

 Agreement from the Committee that it was happy with the proposed options for 
the delivery of the programme for public engagement

Links to relevant papers 

 iSK003
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20777/Culture%20OSC%2
0Cultural%20Strategy%20Report%20Final.pdf 

Market Towns

Considerations

 A presentation delivered by the Head of Market Towns
 The re-launch of Grantham market
 Opportunities to learn from successful markets in other parts of the country

Recommendations/Outcomes

 None

Links to relevant papers 

 None

Visitor Economy progress

Considerations

 A presentation from the Head of Visitor Economy
 Statistics  taken from the 2016 Scarborough Tourism Economic Activity Monitor 

about South Kesteven’s visitor economy
 Information related to the types of people who visit the district and where they 

went
 The range of visitor economy attractions within the district including gardens, 

heritage and historical sites and churches
 The purchase of a promotional trailer and a pop-up marquee 
 An update on the current situation regarding a market in Market Deeping

Recommendations/Outcomes

 None

180

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20777/Culture%20OSC%20Cultural%20Strategy%20Report%20Final.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20777/Culture%20OSC%20Cultural%20Strategy%20Report%20Final.pdf


Links to relevant papers 

 None

Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee

There are no matters referred by Council to Cabinet on this occasion.

Growth Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Date of Meeting: 25 July 2018
Chairman of Meeting: Councillor Robert Reid

Q4 Financial outturn 2017/18

Considerations

 Report number CFM467 of the Cabinet Member for Finance providing details of 
the Council’s outturn position for the 2017/18 financial year

 Approval by the Governance and Audit Committee of the Revenue and Capital 
Outturn report and associated appendices for 2017/18 including setasides, 
reserves and slippages from the 2017/18 Capital Programme

 Information on variances made to the 2017/18 Budget

Outcomes

 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee to keep disabled facilities grants under 
review

 To receive an update on markets at a future meeting of the Committee
 To receive an update on house fire alarms, re-wiring and accessibility at a 

future meeting of the Committee
 That the Committee be kept informed of the options around the repayment of 

the Housing Revenue Account loan
 That the headcount report should be circulated to the Growth Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee going forward

Recommendations:

 None

Links to relevant papers 

 CFM467
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20926/CFM467%20outturn
%20Growth%20OSC.pdf 

 CFM467, Appendix 1
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20927/CFM467appendix%
20-%20amended%20V3.pdf 

181

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20926/CFM467%20outturn%20Growth%20OSC.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20926/CFM467%20outturn%20Growth%20OSC.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20927/CFM467appendix%20-%20amended%20V3.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20927/CFM467appendix%20-%20amended%20V3.pdf


Q1 Financial Outturn 2018/19

Considerations

 Report number CFM462 of the Cabinet Member for Finance which provided a 
summary of the financial position on 30 June 2018 against the original budget 
for 2018/19

 Opportunities to increase investment income
 Variance information for the period covered by the report

Outcomes

 That the Committee receives an update on the retail units at Wherry’s Lane, 
Bourne and any interest in them at its next meeting

 That the Committee receives and update on homelessness at its next meeting

Recommendations

That following a review of the figures contained report CFM462 further information on 
the following topics:

 Update on the retail units at Wherry’s Lane, Bourne
 Update on homelessness
 The forecast budget outturn to be circulated at the next meeting
 Car parking update
 A copy of the headcount to be circulated
 Performance monitoring to be produced for this committee

The Committee noted that officers continued to identify actions and take measures to 
effectively manage the overall budget and reduce the impact of any adverse projected 
pressures that may result in overspends

Links to relevant papers 

 CFM462
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20990/CFM459%20outturn
%20v4%20docx.pdf 

Invest SK – Articles of Association and Memorandum of Understanding

Considerations

 Report number iSK004 of the Cabinet Member for Growth and Communications 
on the Articles of Association and Memorandum of Understanding for InvestSK 
including its associated performance management framework

 Formation of InvestSK by Cabinet at its meeting on 10 May 2018
 The outcome of the call-in meeting of the Growth Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee held on 29 May 2019

Recommendations

182

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20990/CFM459%20outturn%20v4%20docx.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20990/CFM459%20outturn%20v4%20docx.pdf


That the Articles of Association and the Memorandum of Understanding and its 
associated Performance Management Framework are agreed to be adopted and that 
the Cabinet Member for Growth and Communications lodge the Articles of Association 
at Companies House as delegated by Cabinet having regard to the comments raised 
by Members around the Advisory Committee and that the mechanisms referred to in 
the Memorandum of Understanding are put in place for reporting back to the Growth 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee in relation to InvestSK

Links to relevant papers 

 iSK004
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20946/Report%20to%20Gr
owth%20OSC%20-%20iSK%20Articles%20and%20MOU%20250718.pdf 

 iSK004, Appendix 1

 iSK004, Appendix 2
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20947/Appendix%201%20
INVEST%20SK%20Certificate%20of%20Incorporation.pdf 

 iSK004, Appendix 3
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20948/Appendix%202%20
INVEST%20SK%20-%20Model%20Articles%20of%20Association.pdf 

 iSK004, Appendix 4
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20950/Appendix%204%20
INVEST%20SK%20-%20Tailored%20Articles%20of%20Association.pdf 

 iSK004, Appendix 5
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20951/Appendix%205%20
INVEST%20SK%20-%20Memorandum%20of%20Understanding.pdf 

 iSK004, Appendix 5a
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20952/Appendix%205a%2
0INVEST%20SK%20-%20Performance%20Framework.pdf 

 iSK004, Appendix 6
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20953/Appendix%206%20
INVEST%20SK%20Comparison%20of%20model%20and%20tailored%20Articl
es%20of%20Associ...pdf 

Rural Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Date of Meeting: 4 July 2018
Chairman of Meeting: Councillor Bob Sampson

Rural Economy Insights and Invest SK

Considerations

 A presentation delivered by the Strategic Lead InvestSK on rural economy 
insights

 The importance of place-making in order to develop an environment where 
people would want to recommend an area and revisit

183

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20946/Report%20to%20Growth%20OSC%20-%20iSK%20Articles%20and%20MOU%20250718.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20946/Report%20to%20Growth%20OSC%20-%20iSK%20Articles%20and%20MOU%20250718.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20947/Appendix%201%20INVEST%20SK%20Certificate%20of%20Incorporation.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20947/Appendix%201%20INVEST%20SK%20Certificate%20of%20Incorporation.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20948/Appendix%202%20INVEST%20SK%20-%20Model%20Articles%20of%20Association.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20948/Appendix%202%20INVEST%20SK%20-%20Model%20Articles%20of%20Association.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20950/Appendix%204%20INVEST%20SK%20-%20Tailored%20Articles%20of%20Association.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20950/Appendix%204%20INVEST%20SK%20-%20Tailored%20Articles%20of%20Association.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20951/Appendix%205%20INVEST%20SK%20-%20Memorandum%20of%20Understanding.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20951/Appendix%205%20INVEST%20SK%20-%20Memorandum%20of%20Understanding.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20952/Appendix%205a%20INVEST%20SK%20-%20Performance%20Framework.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20952/Appendix%205a%20INVEST%20SK%20-%20Performance%20Framework.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20953/Appendix%206%20INVEST%20SK%20Comparison%20of%20model%20and%20tailored%20Articles%20of%20Associ...pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20953/Appendix%206%20INVEST%20SK%20Comparison%20of%20model%20and%20tailored%20Articles%20of%20Associ...pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s20953/Appendix%206%20INVEST%20SK%20Comparison%20of%20model%20and%20tailored%20Articles%20of%20Associ...pdf


 The role of heritage regeneration in encouraging visitors
 Visits made to rural areas by InvestSK, which indentified evidence of rural 

business clusters developing outside the four key towns
 The challenge in respect of digital connectivity
 Work being undertaken by InvestSK in respect of skills and education
 Opportunities identified as an initial way forward to develop the rural economy

Outcomes

Recommendations

 None

Links to relevant papers 

 None

184



CABINET

Report of: Councillor Matthew Lee
The Leader of the Council

Report to:

Date:

Subject:

Cabinet

6 September 2018

Decisions taken by individual Cabinet Members 
(LDS311)

Decision
Proposal:

Report for information

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Member:

Councillor Matthew Lee, the Leader of the Council

Report author:

Reviewed by:

Signed off by:

Approved for 
publication

Jo Toomey, Principal Democracy Officer
Tel: 01476 40 61 52 E-mail: j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk 
Date: 15 August 2018

Margaret Welton, Senior Research and Support Assistant
Tel: 01476 40 64 15 E-mail: 
margaret.welton@southkesteven.gov.uk
Date: 22 August 2018

Lucy Youles, Solicitor to the Council
Tel: 01476 40 61 05 E-mail: l.youles@southkesteven.gov.uk
Date: 22 August 2018

Councillor Matthew Lee, the Leader of the Council
Date: 22 August 2018

SUMMARY

This report provides an overview of decisions taken by individual Cabinet Members 
since the last meeting of the Cabinet on 12 July 2018.

185

Agenda Item 8



RECOMMENDATION

It is recommended that the Cabinet notes the decisions (detailed in Appendix A and 
Appendix B to report LDS311) taken by individual Cabinet Members in the period since 
the last Cabinet meeting held on 12 July 2018.

1. BACKGROUND TO REPORT

1.1 Under the strong Leader model of governance the Leader can allocate 
decision-making power to the Cabinet and individual Cabinet Members. 
Decisions of the Cabinet will be made during Cabinet meetings while individual 
Cabinet Members may make decisions at any time in accordance with the 
relevant regulations.

1.2 All of the decisions made by individual Cabinet Members since the Cabinet last 
met are attached as appendices to this report. Both the report on which the 
decision was based and the decision notice are attached. 

1.3 Since the Cabinet met on 12 July 2018 the following decisions have been 
made:

 Food and Health and Safety Work Plan 2018/19
Non-key decision taken by the Cabinet Member for Environment on 16 
July 2018 
Date decision effective: 25 July 2018
Report ENV699 and decision notice attached as Appendix A

 Approval (subject to consultation) of a proposed new lease with 
Stamford Bridge Club for the extension of their existing parking 
area
Non-key decision taken by the Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for 
Business Transformation and Commissioning on 31 July 2018 
Date decision effective: 11 August 2018
Report PD0080 and decision notice attached as Appendix B

1.4 At each Cabinet meeting, Members will be updated on any individual Cabinet 
Member decisions made after the publication of the agenda. 

2. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 This report has been introduced as a standing item on the agenda for meetings 
of the Cabinet. Information on the individual Cabinet Member decisions taken 
during the period covered by this report will be published as part of the agenda 
for the next full Council meeting. No other options were considered.

3. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 There are no resource implications arising from this report.

186



4. RISK AND MITIGATION 

4.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report and no specific high risks were 
identified in the production of this report.  

5. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS (EQUALITY, SAFEGUARDING 
etc.)

5.1 This report provides an overview of decisions that have been made. Where 
appropriate impact analysis will have been undertaken on the reports on which 
decisions are based.

6. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

6.1 None

7. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

7.1 There are no financial comments arising from this report.

8. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

8.1 The provisions relating to the Cabinet, its Members and delegations by the 
Leader are as set out at Article 8 of the Constitution. The Strong Leader and 
Cabinet model to carry out executive functions was adopted by the Council in 
accordance with the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 
2007 and the Local Democracy, Economic Regeneration and Construction Act 
2009.

9. COMMENTS OF OTHER RELEVANT SERVICES 

9.1 None

10. APPENDICES

 Appendix A: Food and Health and Safety Work Plan 2018/19
 Appendix B: Approval (subject to consultation) of a proposed new lease 

with Stamford Bridge Club for the extension of their existing parking 
area

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS

11.1 None; relevant background papers are listed on the report for each decision.

187



This page is intentionally left blank



NON KEY DECISION:
REPORT TO CABINET MEMBER

DECISION TO BE TAKEN BY: Councillor Dr Moseley
Cabinet Member for Environment

REPORT AUTHOR: Head of Environmental

REPORT NO. ENV699

DATE: 9th July 2018 

SUBJECT OF
NON KEY
DECISION:

Food and Health and Safety Work Plan 2018/19

CABINET 
MEMBER REMIT: Environment

CRIME AND 
DISORDER 
IMPLICATIONS:

No applicable 

FREEDOM OF 
INFORMATION 
ACT 
IMPLICATIONS:

This report is publicly available on the Council’s website 
www.southkesteven.gov.uk via your Council and Democracy 
link

INITIAL EQUALITY 
IMPACT 
ASSESSMENT

Carried out and appended 
to report?

Not Applicable

Full impact assessment 
required?

No
BACKGROUND 
PAPERS:

Report number ENV695 to Environment Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, 20 June 2018   
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx
?CId=630&MId=3659&Ver=4 

(1) PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 To present the draft Food and Health and Safety Work Plan 2018/19 for 
approval.

189

Appendix A

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=630&MId=3659&Ver=4
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=630&MId=3659&Ver=4


(2) RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 It is recommended that the Work Plan for Food and Health and Safety 
Enforcement for 2018/19 be approved.

(3) REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)
(including any alternative options considered and rejected)

3.1 The Food Standards Agency (FSA) requires each Local Authority to produce 
an annual Food Work Plan in accordance with the guidelines set out in the 
Agency’s Framework Agreement on Local Authority Food Law Enforcement.  
This document dictates the structure and content of the work plan. 

3.2 The FSA use the information contained in the plan to assess the Council’s 
delivery of the service and compare performance against other authorities. 
The FSA has powers to take over the management of the food service from 
local authorities who fail to meet performance standards.

3.3 The Work Plan is predominantly produced to satisfy the requirements of the 
FSA, but also demonstrates how the Council will comply with the Health and 
Safety Executive (HSE) National Local Authority Enforcement Code and 
incorporates work undertaken on other associated activities, including 
infectious disease control and regulation of private water supplies. 

3.4 The Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee considered the draft Food 
and Health and Safety Work Plan 2018/19 at their meeting on 20 June 2018 
and recommended to the Cabinet Member for Environment that the Work Plan 
is approved.

(4) COMMENTS FROM FINANCIAL SERVICES 

4.1 The facilitation and delivery of the attached work plan can be met from 
budgetary resources allocated in the 2018/19 budget framework.  The focus of 
the delivery will also include cost recovery through the introduction of new 
discretionary charges where possible in order to embrace the commercial 
aspects of the new Corporate Strategy.

(5) COMMENTS FROM LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

5.1 The Council is required under the FSA Framework Agreement and the HSE 
National Local Authority Enforcement Code to produce a work plan for food 
and health and safety enforcement.

5.2 Failure to provide and publish this document contravenes Health and Safety 
Executive and FSA requirements and would result in a breach of duty. 

190



5.3 The work plan is an essential performance management and review document 
and shows the commitment of the Council to food law and health and safety 
enforcement as required by legislation.

(6) APPENDICIES

6.1 Appendix 1 – Draft Food and Health and Safety Work Plan 2018/19

(7) OFFICER CONTACT

Anne-Marie Coulthard
Head of Environmental 
a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk
Tel: 01476 406319

(8) DATE DECISION EFFECTIVE:
If decision taken on 16th July 2018 date effective will be 25th July 2018.

191

mailto:a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1
193



2

Contents
1.1 Service aims and objectives ....................................................................3
1.2 Links to corporate objectives and strategies .................................................3
1.3 Links to other Council functions ................................................................3
2. Review of 2017/2018 and estimated work for 2018/2019.....................................4
2.1 Food ................................................................................................4
2.2 Infectious Disease Investigation (ID) ..........................................................4
2.4 Private Water Supply Regulation (PWS)......................................................5
2.5 Enforcement during 2017/18 ...................................................................5
2.6 Performance indicators 2017/18 ...............................................................6
2.7 Variations from the 2017/18 Work Plan .......................................................6
3. Background ..........................................................................................8
3.1 Authority Profile...................................................................................8
3.2 Organisational Structure.........................................................................8
3.3 Scope of the Service .............................................................................9
3.4  Accessing the service ...........................................................................9
3.5 Enforcement policy .............................................................................10
4. Service Delivery ...................................................................................11
4.1 Programmed Work .............................................................................11
4.2 Non programmed work ........................................................................15
5. Resources ..........................................................................................18
5.1 Financial .........................................................................................18
5.2 Staffing allocation...............................................................................19
5.3 Staff training and development ...............................................................19
5.4 Quality assessment ............................................................................19
Appendix 1 Programmed food safety intervention work for 2018/2019 ....................20

194



3

1. Introduction

The purpose of the work plan is to set out how the Council delivers official controls and fulfils 
its duties under food safety, health and safety, public health and drinking water legislation.

It is based on the elements required by the Food Standards Agency Framework Agreement, 
but covers all areas work undertaken by the Environmental Health, Commercial Team.

1.1 Service aims and objectives

The food and health and safety functions make an important contribution towards making the 
district a healthy place to live, work and visit.

The work of the service:

 Supports the economy and business growth in South Kesteven
 Protects and enhances the local environment
 Ensures the effective control of risks to the safety, health and wellbeing of our residents 
 Ensures a proportionate, risk-based, targeted approach to enforcement while 

supporting businesses

1.2 Links to corporate objectives and strategies

As detailed in the Council’s Corporate Strategy 2018-2025, the core strategic goal is to 
achieve complete and sustainable financial autonomy by 2025 through commissioning 
services that are relevant to our community and valued by those who use them. 

This work plan supports the ambition to become a modern, agile and commercially competitive 
Council.  Providing additional chargeable services that support food businesses to start up, 
grow and achieve their potential, while continuing to deliver our core statutory functions in the 
efficient and effective way. 

1.3 Links to other Council functions

The work of the Commercial Team links with other services. Some key areas include:

Development Management and Planning Policy

Economic growth and the success of businesses is vital for our thriving district.  Working with 
new businesses in the early planning stages can help to avoid potential future problems.

Licensing 

The Council licences a wide range of premises for late night refreshment (serving hot food 
and drinks between 11pm and 5am). The Commercial team support this work, checking 
licenses during inspections and commenting on licence applications. 

195



4

2. Review of 2017/2018 and estimated work for 2018/2019

2.1 Food

PROGRAMMED WORK Estimated 
2017/18

Actual 2017/18 Estimated
2018/19

High risk (Cat A-
C) 165 158 173

Medium risk (Cat 
D) 199 204 267Food 

interventions 
Low risk (E and 
outside) 146 147 226

High risk (Cat A-
C) N/A 3 0

Medium risk (Cat 
D) N/A 0 0Outstanding 

interventions 
Low risk (E and 
outside) 5 0

Food and environmental sampling 5 4 5
Export audit visits 6 7 0

NON-PROGRAMMED WORK Estimated 
2017/18

Actual 
2017/18

Estimated
2018/19

Food interventions 75 125 125
Revisits 110 90 100
Advice 40 55 60
Investigations 60 55 60
Business advice 125 124 125
Complaints 150 129 130
Other requests 215 186 190

General 

New registration 50 82 85
Enquiries 10 4 10
Re-score revisits 10 13 10
Appeal requests 1 1 1

Food hygiene 
rating scheme 
(FHRS)

Right to reply 1 0 1

2.2 Infectious Disease Investigation (ID)

NON-PROGRAMMED WORK Estimated 
2017/18

Actual 2017/18 Estimated 
2018/19

Official notification 190 224 200
Unofficial notification 40 34 45
Investigations 50 36 40
Visits 5 0 5

196



5

2.3 Health and Safety

PROGRAMMED WORK Estimated 
2017/18

Actual 
2017/18

Estimated 
2018/19

High risk 
premises 1 1 1

Skin piercing 42 32 20H&S 
interventions Liquefied 

Petroleum Gas 
project

1 1 N/A

NON-PROGRAMMED WORK Estimated 
2017/18

Actual 
2017/18

Estimated 
2018/19

H&S  inspections 5 3 5
Revisits 10 12 10
Advice 5 6 5
Investigations 35 15 20
Complaints 25 20 25
Other requests 55 55 50

General

Smoke free 10 3 5
Enquiries 70 59 65
Complaints 5 1 5Skin Piercers
New skin piercing 
registrations 10 10 20

Reported 100 78 80
Investigated 
(No visit) 4 10Accidents

Investigated (Visit)
20

14 10

2.4 Private Water Supply Regulation (PWS)

Estimated 
2017/18

Actual     
2017/18

Estimated 
2018/19

PROGRAMMED WORK
Risk assessment visits 5 2 41
Sampling visits 20 15 26
NON-PROGRAMMED WORK
Service requests 35 23 25

2.5 Enforcement during 2017/18

Discipline Improvement Notice Voluntary 
Closure

Prohibition 
Notice

Simple 
Caution

Prosecution 
completed

Food 14 1 0 0 1
H&S 6 0 0 0 0
PWS 1 N/A 0 0 0

197



6

2.6 Performance indicators 2017/18

Ref No PI Description Target (%) Achieved (%)
OB09 Food premises that are broadly 

compliant (rated 3 or above in FHRS) 95 98.5

KOMD15 Planned high risk food safety 
interventions completed 99 95

KOMD16 Planned medium risk food safety 
interventions completed 95 100

SK641 Planned low risk food safety 
interventions completed 75 79.5

SK670 Premises inspected that improved 
FHRS rating or maintained a 5 rating 70 86.5

2.7 Variations from the 2017/18 Work Plan 

Staffing

Following the retirement of an environmental health officer, the full time equivalent (FTE) of 
the team reduced by 0.4.  The FSA’s ‘Regulating Our Future’ programme (expected by 2020) 
has the potential to introduce far-reaching changes to the food inspection regime. The impact 
of these changes on work streams is unknown at this stage but it is considered that it is not 
currently necessary to directly replace this post. 

The commercial team leader also retired, there was a two month period when this post was 
vacant prior to the new team leader taking up the post in August.  

The technical support for the team reduced from 1FTE to 0.6 FTE for period of 5 months due 
to a secondment.  During this period it was evident that this was insufficient and the post was 
subsequently backfilled.

Food Safety

One prosecution was undertaken during 2017/18, a further case was prepared but heard in 
2018/19.  These are resource intensive both in terms of ensuring the premises are improved 
and in bringing the cases to court. 

Prosecution
A public house with restaurant was successfully prosecuted following a serious mouse 
infestation which was found during a routine inspection. The business was fined £900 plus 
£90 surcharge.  The Council was awarded £5000 in costs.   

Out of date food
During a routine inspection, a small retail outlet was found to be offering for sale high risk food 
that had gone beyond its use by date. Despite having been served with a formal Hygiene 
Improvement Notice requiring robust stock rotation processes to be in place the issues 
continued. Following a customer complaint, further out of date food was found. This case was 
presented to the magistrate’s court in 2018/19. 

198



7

Voluntary Closure 
A village fish and chip shop closed its doors voluntarily after officers found unsatisfactory 
conditions and poor management of food safety. Officers have since worked with the business 
owner to bring about improvements.

Health and Safety

Breaches of food safety legislation were identified alongside potential matters of concern 
relating to compliance with health and safety during a routine food hygiene inspection a hotel.  
This is still under investigation.

Private Water Supply Regulation 

Due to the additional enforcement work undertaken during the year the risk assessment 
programme for private water supplies fell behind schedule.  Water sampling activity continued, 
ensuring that any issues or imminent risks were identified. Staff resource has been reallocated 
to ensure that the risk assessment review is progressed during 2018/19 with a view to this 
being on schedule by year end. 

199



8

3. Background

3.1 Authority Profile

South Kesteven is a mixed urban and rural economy with four main population centres at 
Grantham, Stamford, Bourne and Market Deeping.

As at the 2011 census the population was 133,788.  The overall population size is projected 
to increase to 151,000 by the year 2021, mainly through a net increase in international and 
internal migration as well as usual population growth.  Approximately 95% of the population is 
described as white ethnic. 

3.2 Organisational Structure

The Council consists of 56 Elected Members with a significant Conservative majority.  The 
Cabinet consists of 9 Members, with 1 Cabinet Member holding the portfolio for Environment, 
this includes food hygiene and health and safety. 

The Environmental Health Service is delivered as part of the Council’s Commercial and 
Operational directorate. 

Chief Executive

Strategic 
Director 

Commercial and 
Operational

 Assistant 
Director 

Commercial and 
Operational

Head of Street 
Scene 

Head of 
Environmental 

Team Leader 
Commercial

(1 FTE)

Environmental 
Health Officers

(1.8 FTE)

Food, Health & 
Safety Officers  

(2FTE)

Technical 
Support Officer 

(1 FTE)

Team Leader 
Private Sector 
Housing & Env. 

Protection

Team Leader 
Neighbourhoods

East Midlands 
Buildng Control

Strategic 
Director

Resources

Strategic 
Director 
Growth

200



9

3.3 Scope of the Service

The Commercial Team within Environmental Health Services provides a comprehensive 
service which includes food safety, health and safety enforcement, infectious disease 
investigation and the regulation of private water supplies. 

Provision is made for external specialist services laboratory services:

Provision Laboratory
Food Examiner Public Health England Food, Water and Environmental 

Microbiology Laboratory, York
Public Analyst Eurofins, Public Analyst Scientific Services, 

Wolverhampton
Private water supply testing ALS Environmental Ltd, Coventry

3.4  Accessing the Service

The Commercial Team is based at the Council Offices in Grantham.  Customers may also visit 
customer services at area offices in Bourne, Stamford and Market Deeping as detailed below.

Office Opening Times
Grantham
Address:
St Peters Hill
Grantham
Lincolnshire
NG31 6PZ

Monday, Tuesday and Thursday - 8.45 to 17.15

Wednesday - 8.45 to 16.00

Friday - 8.45 to 16.45

Stamford
Address:
1 Maiden Lane
Stamford
Lincolnshire
PE9 2AZ

Monday, Tuesday and Wednesday - 9.00 to 17.00

Thursday - 9.00 to 15.30

Friday - 9.00 to 16.30

Bourne
Address:
3 Abbey Road
Bourne
Lincolnshire
PE10 9EF              

Monday, Wednesday, Friday - 9.00 to 17.00

Tuesday, Thursday - 9.00 to 18.00

Saturday - 10.00 to 13.00

Market Deeping
Address:
Deepings Community Centre
Douglas Road
Market Deeping
Peterborough
PE6 8PA  

Monday to Friday - 9:30 to 14.00

201



10

Contact Details 

 Office hours 01476 40 60 80

 Out of hours emergencies 01476 59 00 44

 E-mail healthy@southkesteven.gov.uk

 Website www.southkesteven.gov.uk

3.5 Enforcement policy

The Council is committed to the Principles of Good Enforcement and the Regulators’ Code.  
Enforcement will be undertaken in accordance with the Council’s Corporate Enforcement and 
Environmental Services Enforcement Policies.   The policy was updated in February 2017 and 
is published on the Council’s website. 

202

mailto:healthy@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/


11

4. Service Delivery

4.1 Programmed Work

Food Hygiene

Whilst it is primarily the responsibility of the food business to control risks and identify food 
hazards, food premises inspections aim to establish whether food is being handled and 
produced hygienically, assess the effectiveness of controls and identify contraventions.    All 
programmed food safety interventions are undertaken in accordance with the Food Law Code 
of Practice.  

Food premises will be visited during normal trading hours, however, due to the nature of some 
businesses this may be outside of normal office hours.  Prior notice of inspections is not 
normally given, although exceptions may be made for some premises in order that key 
personnel may be available.  

A range of interventions may be utilised in accordance with the Code of Practice.  These can 
be either official or unofficial controls.

Official controls include:
 Inspections
 Monitoring
 Surveillance
 Verification
 Audits
 Sampling

Unofficial controls include:
 Education
 Advice
 Coaching
 Information and intelligence gathering

The Council participates in the national food hygiene rating scheme in accordance with the 
FSA Brand Standard and ratings are displayed on the FSA website.

Details of the programmed work for 2018/2019 are detailed in Appendix 1.  

Registered food businesses 
In accordance with EC Regulation 852/2004 all businesses that handle food must be 
registered with their local authority.  Premises in South Kesteven are categorised as follows:

Food Premises Type Number %
Primary producers 23 1.7
Manufacturers and packers 38 2.8
Importers and exporters 4 0.3
Distributors and transporters 44 3.2
Retailers 265 19.5
Restaurants and caterers 984 72.5

Total 1358

203



12

Food hygiene interventions
In accordance with the FSA Food Law Code of Practice, at each intervention, a score is given 
to each business to determine the frequency of interventions.  The intervention rating is based 
on assessment of a number of elements: type of food and processing; number and type of 
consumers potentially at risk; current compliance; risk of contamination; confidence in 
management.  Category A businesses pose the highest risk and are inspected more 
frequently, Category E establishments post the lowest risk and are subject to alternative 
interventions.  See Appendix 1 for further information. 

Businesses within the district are categorised as follows:

Risk Category Minimum Inspection Frequency Number %
A (High risk) At least every 6 months 1 0.07
B At least every 12 months 27 1.98
C At least every 18 months 206 15.17
D At least every 24 months 471 34.68
E Programme of alternative 

Interventions every 3 years 551 40.60

Outside 82 6.03
Not yet rated 20 1.47

Total 1358

Premises that achieve an average standard are deemed to be “broadly compliant” with food 
safety requirements.  In 2017/18, 98.5% of premises met this standard.

Food hygiene rating scheme (FHRS)
The Food Hygiene Rating Scheme (FHRS) extends to businesses supplying food directly to 
consumers.  This includes restaurants, cafes, retailers and other places where people eat food 
outside of the home.   The overall aim of the scheme is to reduce the incidence of food borne 
illness and the associated costs of this to the economy.  From a local perspective, the scheme 
helps consumers to make informed choices about places they wish to eat or shop for food, 
and through this encourages businesses to improve hygiene standards.  Ratings are displayed 
on the Food Standards Agency website. 

In South Kesteven, 72% of food businesses are inside the scope of the scheme.   The rating 
depends on the overall level of compliance across three elements; food hygiene procedures, 
cleanliness and structural compliance and confidence in management.  There is currently a 
high level of compliance in the district, with 85.3% of food businesses reaching the maximum 
food hygiene rating of 5, achieving full compliance with food hygiene law.  

FHRS 
Rating

Description Number %

5 Very good 838 85.3
4 Good 100 10.2
3 Generally satisfactory 31 3.2
2 Improvement necessary 6 0.6
1 Major improvement necessary 5 0.5
0 Urgent improvement 

necessary
2 0.2

Total 982

204



13

Approved food premises
Certain food premises involved in the production, handling and storage of products of animal 
origin must be approved under EC Regulation 853/2004.  This legislation requires compliance 
with more detailed hygiene requirements than for registered premises.

Approved premises within the district are categorised as follows:

Food Premises Type Number
School caterers 6
Cold stores 5
Poultry manufacturer 1
Mechanically separated meat 
manufacturer 1

Biltong manufacturer 1
Total 14

Food sampling
Food sampling is an important element of food safety enforcement, providing information 
about the microbiological safety of food which is available within the district.

Sampling will be undertaken in accordance with relevant guidance and may be taken during 
a routine inspection, in response to a complaint or as part of a national sampling programme.  
All officers are expected to undertake a minimum of one sampling exercise per year to 
maintain competency.

Health and Safety

The Council is responsible for enforcing health and safety in approximately 2300 premises in 
the following categories:

 Hotels, campsites and short stay accommodation
 Residential care homes (in conjunction with the Care Quality Commission)
 Catering, restaurants and bars
 Leisure and cultural (e.g. cinemas, places of worship)
 Offices
 Retail shops
 Warehouses
 Consumer services (e.g. hairdressers, tattooists)

Inspections are carried out in accordance with the Health and Safety Executive’s circular LAC 
67/2 (Rev 7) and National Priority Plans.  In practice this comprises programmed inspections 
of the highest risk workplaces alongside targeted projects.  This is in addition to risk-based 
interventions in response to reported accidents, complaints, dangerous occurrences and 
work-related diseases.  Estimated work for 2018/19 is detailed in section 2.3.

Registered skin piercing establishments and piercers
All tattooists, body piercers and semi-permanent make up piercers have previously received 
an annual, unannounced inspection.  However, this is resource intensive and is no longer in 
accordance with circular LAC 67/2 (Rev 7) and National Priority Plans.  Having previously 
concentrated resource in this area, we are able to demonstrate that this sector is not a cause 
for concern in terms of compliance with the law. 

205



14

Skin piercing activities are registered as follows by premises and by individuals:

Premises Type Number %
Semi-permanent make-up 20 19.3
Cosmetic piercing 7 6.7
Electrolysis 12 11.5
Acupuncture 30 28.8
Ear piercing 21 20.2
Tattooist 14 13.4

Total skin piercing premises 
registrations* 104

*Some premises carry out more than one skin piercing activity

Individual Piercer Type Number %
Semi-permanent make-up artist 20 10
Cosmetic piercer 14 7
Electrolysis practitioner 27 13.5
Acupuncturist 49 24.5
Ear piercer 45 22.5
Tattooist 45 22.5

Total 200

Tattoo hygiene rating scheme 
Although tattooists must register as skin piercers, this voluntary scheme was introduced in 
2015 to help customers make informed choices about the premises they use for tattooing. 
Eight out of the fourteen registered tattoo studios have joined the scheme.  Ratings are 
displayed on the Chartered Institute of Environmental Health website.  

Rating Description Number
4 Good 7
3 Very satisfactory 1
2 Satisfactory 0
1 Needs improvement 0

Total 8

Private Water Supplies Regulation (PWS)

Private water supplies may come from a variety of sources, including wells, springs, boreholes 
and streams.  Samples of the water are taken and analysed by an accredited laboratory 
against a range of parameters to determine the wholesomeness. Supplies are risk assessed 
to determine contributory factors that may affect water safety such as the proximity of farm 
animals to the supply or type of treatment system.

Supply Type Number %
Single domestic 25 50
Multiple domestic 5 10
Commercial 20 40
Total Supplies 50

206



15

In addition to the minimum legal sampling requirements, sampling on request is also 
undertaken.   Charges are made in accordance with the fees in Private Water Supplies 
(England) Regulations 2016.

4.2 Non programmed work

Revisits

Following an inspection it may be necessary to carry out a re-visit after an appropriate time to 
check that matters have been attended to or check compliance with any enforcement notices.  
Reasons for re-visits include:

 The nature of the contravention is deemed so serious that if it was not addressed, 
formal action would need to be taken

 The number of minor contraventions is excessive and indicative of poor management 
and/or little confidence in the management addressing the matters

Complaints and service requests

We aim to respond to all complaints and requests for service as soon as possible, but in any 
case requests will be acknowledged within three working days.  Complainants will be advised 
of the outcome of all complaints. 

Anonymous complaints will not usually be investigated unless there is concern about the 
nature of the complaint and/or premises history.

Business owners/managers will be contacted about complaints relating to their premises 
and/or practices, usually by an unannounced visit.

Business advice

We acknowledge that most businesses want to comply with the law and the Commercial Team 
will provide advice and encourage best practice.  Free basic advice is provided to assist 
business in complying with the law.  

Starting in 2018, a package of support aimed at both new business start-ups and existing 
businesses who want improve their food hygiene rating will be introduced alongside the 
Council’s statutory functions.  This support will be chargeable on a cost recovery basis. A 
range of options will be available, including low cost downloadable documents on a range of 
popular topics relevant to a new business along with a bespoke product including a site visit 
and a range of set-up documents to help the business get off to a good start. More information 
is provided in 4.5 below.

Food safety incidents

Food safety alerts notify the public and food authorities of incidents concerning food which 
does not meet food safety or composition standards.  Alerts are received via the FSA alert 
system into the Commercial Team shared e-mail inbox which is monitored during office hours.  
Any alert marked “for action” is referred to the Team Leader to determine the most appropriate 
course of action.

207



16

Health and safety incidents

Health and safety accidents and complaints are investigated in accordance with the Incident 
Selection Criteria Guidance LAC 22/13 (Rev1).

Investigation of outbreaks and infectious diseases

The team work closely with colleagues at Public Health England to identify, control and prevent 
the spread of infectious diseases. 

Notifications of infectious disease are investigated using the East Midlands Public Health 
England Protection Team’s Response to Gastrointestinal and Legionnaires’ disease Matrix.

Complaints about suspected food poisoning are investigated in accordance with the infectious 
disease procedure for multiple cases and outbreaks.  

Primary/home/lead authority principle

South Kesteven does not have any Primary, Home or Lead authority arrangements with 
businesses at this time.

However, as required by the Regulatory Enforcement and Sanctions Act 2008 (as amended) 
and s.67 and 68 of The Enterprise and Regulatory Reform Act 2013, regard is given to the 
Primary Authority Principle when carrying out inspections, investigations and enforcement 
action for food safety and health and safety

Businesses with a Primary Authority partnership are identified on the Environmental Health 
premises database.

Liaison with Other Organisations

In addition to working with other teams within the Council, officers liaise with a number of 
other local authorities, agencies and organisations to facilitate consistent enforcement, share 
good practice and reduce duplication of effort.   These include:

 Lincolnshire Environmental Health Managers Group
 Lincolnshire Food Group
 Lincolnshire Health and Safety Group
 Kesteven Safety Advisory Group
 Food Standards Agency (East Midlands, Yorkshire and Humber Region)
 Health and Safety Executive (Nottingham Region)
 Public Health England

o East Midlands Health Protection Team
o Food Water and Environmental Laboratories York 
o Public Health Laboratory, Birmingham

 Lincolnshire County Council
o Trading Standards
o Fire and Rescue 
o Police
o Highways and Planning

 Drinking Water Inspectorate

208



17

 Anglian Water

Promotional activities 

Education and awareness is a key method of encouraging high standards in businesses 
across the district and informing the public. 

We support FSA media campaigns and Food Safety Week promoting messages through press 
releases, our website, social media and newsletters where resources allow. 

We continue to provide information to assist businesses to comply with legislation and ensure 
the Council’s website is maintained with relevant information.

Press releases are issued following successful prosecutions to act as a deterrent to others 
and inform the public. 

4.3  Looking forward 2018/19

Business Advice and Safer Food Better Business

The service is taking a commercial approach, making sure we utilise the expertise and 
knowledge to help generate income for the Council. Organisations such as the Health and 
Safety Executive and Trading Standards have been charging for advice to businesses; 
increasingly, local authorities are also charging for advice. It is intended that during this year 
we will introduce a range of paid for advice to our businesses starting with food safety and 
potentially progressing to other areas such as health and safety and management systems for 
private water supplies. 

Businesses will still be able to access free information on the Council’s website and basic 
advice to ensure they comply with the law. Alongside this, those who want to improve will be 
able to access ‘pocket guides’ which provide information on a range of topics relevant to food 
safety management via the Council’s website, or receive site visits and bespoke advice about 
the business premises layout and suitability as well as food safety management advice for a 
fee on a cost recovery basis.  It is intended that these services will be rolled out during summer 
2018.

Since 1 April 2018 we have offered printed versions of the FSAs Safer Food Better Business 
pack for a fee.  This document helps food businesses comply with the law and can be freely 
download this from the Food Standards Agency (FSA) website.  However, the length of the 
pack discourages many businesses from doing do so themselves. 

Food Hygiene Rating Scheme

The Food Hygiene Rating Scheme introduced several years ago by the FSA allows 
businesses to apply for a rescore if it has been scored less than 5 and they have made 
necessary improvements. Previously, the cost of a further inspection has been met by the 
local authority, however, the FSA has now allowed local authorities to charge for this 
inspection and from 1st April 2018 a charge has been made for this on a cost recovery basis. 

209



18

Healthy Eating

The Lincolnshire Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy identifies tacking obesity as a priority for 
the Lincolnshire.   Alongside other Districts and Lincolnshire County Council Public Health we 
will consider developing a county-wide scheme to encourage food businesses to promote their 
healthy eating options, helping customers can make an informed choice about what products 
they want to buy.  This is in its infancy but once the proposed scheme has been determined it 
will be presented for Member consideration. 

Food Standards Agency 

Between now and 2020, the FSA plans to implement and deliver a new regulatory model for 
food through its ‘Regulating our Future’ programme.   The FSA aims to modernise the way 
food businesses are regulated, creating a system that is modern, risk-based, proportionate, 
robust and resilient.

It is understood that the programme of transformation is not intended to result in a reduction 
in local authority funding to deliver this key public protection activity.  Rather, the changes will 
over time lead to a different balance of activities at local authority level.  

Although not yet confirmed, it is expected that changes will be needed to accommodate data 
collection changes such as food business registration and new ways of working. The new 
regime is intended to come fully into effect from 2020 onwards, but some changes are likely 
to be introduced later this year. We will keep abreast of these changes by attending meetings 
arranged by the FSA and seek to implement changes in line with any proposed timetable.

5. Resources

5.1 Financial

The cost of providing the Commercial Service is detailed by area:

Discipline Actual 2017/2018 Budget 2018/2019
Food safety 211,775 209,994 
Health and Safety 110,388 100,453 
Water quality 29,010 28,628 
Infectious Diseases 36,195 36,994 

Total 387,367 376,069

The service is resourced sufficiently to operate in the absence of exceptional events or 
demands.  

210



19

5.2 Staffing allocation 

The staff allocation for 2018/19 is as follows:

Areas of Work
FTE Food H&S Infectious 

diseases
Drinking 
water

Team Leader 1    
1    Environmental Health 

Officers (EHO) 0.8    
1    Technical Officers 

(TO) 1    
Technical Support 
Officer (TSO)

1    

The Lead Officer function required by the Food Law Code of Practice is undertaken by the 
Commercial Team Leader.

EHOs hold the Bsc or Msc Environmental Health and are Authorised Officers, competent to 
carry out all levels of official and non-official controls and enforcement for food safety and 
undertake inspections of all approved food premises.

TOs hold the Higher Certificate in Food Premises Inspection and are Authorised Officers with 
restrictions relating to premises closure and seizure and detention of foodstuffs.   

The TSO acts as a Regulatory Support Officer, supporting the work of the Authorised Officers.

EHOs and TOs are competent to undertake the full range of health and safety enforcement 
activities and infectious disease investigation and enforcement.

5.3 Staff training and development

All officers are trained to a level commensurate with the work they undertake.  They receive 
an annual Personal Development Review and regular one to one meetings.  During this 
process consideration is given to Continual Professional Development (CPD) requirements 
for each area of work.

The Food Law Code of Practice requires that local authorities ensure that authorised officers 
receive relevant structured ongoing training.  The minimum requirement is 20 hours CPD per 
year, of which 10 hours must be on core food matters.  Training is provided through a number 
of methods including; short courses, in house training, cascade training, team meetings and 
self-learning.   

5.4 Quality assessment

The Team Leader undertakes random checks of post inspection risk scores and database 
entries, and where risk ratings have changed or FHRS scores have increased/decreased 
dramatically.  Officers are accompanied on selected visits and participate in consistency 
exercises.

A data cleansing exercise is undertaken annually to comply with the Data Protection Act 1988 
and the Council’s data retention policy as well as the General Data Protection Regulations.

211



Appendix 1 Programmed food safety intervention work for 2018/2019

Risk 
category

Intervention 
frequency
(months)

Minimum intervention 
permitted

OFFICIAL 
CONTROLS
Inspections

(High/medium 
risk)

ALTERNATIVE 
INTERVENTIONS

Enforcement 
interventions

(Low risk)

Comments

A 6 Official controls 1 N/A

B 12 Official controls 27 N/A

C 18 Official controls 145 N/A

High risk premises
Many of these businesses will be “broadly uncompliant” 
and require addition officer time to rectify.
May have intrinsic high risks associated with the type of 
food activity and/or poor compliance  

D 24
Alternates between official 

controls and alternative 
interventions 267

Medium risk premises
Premises that prepare, cook or handle open high risk food 
or manufacture or re-wrap high risk foods will be visited 
each time.   All others receive alternate interventions

E 36 Alternative interventions 100 101

Low risk premises
Premises that are low or minimal risk. Selling low risk food 
or not handling open food.  Business with significant 
changes or subject to complaints will be visited

Outside 36 Alternative interventions N/A 25

Not yet rated
Within 28 
days of 

registration
Official controls 16

Initial inspections of new food establishments which 
should normally take place within 28 days of registration or 
from aware in operation (as at 31 March 2018)

Outstanding 
Inspections 

from 
2017/2018

Official controls and/or 
alternative interventions 
dependent on business 

type

3 risk category C
5 risk category E

Outstanding inspections from 2017/18 prioritised for 
2018/19

212



213



T
his page is intentionally left blank



CABINET MEMBER 
DECISION

Decision:   

That the Work Plan for Food and Health and Safety Enforcement for 
2018/19 is approved.

(1) Details of Decision

To seek approval for the Work Plan for Food and Health and Safety 
Enforcement for 2018/19.

(2) Considerations/Evidence

The Council is required under the FSA Framework Agreement and the HSE 
National Local Authority Enforcement Code to produce a work plan for food 
and health and safety enforcement.

Failure to provide and publish this document contravenes Health and Safety 
Executive and FSA requirements and would result in a breach of duty. 

The work plan is an essential performance management and review 
document and shows the commitment of the Council to food law and health 
and safety enforcement as required by legislation.

(3) Reasons for Decision:

The Food Standards Agency (FSA) requires each Local Authority to produce 
an annual Food Work Plan in accordance with the guidelines set out in the 
Agency’s Framework Agreement on Local Authority Food Law Enforcement.  
This document dictates the structure and content of the work plan. 

The FSA use the information contained in the plan to assess the Council’s 
delivery of the service and compare performance against other authorities. 
The FSA has powers to take over the management of the food service from 
local authorities who fail to meet performance standards.

The Work Plan is predominantly produced to satisfy the requirements of the 
FSA, but also demonstrates how the Council will comply with the Health and 
Safety Executive (HSE) National Local Authority Enforcement Code and 
incorporates work undertaken on other associated activities, including 

215



infectious disease control and regulation of private water supplies. 

The Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee considered the draft 
Food and Health and Safety Work Plan 2018/19 at their meeting on 20 June 
2018 and recommended to the Cabinet Member for Environment that the 
Work Plan is approved.

Conflicts of Interest

(Any conflict of interest declared by any other Cabinet Member consulted in 
relation to the decision to be recorded).

NONE

Dispensations

(Any dispensation granted by the Monitoring Officer in respect of any declared 
conflict of interest to be noted).

NONE

Decision taken by:

Name: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley
Cabinet Member for Environment

Date of Decision: 16 July 2018

Date of Publication of Record of Decision: 17 July 2018

Date decision effective (i.e. 5 days after the date of publication of record of 
decision unless subject to call-in by the Chairman of an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or any 5 members of the Council from any political groups):

25 July 2018

216



NON KEY DECISION:
REPORT TO CABINET MEMBER

DECISION TO BE TAKEN BY: Councillor Kelham Cooke – The Deputy 
Leader of the Council

REPORT AUTHOR: Lianne Smith
Property Officer – General Fund Assets
Property Development
Tel 01476 40 61 77
Email: lianne.smith@southkesteven.gov.uk/

REPORT NO. PD0065

DATE: 24th July 2018.

SUBJECT OF
NON KEY
DECISION:

Approval (subject to consultation) of a proposed new 
lease with Stamford Bridge Club for the extension of 
their existing parking area.

CABINET 
MEMBER REMIT Council Assets

CRIME AND 
DISORDER 
IMPLICATIONS:

Isolated or infrequently used areas may be vandalised, or 
subject to anti-social behaviour or unauthorised occupation.

FREEDOM OF 
INFORMATION 
ACT 
IMPLICATIONS:

This report is publicly available on the Council’s website 
www.southkesteven.gov.uk via the Your Council and 
Democracy link

INITIAL EQUALITY 
IMPACT 
ASSESSMENT

Carried out and appended 
to report?

n/a

Full impact assessment 
required?

n/a
BACKGROUND 
PAPERS:

Proposed Car Park Plan (Appendix A)

217

Appendix B

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/


(1) PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 The purpose of the report is to set out the current proposal to create a parking facility 
adjacent to the existing Stamford Bridge Club’s car park on the Empingham Road playing 
field in Stamford (The Site). Approval is required to enter into a lease with Stamford Bridge 
Club for the additional land required for a car park, for a period ending on 31st May 2036. 
This is consistent with the expiration date of the Bridge Club’s current lease of the Club 
House.
 
1.2 The Bridge Clubs current leased area is highlighted green on the plan attached 
(Appendix A) to this report. The land highlighted yellow on the plan is leased to the 
Stamford Indoor Bowls Club and the land highlighted blue is a shared access for both the 
Bridge and Bowls clubs.  Access to the proposed car park will be via the shared access 
road off Exeter Gardens and across the Bridge Clubs leased area.

1.3 In accordance with statutory procedure under Section 123(2A) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 as the land is designated as statutory open space the Council is 
required to advertise the proposed disposal (in the form of a lease) in the local newspaper 
for two consecutive weeks to ascertain whether there are any objections to the proposed 
transaction. 

1.4 Any objections received will then be referred to the Cabinet Member for consideration 
and determination prior to any lease being granted. If no objections are received, the 
agreement to lease will be completed in accordance with the recommendation in this 
report.  

(2) RECOMMENDATION

2.1 It is recommended that approval is given for formal consultation to take place as required 
under Section 123 of the Local Government Act 1972 for disposal (in the form of a lease) of 
land at Empingham Road playing field, Stamford shown outlined red on the plan attached 
(Appendix A) to this report, (the Site) by placing a notice in the local newspaper for two 
consecutive weeks. 

2.2 In the event that there are no objections received, approval is given to the grant of a new 
lease to Stamford Bridge Club of the land at the Site for a period to commence as soon as 
practicably possible and expiring on the 31st May 2036. If there are any objections, these will 
be considered by the Deputy Leader prior to confirmation of approval or otherwise in relation 
to the proposed new lease.  

(3) REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 The freehold of the Site is owned by the District Council and has a variety of leisure facilities 
located upon it. The area is classed as public open space, with the proposed car park to the 
east of the playing field site, which is to the rear of the Stamford Indoor Bowls Club. The Site 
entrance has restricted vehicle access for maintenance and emergency use with nominated 
key holders, this is to be relocated off SKDC land at Empingham Road. The playing field also 
has a pedestrian access which will remain alongside the proposed car park. 

3.2 The Bridge Club entered into a lease of the Club House with the District Council on 1st of 
June 2011 for a term of 25 years. The Bridge Club has expressed an interest in taking on 
additional land at the rear of their current site to create an overflow parking facility, on a lease 
term consistent with their current occupation. 

218



3.3 Since the commencement of the lease in June 2011, the club’s membership has grown 
from approximately 300 members to in excess of 600 members. The security of the lease has 
enabled The Bridge Club to invest and assist with the Council’s objective to promote leisure in 
the local community and provide a wide range of events and initiatives for the area. 

3.4 An example being that the club was the first Bridge Club in the country to form an outreach 
Academy, bringing Bridge to school children, within the schools mathematics curriculum. The 
club is also a facility for leisure activities such as table tennis, while also providing a pass-time 
to fulfil a social need, as well as an intellectually challenge to local residents and others across 
the District. The Bridge Club recently hosted an international Bridge match between England 
and Ireland.

3.5 The success and continued growth of the Bridge club has caused the existing parking 
provision to be rendered insufficient, leading to disputes and parking issues with neighbouring 
tenants and local residents.

3.6 The proposed car parking area is edged red on the plan as seen in Appendix A. The land 
is to provide 30 additional parking spaces for use by the Bridge Club and its members.

3.7 There have been no management issues arising from the Bridge Club’s existing lease.

3.8 The Bridge Club would allow other community clubs and groups to use the space, 
providing that no landlord and tenant relationship is created and no rent is charged.

3.9 The proposed lease would be for a term co terminus with the existing Bridge Club lease, 
expiring on the 31st May 2036 and within the meaning of the Landlord and Tenant Act 1954 
Part II. The lease is proposed at an initial rental of £500pa with rent reviews at the 5th, 10th 
and 15th anniversary of the term. The basis of the review is the greater of the passing rent, 
open market value or RPI. Heads of Terms attached in Appendix B. 

3.10 The Bridge Club will be responsible for the maintenance and repair of the entire demise.

3.11 The Bridge Club would, at its own cost, obtain, carry out and undertake all necessary 
permissions for the works associated with the creation and construction of the parking area. 

3.12 The Bridge Club will be required to use The Site solely for the purposes of car parking.

3.13 Should approval not be granted, The Site will continue to remain within the allocation of 
the Empingham Road playing field.  The land in questions is part only of the Empingham 
Road playing field, and therefore there will be no detriment, interference or diminution to 
other people and groups that have a right to use over the area.

3.14 In accordance with the provisions with Section 123 of the Local Government Act 1972 
the Council must advertise the intent to lease the land to Stamford Bridge Club. Any 
objections would be referred to the Cabinet Member for consideration.

(4) COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

The report contains the proposed financial implications should the authority to proceed to 
disposal of the land referred to. The proposed annual rental of £500 is only in relation to the 
proposed car parking area and not the lease of the adjacent premises which will be subject to 
a separate lease arrangement.

219



(5) COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

S.123 of the Local Government Act 1972 gives a local authority power to dispose of any of its 
land as it chooses.  If the land forms part of an open space, s.123(2A) requires notice of the 
intention to dispose to be given by advertising for two consecutive weeks in a newspaper 
circulating in the area in which the land is situated and for any objection to the disposal to be 
considered.

(6) COMMENTS OF WARD MEMBERS

Cllr Taylor and Cllr Evans are the ward members in which the Site is situated.  They have been 
consulted and both ward members confirm that they support the proposal.

(7) OFFICER CONTACT

Lianne Smith
Property Officer – General Fund Assets
Tel: 01476 40 61 77
Email: lianne.smith@southkesteven.gov.uk

(8) DATE DECISION EFFECTIVE:
If decision taken on the 31st July 2018 date effective will be 10 July 2018.

220



Appendix A PD0080

221



This page is intentionally left blank



223



224



225



226



227



228



229



230



231



232



CABINET MEMBER 
DECISION

Decision:   

That approval is given for formal consultation to take place as required under 
Section 123 of the Local Government Act 1972 for disposal (in the form of a 
lease) of land at Empingham Road playing field, Stamford as shown outlined 
on the plan appended to report PD0080 by placing a notice in the local 
newspaper for two consecutive weeks.

In the event that there are no objections received, that approval is given to the 
grant of a new lease to Stamford Bridge Club of the land for a period to 
commence as soon as practicably possible and expiring on 31 May 2036.  If 
any objections are received these will be considered by the Deputy Leader 
prior to confirmation of approval or otherwise in relation to the proposed new 
lease.

(1) Details of Decision

To seek approval to enter into a lease with Stamford Bridge Club for 
additional land required for a car park.

(2) Considerations/Evidence

The Bridge Clubs currently leases an area highlighted green on the plan 
attached to report PD0080. The land highlighted yellow on the plan is 
leased to the Stamford Indoor Bowls Club and the land highlighted blue is 
a shared access for both the Bridge and Bowls clubs.  Access to the 
proposed car park will be via the shared access road off Exeter Gardens 
and across the Bridge Clubs leased area.

In accordance with statutory procedure under Section 123(2A) of the 
Local Government Act 1972 as the land is designated as statutory open 
space the Council is required to advertise the proposed disposal (in the 
form of a lease) in the local newspaper for two consecutive weeks to 
ascertain whether there are any objections to the proposed transaction. 

Any objections received will then be referred to the Cabinet Member for 
consideration and determination prior to any lease being granted. If no 
objections are received, the agreement to lease will be completed in 
accordance with the recommendation in this report.

233



(3) Reasons for Decision:

The freehold of the Site is owned by the District Council and has a variety of 
leisure facilities located upon it. The area is classed as public open space, 
with the proposed car park to the east of the playing field site, which is to the 
rear of the Stamford Indoor Bowls Club. The Site entrance has restricted 
vehicle access for maintenance and emergency use with nominated key 
holders, this is to be relocated off SKDC land at Empingham Road. The 
playing field also has a pedestrian access which will remain alongside the 
proposed car park. 

The Bridge Club entered into a lease of the Club House with the District 
Council on 1st of June 2011 for a term of 25 years. The Bridge Club has 
expressed an interest in taking on additional land at the rear of their current 
site to create an overflow parking facility, on a lease term consistent with their 
current occupation. 

Since the commencement of the lease in June 2011, the club’s membership 
has grown from approximately 300 members to in excess of 600 members. 
The security of the lease has enabled The Bridge Club to invest and assist 
with the Council’s objective to promote leisure in the local community and 
provide a wide range of events and initiatives for the area. 

An example being that the club was the first Bridge Club in the country to 
form an outreach Academy, bringing Bridge to school children, within the 
schools mathematics curriculum. The club is also a facility for leisure 
activities such as table tennis, while also providing a pass-time to fulfil a 
social need, as well as an intellectually challenge to local residents and 
others across the District. The Bridge Club recently hosted an international 
Bridge match between England and Ireland.

The success and continued growth of the Bridge club has caused the existing 
parking provision to be rendered insufficient, leading to disputes and parking 
issues with neighbouring tenants and local residents.

The proposed car parking area is edged red on the plan attached to report 
PD0080. The land is to provide 30 additional parking spaces for use by the 
Bridge Club and its members.

There have been no management issues arising from the Bridge Club’s 
existing lease.

The Bridge Club would allow other community clubs and groups to use the 
space, providing that no landlord and tenant relationship is created and no 
rent is charged.

The proposed lease would be for a term co terminus with the existing Bridge 
Club lease, expiring on the 31st May 2036 and within the meaning of the 

234



Landlord and Tenant Act 1954 Part II. The lease is proposed at an initial 
rental of £500pa with rent reviews at the 5th, 10th and 15th anniversary of the 
term. The basis of the review is the greater of the passing rent, open market 
value or RPI. 

The Bridge Club will be responsible for the maintenance and repair of the 
entire demise.

The Bridge Club would, at its own cost, obtain, carry out and undertake all 
necessary permissions for the works associated with the creation and 
construction of the parking area. 

The Bridge Club will be required to use The Site solely for the purposes of car 
parking.

Should approval not be granted, The Site will continue to remain within the 
allocation of the Empingham Road playing field.  The land in questions is part 
only of the Empingham Road playing field, and therefore there will be no 
detriment, interference or diminution to other people and groups that have a 
right to use over the area.

In accordance with the provisions with Section 123 of the Local Government 
Act 1972 the Council must advertise the intent to lease the land to Stamford 
Bridge Club. Any objections would be referred to the Cabinet Member for 
consideration.

Conflicts of Interest

(Any conflict of interest declared by any other Cabinet Member consulted in 
relation to the decision to be recorded).

NONE

Dispensations

(Any dispensation granted by the Monitoring Officer in respect of any declared 
conflict of interest to be noted).

NONE

Decision taken by:

Name: Councillor Kelham Cooke
Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Business Transformation and 
Commissioning

235



Date of Decision: 31 July 2018

Date of Publication of Record of Decision: 01 August 2018

Date decision effective (i.e. 5 days after the date of publication of record of 
decision unless subject to call-in by the Chairman of an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or any 5 members of the Council from any political groups):

10 July 2018

236



CABINET

Report of: Councillor Matthew Lee
The Leader of the Council

Report to:

Date:

Subject:

Cabinet

6 September 2018

Representations received from non-Cabinet Members 
(LDS312)

Decision
Proposal:

Report for information

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Member:

Councillor Matthew Lee, the Leader of the Council

Report author:

Reviewed by:

Signed off by:

Approved for 
publication

Jo Toomey, Principal Democracy Officer
Tel: 01476 40 61 52 E-mail: j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk 
Date: 15 August 2018

Margaret Welton, Senior Research and Support Assistant
Tel: 01476 40 64 15 E-mail: 
margaret.welton@southkesteven.gov.uk
Date: 22 August 2018

Lucy Youles, Solicitor to the Council
Tel: 01476 40 61 05 E-mail: l.youles@southkesteven.gov.uk
Date: 22 August 2018

Councillor Matthew Lee, the Leader of the Council
Date: 22 August 2018

SUMMARY

This report highlights any representations received from non-Cabinet Members since 
the Cabinet met on 12 July 2018

237

Agenda Item 9



RECOMMENDATION

1. The Cabinet notes that prior to the publication of this agenda no representations 
had been received from non-Cabinet Members since the last meeting of the 
Cabinet held on 12 July 2018.

2. The Cabinet considers any representations received from non-Cabinet Members 
following the publication of the agenda for this meeting.

1. BACKGROUND TO REPORT

1.1 The Council’s Constitution provides a facility for Councillors who are not 
Cabinet Members to make representations to the Cabinet. While it is not 
necessary for these Councillors to give notice that they intend to make a 
representation to the Cabinet, notice may be given as a courtesy. When notice 
has been given, details will be captured in this report.

1.2 Members will be updated on any representations received following the 
publication of the agenda and prior to the Cabinet’s meeting through an update 
report.

2. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 This report has been introduced as a standing item on the agenda for meetings 
of the Cabinet. No other options were considered.

3. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 There are no resource implications arising from this report.

4. RISK AND MITIGATION 

4.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report and no specific high risks were 
identified in its production. 

5. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS (EQUALITY, SAFEGUARDING 
etc.)

5.1 No analysis has been completed. This report captures requests made by non-
Cabinet Members to make representations.

6. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

6.1 None.

7. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

7.1 There are no financial comments arising from this report.

238



8. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

8.1 The agenda for Cabinet meetings provides an opportunity for Councillors who 
are not Cabinet Members to make representations to the Cabinet. There is no 
requirement for any Member of the Council who wishes to make a 
representation to the Cabinet to give notice of their intentions.

9. COMMENTS OF OTHER RELEVANT SERVICES 

9.1 None

10. APPENDICES

10.1 There are no appendices to this report

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS

11.1 None

239



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET

Report of: Councillor Matthew Lee
The Leader of the Council

Report to:

Date:

Subject:

Cabinet

6 September 2018

Cabinet Forward Plan for the period 1 September 
2018 and 31 August 2019 (LDS313)

Decision
Proposal:

Report for information

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Member:

Councillor Matthew Lee, the Leader of the Council

Report author:

Reviewed by:

Signed off by:

Approved for 
publication

Jo Toomey, Principal Democracy Officer
Tel: 01476 40 61 52 E-mail: j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk 
Date: 16 August 2018

Margaret Welton, Senior Research and Support Assistant
Tel: 01476 40 64 15 E-mail: 
margaret.welton@southkesteven.gov.uk
Date: 22 August 2018

Lucy Youles, Solicitor to the Council
Tel: 01476 40 61 05 E-mail: l.youles@southkesteven.gov.uk
Date: 22 August 2018

Councillor Matthew Lee, the Leader of the Council
Date: 22 August 2018

SUMMARY

This report highlights matters on the Cabinet’s forward plan for the period 1 September 
2018 and 31 August 2019 for decision or recommendation.

RECOMMENDATION

It is recommended that the Cabinet notes the contents of the report.

241

Agenda Item 10



1. BACKGROUND TO REPORT

1.1 The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 
Information) (England) Regulations 2012 sets out minimum requirements for 
publicity in connection with key decisions. The Council meets these legislative 
requirements through the monthly publication of its Schedule of Decisions.

1.2 Cabinet may also receive reports on which it is asked to make 
recommendations to Council or review the contents and take any necessary 
actions. These are not included in the Schedule of Decisions.

1.3 To help Cabinet understand what issues will be put before it in the longer-term, 
items for consideration have been included in the Cabinet’s forward plan 
(attached as Appendix A to this report). The forward plan also includes details 
of items scheduled for each of the Council meetings due to be held within the 
plan period.

2. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 This report has been introduced as a standing item on the agenda for meetings 
of the Cabinet. No other options were considered.

3. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 There are no resource implications arising from this report.

4. RISK AND MITIGATION 

4.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report and no specific high risks were 
identified in its production.

5. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS (EQUALITY, SAFEGUARDING 
etc.)

5.1 This report provides an overview of the work that the Cabinet will be 
undertaking. Where appropriate, analyses relevant to its decisions will be 
presented to Cabinet with reports as individual issues come forward.

6. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

6.1 None.

7. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

7.1 There are no financial comments arising from this report.

8. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

8.1 The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 
Information) (England) Regulations 2012 set out the minimum requirements to 

242



which Councils must adhere. Councils may use their discretion to publish 
information that exceeds the minimum requirements.

9. COMMENTS OF OTHER RELEVANT SERVICES 

9.1 None.

10. APPENDICES

 Appendix A – Cabinet Forward Plan: 1 September 2018 to 31 August 
2019

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS

11.1 Section 9 of the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and 
Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012 
(http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2089/regulation/9/made)

243

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2089/regulation/9/made


This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET FORWARD PLAN
 Notice of decisions to be made by Cabinet 

1 September 2018 to 31 August 2019

At its meetings, the Cabinet may make key decisions and non-key decisions. They may also make recommendations to Council on 
matters relating to the Council’s budget or its policy framework.

A key decision is a Cabinet decision that is likely:

1. To result in the District Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard 
to the District Council’s budget for the service or function to which the decision relates; or

2. To be significant in terms of its effects on communities that live or work in an area comprising two or more wards.

A non-key decision is one that is not a key decision.

The Forward Plan

The Cabinet Forward Plan is a rolling, 12-month plan that will be updated on a regular basis. It includes those matters that are 
scheduled to be considered by Cabinet during the plan period. This plan also includes details of those decisions that are due to be 
made by the full Council.

245

A
ppendix A



Notice of future Cabinet decisions and recommendations to Council 

Summary Date Action Relevant Overview 
& Scrutiny 

Committee and 
date if applicable

Contact

Cabinet – 6 September 2018

General Data Protection Regulations (Local Choice)
Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Deputy 
Leader of the Council 

To consider the draft Data 
Protection Policy

6 Sept 
2018

To approve an updated Data 
Protection policy in line with 
the General Data Protection 
Regulations

Communities
31 July 2018

Lucy Youles
Tel: 01476 406105
E-mail: l.youles@southkesteven.gov.uk 

Strategic Regeneration Acquisition (Key Decision)
Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Deputy 
Leader of the Council

The appendices relating to 
this decision are exempt 
under paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972 as 
amended because they 
contain information relating 
to the financial or business 
affairs of an individual or 
organisation 

6 Sept 
2018

Growth

Paul Thomas
Tel: 01476 40 61 62
E-mail: p.thomas@southkesteven.gov.uk 

DeliverSK (Key Decision)
Councillor Matthew Lee, the Leader of the 
Council 

The formation of a new 
company to bring forward 
regeneration and commercial 
development schemes

6 Sept 
2018

To agree the formation of a 
new company to bring forward 
regeneration and commercial 
development schemes

Growth

Paul Thomas
Tel: 01476 40 61 62
E-mail: p.thomas@southkesteven.gov.uk

Rectory Farm Supplementary Planning Document (Key Decision)
Councillor Helen Goral, Cabinet Member for 
Growth and Communications

To consult on the proposed 
Rectory Farm 
Supplementary Planning 
Document

6 Sept 
2018

To approve the Rectory Farm 
Supplementary Planning 
Document for consultation

Growth

Kevin Cartwright
Tel: 01476 40 63 90
E-mail: k.cartwright@southkesteven.gov.uk

246



Summary Date Action Relevant Overview 
& Scrutiny 

Committee and 
date if applicable

Contact

Council – 27 September 2018

Amendment to Budget Framework (Budget Framework Proposal)
Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member 
for Finance 

Consideration of any 
recommendations from 
Cabinet regarding the 
amendment of the Budget 
Framework to enable 
strategic regeneration 
acquisitions and formation of 
DeliverSK

27 Sept 
2018

To decide whether to adjust 
the budget framework to allow 
strategic regeneration 
acquisitions and formation of 
DeliverSK

Growth

Paul Thomas
Tel: 01476 40 61 62
E-mail: p.thomas@southkesteven.gov.uk 
Debbie Muddimer
Tel: 01476 40 63 01
E-mail: 
debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk

Cabinet - 4 October 2018

Health and Safety Policy (Local Choice)
Councillor Dr. Peter Moseley, Cabinet 
Member for Environment

To consider an updated 
Health and Safety Policy.

4 Oct 
2018

To adopt a Health and Safety 
Policy

N/A – Gov & Audit

Ian Yates
Tel: 01476 406201
E-mail: i.yates@southkesteven.gov.uk 

Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy - Sections 165, 166 and 167 of the Equality Act 2010 (Key Decision)
Councillor Dr. Peter Moseley, Cabinet 
Member for Environment

To determine whether to 
adopt Sections 165, 166 and 
167 of the Equality Act 2010 
in relation to the Hackney 
Carriage and Private Hire 
Licensing Policy

4 Oct 
2018

To determine whether to adopt 
Sections 165, 166 and 167 of 
the Equality Act 2010

Environment
11 Sept 2018
Licensing 
Committee
7 Sept 2018

Mandy Braithwaite
Tel: 01476 40 61 06
E-mail: 
m.braithwaite@southkesteven.gov.uk

Statement of Community Involvement (Key Decision)
Councillor Helen Goral, Cabinet Member for 
Growth and Communications

Consideration of the draft 
Statement of Community 
Involvement in the context of 
feedback received during the 
public consultation period

4 Oct 
2018

To adopt a Statement of 
Community Involvement 

Growth

Roger Ranson
Tel: 01476 40 64 38
E-mail: r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk

247



Summary Date Action Relevant Overview 
& Scrutiny 

Committee and 
date if applicable

Contact

Housing Policies (Mutual Exchange, Succession and Assignment)
Councillor Nick Neilson, Cabinet Member for 
Housing

To consider the adoption of 
new housing policies relating 
to Mutual Exchanges, 
Succession and Assignment

4 Oct 
2018

To adopt new housing Policies 
and Procedures related to 
Mutual Exchange, Succession 
and Assignment

Communities
31 July 2018

Harry Rai
Tel: 01476 40 62 99
E-mail: harry.rai@southkesteven.gov.uk

Grounds Maintenance Company
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet 
Member for Environment

The formation of a new 
company to deliver the 
Council’s Grounds 
Maintenance Services

4 Oct 
2018

To agree the formation of a 
new company

Environment

Ian Yates
Tel: 01476 406201
E-mail: i.yates@southkesteven.gov.uk

Cabinet – 1 November 2018

Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy (Key Decision)
Councillor Nick Neilson, Cabinet Member for 
Housing

A review of the Council’s 
Private Sector Housing 
Enforcement Policy following 
recent changes to legislation 
and the introduction of new 
powers to tackle 
unsatisfactory housing 
conditions

1 Nov 
2018

To adopt a Private Sector 
Housing Enforcement Policy

Communities
12 June 2018
9 October 2018 Anne-Marie Coulthard

Tel: 01476 40 63 19
E-mail: a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk

Article 4 Direction, Stamford (Policy Framework)
Councillor Helen Goral, Cabinet Member for 
Growth and Communications

To consider an Article 4 
Direction to remove 
permitted development rights 
in Stamford

1 Nov 
2018

To recommend to Council 
regarding the making an Article 
4 Direction for Stamford

Growth

Sylvia Bland
Tel: 01476 40 63 88
E-mail: s.bland@southkesteven.gov.uk

Rectory Farm Supplementary Planning Document (Key Decision)
Councillor Helen Goral, Cabinet Member for 
Growth and Communications

To consider the Rectory 
Farm Supplementary 
Planning Document following 
consultation on a draft 
document

1 Nov 
2018

To approve a Supplementary 
Planning Document in respect 
of Rectory Farm

Growth

Kevin Cartwright
Tel: 01476 40 63 90
E-mail: k.cartwright@southkesteven.gov.uk

248



Summary Date Action Relevant Overview 
& Scrutiny 

Committee and 
date if applicable

Contact

Asset disposal strategy (Key Decision)
Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Deputy 
Leader of the Council 

To consider the draft Asset 
Disposal Strategy

1 Nov 
2018

To adopt an Asset Disposal 
Strategy

Growth

Jane McDaid
Tel: 01476 40 61 77
E-mail: jane.mcdaid@southkesteven.gov.uk

Council - 22 November 2018

Community Governance Review – Corby Glen
Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Deputy 
Leader of the Council and Councillor Jacky 
Smith, Cabinet Member for Communities, 
Health, Wellbeing and Skills

To consider feedback from 
consultation on whether or 
not to increase the size of 
Corby Glen Parish Council

22 Nov 
2018

To consider whether to change 
the size of Corby Glen Parish 
Council. If Council decides the 
size of the parish council 
should change, it will need to 
make an Order to this end

Communities

Lucy Youles
Tel: 01476 406105
E-mail: l.youles@southkesteven.gov.uk

Article 4 Direction, Stamford (Policy Framework)
Councillor Helen Goral, Cabinet Member for 
Growth and Communications

To consider an Article 4 
Direction to remove 
permitted development rights 
in Stamford

22 Nov 
2018

To make an Article 4 Direction 
for Stamford

Growth

Sylvia Bland
Tel: 01476 40 63 88
E-mail: s.bland@southkesteven.gov.uk 

Cabinet - 20 December 2018

Council Tax Base 2019/20 (Key Decision)
Councillor Adam Stokes, the Cabinet 
Member for Finance

To agree the Council Tax 
base for 2019/20, which will 
form the basis of the budget 
proposals for the year

20 Dec 
2018

To determine the Council Tax 
Base to form the basis of the 
2019/20 budget proposals to 
be recommended to Council

Budget

Debbie Muddimer
Tel: 01476 40 63 01
E-mail: 
debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk

249



Summary Date Action Relevant Overview 
& Scrutiny 

Committee and 
date if applicable

Contact

Draft Budget proposals 2019/20 (Key Decision)
Councillor Adam Stokes, the Cabinet 
Member for Finance

To consider the Draft Budget 
Proposals for 2019/20

20 Dec 
2018

To present the draft budget 
proposals for  2019/20 prior to 
their consideration by the 
Budget Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee and subsequent 
consultation

Budget
10 January 2019

Debbie Muddimer
Tel: 01476 40 63 01
E-mail: 
debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk

Cabinet - 7 February 2019

Budget proposals 2019/20 (Budget framework - recommendation to Council)
Councillor Adam Stokes, the Cabinet 
Member for Finance

To consider the Final Budget 
Proposals for 2019/20

7 Feb 
2019

To approve the Cabinet’s 
budget proposals and 
recommend them to Council

Budget
10 January 2019

Debbie Muddimer
Tel: 01476 40 63 01
E-mail: 
debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk

Council – 28 February 2019

Budget 2019/20 and Council Tax Setting (Budget and Policy Framework)
Councillor Adam Stokes, the Cabinet 
Member for Finance

To consider the draft Budget 
for 2019/20 proposed by the 
Cabinet

28 Feb 
2019

To set Council Tax and agree 
a Budget for 2019/20

Budget
10 January 2019

Debbie Muddimer
Tel: 01476 40 63 01
E-mail: 
debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk

Pay Policy Statement
Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Deputy 
Leader of the Council 

To consider the draft Pay 
Policy Statement for 2018/19

28 Feb 
2019

To approve the Council’s Pay 
Policy Statement for 2018/19

N/A – Employment 
Committee

Elaine Pepper
Tel: 01476 40 61 32
E-mail: e.pepper@southkesteven.gov.uk

250



Summary Date Action Relevant Overview 
& Scrutiny 

Committee and 
date if applicable

Contact

Other items – dates pending

St. Peter’s Hill Re-development – office remodelling  (Key Decision and recommendation to Council)
Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Deputy 
Leader of the Council 

To consider proposals for the 
office redevelopment of the 
St. Peter’s Hill Office Building

Not 
before 
1 Oct 
2018

To approve proposals and 
seek budget approval from 
Council

Growth

Jane McDaid
Tel: 01476 40 61 77
E-mail: jane.mcdaid@southkesteven.gov.uk

Local Plan (Policy Framework Proposal)
Councillor Helen Goral, Cabinet Member for 
Growth and Communications

Consideration of the revised 
South Kesteven Local Plan 
following examination and 
notice of modifications

Council 
TBC

To adopt the revised Local 
Plan for South Kesteven

Growth

Roger Ranson
Tel: 01476 40 64 38
E-mail: r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk

Cultural Strategy (Key Decision)
Councillor Matthew Lee, The Leader of the 
Council

To consider the draft Cultural 
Strategy for South Kesteven

Cabinet
TBC

To adopt a Cultural Strategy 
for South Kesteven

Culture & Visitor 
Economy
12 July 2018 Michael Cross

Tel: 01476 40 61 29
E-mail: 
michael.cross@southkesteven.gov.uk 

Strategic Regeneration Acquisitions (Key Decision)
Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Deputy 
Leader of the Council 

Information relating to this 
decision is exempt under 
paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A 
of the Local Government Act 
1972 as amended because it 
contains information which 
relates to the financial or 
business affairs of an 
individual or organisation 

Not 
before 
1 Oct 
2018

Growth

Paul Thomas
Tel: 01476 40 61 62
E-mail: p.thomas@southkesteven.gov.uk 

251



Key Decisions to be made by Individual Cabinet Members

Invest SK 

Key decision to:
 

 Put in place the Memorandum of Understanding
 Determine the membership of the Advisory Committee
 Agree the Articles of Association for InvestSK
 Agree an initial award of seed funding to allow the incorporation process to take place

 
Decision-maker: Councillor Helen Goral, Cabinet Member for Growth and Communications 
Decision date: To be confirmed

252


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the meeting held on 12 July 2018
	4 *DeliverSK
	5 Data Protection Policy
	1.DPP DRAFT
	2 Right of Subject Access FINAL
	3 Procedure for Undertaking a Data Protection Impact Assessment FINAL
	4 SKDC Privacy Notice FINAL
	5 Procedure for reporting Information Security Breaches Data Protection Breaches and Card Data Security Incidents -FINAL
	6 Protocol for protecting personal data FINAL
	7 Information Governance Guidance FINAL

	6 Rectory Farm - Supplementary Planning Document
	Appendix - 1 Rectory Farm Planning Brief Final Draftv3
	Appendix 2 masterplan maps final
	Appendix 3
	Appendix 4

	7 Matters Referred to Cabinet by the Council or Overview & Scrutiny Committees
	8 Items raised by Cabinet Members including reports on Key and Non Key Decisions taken under Delegated Powers.
	ENV699 FHS workplan approval
	Appendix 1
	PM ENV699 16.07.18
	PD0080 - 010518 - NKD Stamford Bridge Club - Car Parking
	Appendix A - Leased Areas Site Plan - Proposed Additional Parking
	Appendix B- Heads of Terms Stamford Bridge Club Stamford
	KC PD0080 31.07.18

	9 Representations received from Non Cabinet Members
	10 Cabinet Forward Plan
	1 Sept 2018 to 31 August 2019_v2


